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CURRENCY AND OTHER INFORMATION

Information in this Annual Information Form (“AIF”) is as of December 31, 2010, unless otherwise specified. All of the
dollar amounts in this AIF are expressed in U.S. dollars, except where otherwise indicated. References to "dollars" or
"$" are to U.S. dollars and any references to "C$" are to Canadian dollars.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements contained in this AIF contain written “forward-looking statements” that are subject to risks and
uncertainties. Forward-looking statements include, among others, statements regarding the objectives of Kingsway
Financial Services Inc. (“KFSI”, “Kingsway” or the "Company") and the strategies to achieve such objectives. These
statements relate to future events or future performance and reflect management’s current expectations and
assumptions. The words “anticipate”, “expect”, “believe”, “may”, “should”, “estimate”, “project”, “outlook”, “forecast” or similar words
are used to identify such forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements reflect management’s current
beliefs and are based on information currently available to management of the Company. A number of factors could
cause actual events, performance or results to differ materially from the events, performance and results discussed in
the forward-looking statements. For information identifying important factors that could cause actual results to differ
materially from those anticipated in the forward looking statements, see Kingsway’s securities filings, including its
2010 Annual  Management’s Discussion and Analysis, under the heading Risk Factors. The securities filings can be
accessed on the Canadian Securities Administrators’ website at www.sedar.com, and on the EDGAR section of the
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission’s website at www.sec.gov or through the Company’s website at
www.kingsway-financial.com.
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1. CORPORATE STRUCTURE

Kingsway Financial Services Inc. (“KFSI”, “Kingsway” or the “Company”) is the holding Company for all of our
subsidiaries.

In 2010, Kingsway carried on business through the following subsidiaries in the United States: American Country
Insurance Company (“American Country”) (disposed of in 2010); American Service Insurance Company, Inc.
(“American Service”) (disposed of in 2010); Assigned Risk Solutions (formerly JBA Associates, Inc.) (“ARS”); Kingsway
Amigo Insurance Company (formerly U.S. Security Insurance Company) (“Amigo”); Mendota Insurance Company
(“Mendota”); Mendakota Insurance Company (“Mendakota”); Northeast Alliance Insurance Agency, LLC (“NEA”); and
Universal Casualty Company.  Kingsway America Inc. (“Kingsway America”) is the holding Company for all of our
U.S. operating insurance subsidiaries.

 On January 25, 2010, the Company entered into a definitive purchase agreement with The Westaim Corporation
(“Westaim”) to sell all of the issued and outstanding shares of Jevco insurance Company (“Jevco”) to Westaim. On March
29, 2010, after receipt of all required regulatory approvals, the sale was completed for a purchase price of C$263.3
million.

As a result, the Company also moved its corporate function to the U.S. to better align the support functions of the
group with its continuing operations.

On December 31, 2010, the previously announced going-public transaction involving the Company’s subsidiaries
American Country and American Service by way of a reverse takeover of JJR VI Acquisition Corp. (“J6”) was
completed.  Upon completion of the transaction, J6 was renamed Atlas Financial Holdings Inc. (“Atlas”) and American
Country and American Service became wholly-owned subsidiaries of Atlas.  Total consideration to the Company as a
result of the transaction was approximately $57.0 million, consisting of cash of $7.9 million, preferred shares of Atlas
of $18.0 million, and common shares of Atlas of $31.1 million. After the transaction, Kingsway has a 30% voting
interest in Atlas.

The Company also has wholly owned reinsurance subsidiaries domiciled in Bermuda and Barbados (all related party
reinsurance treaties were commuted in 2009) and a wholly owned insurance agency in the U.S., Kingsway America
Agency Inc. (formerly known as Avalon Risk Management Inc.) (substantially all of which assets were sold in 2009).

Additional details on the transactions described above are described further in the section below entitled “General
Development of the Business - Avalon Risk Management Inc.”).

Name, Address and Incorporation

Kingsway was incorporated under the Business Corporations Act (Ontario) on September 19, 1989. On November 10,
1995, Kingsway filed articles of amendment deleting its private company share restrictions, subdividing its
outstanding common shares on a three-for-one basis, and deleting the Class A Special Shares and the Class B Special
Shares that were previously authorized. On October 11, 1996, Kingsway filed articles of amendment to subdivide the
common shares on a two-for-one basis. On April 27, 1998, Kingsway filed articles of amendment to subdivide the
common shares on a two-for-one basis. On July 29, 2010, Kingsway filed articles of amendment in order to affirm the
nature of the Company’s business.

The head and registered office of Kingsway is located at 45 St. Clair Avenue West, Suite 400, Toronto, Ontario,
Canada, M4V 1K9.
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Inter-Corporate Relationships

KFSI's subsidiaries and their inter-corporate relationship with KFSI are identified in the following diagram, and are
also described in Note 2 to the 2010 annual consolidated financial statements of KFSI (the "Consolidated Financial
Statements"), which Note is incorporated herein by reference. The Consolidated Financial Statements are available on
SEDAR at www.sedar.com. All subsidiaries are 100% owned by the Company, directly or indirectly, unless otherwise
indicated.
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2. GENERAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE BUSINESS

Three Year History

In 2008, Kingsway commenced a consolidation of its operations as the changing market underscored the fact that
Kingsway lacked the flexibility to stay competitive. In early 2009, the consolidation accelerated as the Company
moved toward a streamlined structure aimed at delivering operational efficiencies while maintaining geographic
focus. This accelerated plan included the process of evaluating the profitability of every line of business with a focus
on exiting non-core and unprofitable lines.

The following disclosure describes events that have influenced the general development of the business of KFSI over
the last three financial years.

Lincoln General Insurance Company

•In 2006, the Company experienced significant adverse reserve development at its Lincoln General subsidiary. In
2007, a change in methodology and process used in estimating future claim liabilities added to this adverse reserve
development. The adverse reserve development experienced by Lincoln General from the period 2007 to September
30, 2009 was approximately $504.3 million.

•In the year ended December 31, 2008, there was a 55% reduction in trading business written at Lincoln General
through the elimination of unprofitable programs and the loss of business resulting from A.M. Best downgrades.

•On May 29, 2009, the Pennsylvania Insurance Department (the “DOI”) approved Lincoln General’s run-off plan.  This
confidential document outlined Lincoln General’s plan to accomplish a voluntary, solvent run-off providing for an
orderly, efficient resolution and payment of all policy-related and other obligations.  Included in this plan was the
commutation of all reinsurance previously placed with affiliate Kingsway Reinsurance Corporation (Barbados).  The
commutation of this reinsurance was approved by the DOI via a Form D filing.

•On October 19, 2009, KFSI announced that Kingsway America had disposed of its entire interest in its
wholly-owned subsidiary Walshire General Assurance Company (“Walshire”). Walshire is the sole shareholder of
Lincoln General.  All of the stock of Walshire was donated to charity, and with this disposition Lincoln General
ceased being a member of the Kingsway group of companies.  Kingsway is of the view that disposing of Lincoln
General provided all stakeholders, including policyholders, shareholders and creditors with improved long-term
value and was consistent with Kingsway’s prior determination that it would not continue to voluntarily fund Lincoln
General’s reserve shortfalls.  This disposition also assisted Kingsway in continuing to meet its regulatory and
contractual obligations in respect of Lincoln General.

•The net assets of Walshire were written down to $nil, the Company’s loss from discontinued operations relating to
Walshire, net of taxes was $156.9 million in 2009.

•The Pennsylvania DOI has challenged the disposition to charities of Walshire and its subsidiaries. On November 20,
2009, the DOI filed a complaint in the Commonwealth Court of Pennsylvania (“Commonwealth Court”) against the
Company, Kingsway America and Walshire, seeking a declaration that the disposition was unlawful and not
valid.  The Company disagrees with the DOI’s position and maintains that the donations of Walshire shares to the
charities were lawful and valid.  The Company therefore demurred to each of the claims in the DOI’s complaint,
thereby putting the legal sufficiency of the DOI’s claims at issue. The analogous procedure, in Ontario, would be a
motion to strike out a pleading for failure to disclose a cause of action. The demurrers were argued to a panel of the
Commonwealth Court on February 9, 2010.
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•On November 19, 2009 the day before the DOI’s complaint, the Company and KAI filed a complaint in the
Commonwealth Court against the DOI seeking a declaration that the statue upon which the DOI principally relies did
not apply to the donations. In response to the Company’s complaint, the DOI filed a  New Matter (in essence, a
Counterclaim). The company has demurred to each of the claims in the DOI’s complaint, thereby putting the legal
sufficiency of the DOI’s claims at issue. The analogous procedure in Ontario to a demurrer would be a motion to
strike out a pleading for failure to disclose a cause of action. On April 1, 2010, the Commonwealth Court granted the
demurrers and dismissed the complaint. The DOI subsequently noticed an appeal will be argued in April 2011, and a
decision will be rendered at the Court’s discretion.

•On April 1, 2010, the Commonwealth Court sustained the demurrers, rejecting the arguments made by DOI, and
dismissing all of the DOI’s claims against the Company. On April 30, 2010, the DOI appealed the April 1, 2010
decision to Pennsylvania Supreme Court. The Company is opposing this appeal, which is scheduled for oral
argument on April 12, 2011.

•If the ultimate decision of the courts is unfavorable for the Company, the control of Lincoln may revert back to the
Company, which would result in Lincoln’s financial results being included in the Company’s consolidated financial
statements. Thus, if the Pennsylvania Supreme Court deems the transaction to be invalid, it could ultimately lead to
the Company being in breach of its public debt covenants should Lincoln go into liquidation while still part of the
Company. The Company’s public debt is material, and a breach in covenants could lead to the debt being called and
paid before maturity.

•Please refer to the section “Legal Proceedings and Regulatory Actions” of this AIF for further discussion relating to
this legal proceeding which remains open.

Jevco Insurance Company

•On September 23, 2009, KFSI announced that Jevco would assume the assets and liabilities of Kingsway General on
October 1, 2009 effectively consolidating the Company’s Canadian business.

•On November 23, 2009, as part of the Company’s overall business transformation plan, and operational developments
resulting from the downgrade in KFSI’s rating by A.M. Best, the Company announced its intention to dispose of its
majority interest in Jevco.

• On January 25, 2010, the Company announced that it had entered into a definitive purchase agreement
with Westaim, for the sale of all of the issued and outstanding shares of Jevco to Westaim for an aggregate
purchase price of approximately 94.5% of the book value of Jevco as at December 31, 2009. On March 29,
2010, the sale to Westaim was completed.

•A portion of the proceeds of sale was used to purchase sufficient Company indebtedness to ensure that KFSI satisfied
all financial covenants contained in bond agreements to which the Company and its affiliates are party, at the time of
the sale.  Please refer the section entitled “Description of Capital Structure - Debt Securities” for additional discussion.

Zephyr Insurance Company, Inc.

•On September 9, 2009, KFSI announced that it had entered into a definitive agreement to sell Zephyr to Zephyr
Acquisition Company, an acquisition vehicle of Ocean Harbor Holding Inc. and MP Holdings LLC, a Hawaiian
based investor group with an expected completion date during the fourth quarter of 2009 subject to the receipt of
regulatory approvals.
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•On October 30, 2009 KFSI announced that the sale of Zephyr was completed for initial gross proceeds of $31.5
million U.S.,  plus a settlement of pre-closing earnings and other post closing adjustments of $5.5 million.

Avalon Risk Management Inc.

•On October 19, 2009, KFSI announced the completion of the sale of substantially all of the assets of Avalon, in
furtherance of its focus on its core business. Avalon’s assets and liabilities were sold to FMG Specialty Insurance
Agency LLC for consideration equal to $1.5 million, paid in cash and a note.

Itasca Financial, LLC

•On January 4, 2010, the Company’s subsidiary KAI acquired certain assets of Itasca Financial, LLC, a property and
casualty insurance industry advisory firm, owned and controlled by Mr. Larry Swets, a former director and current
Chief Executive Officer and President of the Company. The consideration for the assets purchased is equal to $1.5
million cash and one million restricted common shares of the Company, payable in three annual installments.

Assigned Risk Solutions Ltd. (formerly JBA Associates, Inc.)

•Effective June 30, 2010, the Company made an investment in Assigned Risk Solutions Ltd. (“ARS”) formerly known
as JBA Associates, Inc. (“JBA”), for approximately $16.3 million following which the Company would have 100%
interest in ARS. ARS is a managing general agency based in New Jersey that specializes in assigned risk automobile
insurance similar to the Company’s existing NEA subsidiary. The Company is currently integrating the operations of
ARS and NEA.

American Country/American Service Insurance Companies

•In May 2010 the Company announced a transaction with JJR VI Acquisition Corp. (“J6”), a capital pool Company
listed on the TSX Venture Exchange to complete a going-public transaction with the Company’s wholly owned
subsidiaries, American Country and American Service by way of a reverse takeover of J6. American Country and
American Service were the companies within the group that concentrated in Commercial insurance and contained the
group’s expertise in that area. The transaction was closed on December 31, 2010. The new Company was renamed
Atlas Financial Holdings, Inc. (“Atlas”) and following the completion of the merger, American Country and American
Service are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Atlas. Total consideration to the Company as a result of the transaction was
approximately $57.0 million, consisting of cash of $7.9 million, preferred shares of Atlas of $18.0 million, and
common shares of Atlas of $31.1 million. Kingsway retains 30% of the voting rights of Atlas.

•Subsequent to year end Atlas announced that its shares began trading under the symbol AFH on the TSX Venture
exchange and as a result of the successful completion of the Atlas transaction, A.M. Best Co. upgraded the financial
strength rating of Atlas’ operating subsidiaries American Country and American Service to “B” from “B-“.

KLROC Trust

•Kingsway Linked Return of Capital (“KLROC”) Trust is an investment trust established under the laws of the Province
of Ontario and is governed by a Declaration of Trust dated May 12, 2005, amended July 14, 2005. KLROC was
created to provide holders with exposure to a promissory note issued by KAI, an affiliate of Kingsway.

11
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•KLROC Trust commenced operations on July 14, 2005 and raised C$78,000,000 through the issuance of 3,120,000
preferred units (“KLROC Units”) at C$25 per KLROC preferred unit. In order to achieve its investment objectives,
KLROC used the net proceeds of C$74,141,236 of its initial public offering to subscribe for and purchase all of the
limited partnership units of KL LP. In turn, KL LP used these proceeds for the payment of its purchase obligations
under a Forward Purchase Agreement which KL LP entered into with the Bank of Nova Scotia (“the Counterparty”).
Such proceeds were invested by the Counterparty in KN Trust.

•The KN Trust lent funds to ROC GP and combined with its partnership capital of C$8,250,000, ROC GP subscribed
for common shares in ROC LLC totaling C$82,087,781. With these proceeds, ROC LLC purchased a promissory
note from KAI, with the principal amount of US $66,222,012 bearing interest at 7.37% per annum and due June 30,
2015.

•Beginning in 2009, KFS Capital began purchasing KLROC Units. The investments at that time were accounted as
available for sale securities as they were purchased primarily as an investment. As at December 31, 2009, the
Company held 830,515 KLROC Units representing 26.6% of the issued and outstanding KLROC units, therefore the
Company was not obligated to consolidate the KLROC Trust. In 2010, the Company purchased an additional
1,503,200 KLROC Units and now beneficially owns and controls 74.8% of the issued and outstanding KLROC
Units.  The Company has determined that the consolidated financial statements of the KLROC Trust, which financial
statements include the accounts of the other aforementioned entities, should be consolidated with the financial
statements of the Company beginning July 23, 2010 in accordance with Canadian GAAP. As a result of
consolidating the KLROC Trust, the Company recorded a gain of $17.8 million in 2010 related to the KLROC Units
held by KFS Capital. The gain arose from the difference between the carrying value of the debt held by KLROC
Trust and the fair value of the KLROC Units held by KFS Capital.

York Fire
•On September 30, 2008, the sale of York Fire and Casualty Insurance Company (“York Fire”), a former subsidiary of
the Company, was completed for C$95 million. Following the sale of York Fire, the Company repaid its remaining
short-term bank debt of approximately $48 million, with the balance of the proceeds applied to support growth in
core business lines and for general corporate purposes.

Hamilton Risk Management Company
•On March 30, 2011, the Company closed the sale of its wholly owned subsidiary Hamilton Risk Management
Company and its subsidiaries, including Kingsway Amigo Insurance Company, to Acadia Acquisition Partners, L.P. 
Kingsway will act as the general partner and hold a limited partnership investment.

Business Transformation Plan

The Company continued to progress with its strategic transformation plan:
•In April 2009, the Company launched a strategic transformation process with the objectives of aligning the
organization around historically profitable core lines of business and to achieve an annualized savings run-rate of
$120,000,000 by year-end 2010.

•On August 7, 2009, KFSI provided an update on the Company’s strategic transformation process along with the
announcement of its Q2 2009 financial results.  Highlights from this update include confirmation that the Company
had largely completed the process of aligning the employee population in the U.S. with the new operating model,
applying a disciplined and rigorous approach to getting people with the right skills and experience in the right roles
to drive a successful turnaround of the business.  Support functions, including human resources, information
technology and corporate legal, across the organization were consolidated to reduce duplication and eliminate
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unnecessary costs.  Staff were reduced by a further 165 in the quarter and $14 million, or 40.2% of the 2009 expense
savings target, were achieved in the quarter while incurring approximately $10 million in transition costs.
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•On November 6, 2009, KFSI provided a further update on the Company’s strategic transformation process along with
the announcement of its Q3 2009 financial results.  Staff were reduced by a further 240 in the quarter for a total of
850 year to date an additional $11.3 million in cost savings in the quarter with a total of $45 million for the year,
substantially ahead of an originally communicated target of $34.8 million for 2009.

• Due to the sale of assets, measuring progress of the original transformation targets is no longer applicable.

Other Developments

The following is a summary of additional events that have occurred over the past three fiscal years and that have
influenced the general development of the business:
•In July 2008, all of the amounts outstanding under the Company's $175 million credit facility that were set to mature
in June 2009, were repaid. At the same time, the Company repaid C$19.9 million of the C$70 million outstanding
under its 365 day credit agreement entered into in December 2007.In February 2009, the Company liquidated the
majority of its investment portfolio holdings of common share equities, resulting in a realized loss of $18.2 million.

•On June 5, 2009, the board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) authorized management to withdraw ratings
provided by Standard & Poor’s and by DBRS in connection with its outstanding debt and securities, including its
outstanding debt and units of the Kingsway Limited Return of Capital Trust.  This decision was taken as part of the
Board’s ongoing cost cutting strategy.

•On June 26, 2009, KFS Capital LLC, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, commenced a take-over
bid to acquire up to 1,000,000 preferred, retractable, cumulative units of Kingsway Linked Return of Capital Trust at
a price per unit of C$12.00 in cash. This offer expired on Tuesday, August 4, 2009 and 694,015 units were tendered.
This tender was paid for using available cash.

•Kingsway 2007 General Partnership announced on July 14, 2009 the commencement of a modified “Dutch Auction”
tender offer (the “2012 Offer”) for a portion of its outstanding Unsecured 6% Debentures due July 11, 2012 (the “2012
Debentures”). The 2012 Offer provided for a cash purchase of 2012 Debentures at a price per C$1,000 principal
amount of debentures of not less than C$540 and not greater than C$620, for a maximum aggregate purchase price to
the offeror not to exceed C$31 million (excluding accrued and unpaid interest). The 2012 Offer expired Friday,
August 14, 2009 with valid tenders (that were not withdrawn) of C$9,174,000 in aggregate principal amount of
Debentures. Kingsway GP accepted for purchase all such tendered Debentures at the highest price specified of
C$620 per C$1,000 principal amount. This tender was paid for using available cash. A further C$6,915,500 par was
purchased during 2009 outside of the tender offer.

•By September 30, 2009, the Company had commuted all of the reinsurance treaties between its U.S. subsidiaries and
Kingsway Reinsurance Corporation and as at October 1, 2009, the intercompany reinsurance treaties between the
Company’s Canadian operating units and Kingsway Reinsurance Corporation were commuted as well.  This was in
addition (and unrelated) to the reinsurance commutations effected in connection with Lincoln General’s runoff plan.
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•In July 2010, the Company announced it had repurchased an aggregate principal amount of C$33,932,000 of
Unsecured 6% Debentures due July 11, 2012 issued by Kingsway 2007 General Partnership (the “2012 Debentures”)
and an aggregate principal amount of US$25,583,000 of 7.50% Senior Notes due 2014 (the “2014 Notes”) issued by
Kingsway America, for a total purchase price of approximately US$55.1 million. As a result of these acquisitions,
the aggregate principal amount of 2012 Debentures and 2014 Notes that remained outstanding is C$12.5 million and
US$26.9 million, respectively.

•On June 9, 2010 KFS Capital commenced the take-over bid (“the Offer”) to acquire up to 750,000 KLROC units at a
price per unit of C$17.50 in cash. On July 9, 2010, KFS Capital increased the size and price of its previously
announced Offer to 1,500,000 units at a price per unit of C$20.00 in cash.  The Offer expired on Friday, July 23,
2010 and 1,525,150 units were tendered, of which 1,500,000 were purchased on a pro-rata basis. The tender was paid
for using available cash. As a result of the purchase, the Company beneficially owned and controlled 2,333,715 units
of KLROC Trust representing 74.8% of the issued and outstanding units. As such, the Company now considers it to
be the primary beneficiary of the KLROC Trust and has consolidated their results in the third quarter, resulting in a
gain on consolidation of $17.8 million.

3. NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS

General

The Company provides innovative insurance solutions to manage speciality risks for individuals and businesses in the
United States and, until the disposition of Jevco, in Canada. The Company's primary business is non-standard
automobile insurance.  Non-standard automobile insurance is the insuring of drivers who do not qualify for standard
automobile insurance coverage because of their payment history, driving record, place of residence, age, vehicle type
or other factors.  Other products offered by KFSI have included trucking insurance, commercial automobile insurance,
commercial and personal property coverages, standard automobile insurance, motorcycle insurance and other specialty
lines. As a result of the strategic transformation process implemented throughout 2009 along with the business entity
dispositions described above, the Company’s focus is limited to primarily U.S. private passenger non-standard
automobile insurance going into 2011.
Certain information with respect to the operations of the Company is set out below.  A detailed discussion of the
Company's operations is included in the 2010 Management’s Discussion and Analysis in the section entitled “Corporate
Overview” which is incorporated by reference herein.
In 2010, non-standard automobile business was the largest business line for KFSI and accounted for 92% of KFSI's
$214.0 million of gross premiums written ("GPW") (GPW being the total premiums on insurance underwritten before
deduction of reinsurance premiums ceded) in 2010.
KFSI's premium distribution by line and geographic areas is set out in Tables 1 and 2 of the 2010 Management’s
Discussion and Analysis to the Consolidated Financial Statements, which Note is incorporated herein by reference.
In addition to revenue derived from premiums earned, KFSI also derives revenue from premium financing and
investment income. This revenue amounted to $25.6 million in 2010 as compared to $11.1 million in 2009.
Employees

As a result of the transformation program, including the sale of a number of operating subsidiaries, as at December 31,
2010 there were approximately 800 personnel supporting our continuing operations. None of our employees are
represented by a labour union. We believe that we have good relations with our employees and we have never
experienced a work stoppage.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As a holding Company, Kingsway receives cash from its subsidiaries to meet its obligations generally in the form of
dividends and management fees. The Company’s insurance subsidiaries fund their obligations primarily through
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premiums written and investment income as well as maturities in the investment portfolio. A full discussion is
included in the section entitled “Financial Condition - Liquidity and Capital Resources” of the 2010 Management’s
Discussion and Analysis, which section is incorporated herein by reference.
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Investment Portfolio

The fair value of KFSI's cash and securities, decreased 12.9% to $300.9 million as at December 31, 2010 from $345.5
million as at December 31, 2009.   Net investment income, excluding realized gains on a pre-tax basis was $16.4
million for the year compared with $0.1 million for 2009. The investment portfolio as at December 31, 2010 and
December 31, 2009 is comprised of assets from a number of different classes as reflected in Note 5 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements and as set out in the 2010 Management’s Discussion and Analysis, which sections
are incorporated herein by reference.

Intangible Properties
If the Company does not perform well, or if the outlook for our Company is significantly lower than historical trends,
we may be required to recognize an impairment of intangible properties which could have a material adverse effect on
our results of operations and financial condition.

Goodwill represents the value the Company paid to acquire subsidiaries and other businesses over the fair value of
their net identifiable assets at the date of acquisition. Intangible assets represent separately identifiable assets that
provide future benefits such as our trade marks.  The Company reviews these assets for potential impairment on a
regular basis as described in Note 21 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, which Note is incorporated herein by
reference.

As at December 31, 2010, the Company’s total assets included approximately $3.3 million of goodwill and $40.7
million of intangible assets. Please refer to the section entitled “Controls and Accounting Policies - Goodwill and
Intangible Assets” in the 2010 Management’s Discussion and Analysis, which section is incorporated herein by
reference. Adverse changes in the global economy or our business may result in impairment of our intangible
properties. Such impairments could have a material adverse effect our reported operating income and capitalization.

Competitive Position

The insurance industry is price competitive in all markets in which Kingsway’s insurance subsidiaries operate.
Kingsway’s subsidiaries strive to employ disciplined underwriting practices with the objective of rejecting underpriced
risks including terminating or repricing unprofitable business and focusing on good risks within specialty markets
where limited competition allows for a good spread of risk and above average returns. The combined ratio of claims
plus underwriting expenses compared to net premiums earned is the traditional measure of underwriting results of
property and casualty companies. In any year when the ratio exceeds 100%, it generally indicates that unprofitable
business has been underwritten. As a result of a thorough analysis for all lines of business in 2009, it was determined
that many were not profitable and necessary steps were taken to re-price or exit these lines of business. Additional
discussion is included on in the section entitled “Revenues - Premium Income and Competitive Factors” of the 2010
Management Discussion and Analysis, which section is incorporated herein by reference.

During 2010, KFSI’s GPW decreased 18% to $214.0 million compared to $261.9 million in 2009. The decreases came
primarily from the impact of terminations of unprofitable or non-core business programs and the continuing soft
market conditions for virtually all lines of business KFSI writes. KFSI maintains the position that it is better to write
less business at appropriate rate levels than to compete with other insurers at lower premiums to increase volume at
the expense of higher combined ratios.

The specialty lines that comprise KFSI’s core business require specialized skills in the areas of underwriting,
distribution and claim handling.  The higher risk nature of non-standard automobile insurance requires knowledge of
the market overall as well as knowledge of this specific segment of the insurance population.  KFSI has developed this
specialized knowledge over the past ten years through both acquisition and experience.  The process through which
the Company reduced staff in 2009 recognized these particular requirements and retained within the remaining
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KFSI’s business is positively correlated with the economic cycles in the U.S.  Consequently, the volume of premiums
written in 2010 was depressed on a relative basis.  KFSI’s business includes a very large number of relatively small
insureds spread across a large and diverse geographic area in the U.S.  As a result, the Company’s business is not
overly dependent on any one contract or commitment.  Some of KFSI’s business is sensitive to ratings from third party
agencies such as A.M. Best.

Corporate Group Restructuring:

In response to recent income tax changes in 2009, in Canada and the U.S., and in order to simplify the structure
through which KFSI holds, indirectly, the shares of Kingsway America, certain members of the corporate group of
KFSI were reorganized as follows.
Kingsway U.S. Finance Partnership and Kingsway U.S. Tier II Finance Partnership were dissolved. Metro Claim
Services Inc. was amalgamated with Kingsway Finance Nova Scotia, ULC to form Kingsway Nova Scotia Finance
ULC, which was subsequently converted into a limited liability Company, being Kingsway Nova Scotia Finance Inc.
A new corporation, Kingsway America II Inc. was incorporated under the laws of Delaware, to hold the shares of
Kingsway America.
Risk Factors

The risk factors faced by KFSI are described under the section entitled "Risk Factors" in the 2010 Management’s
Discussion and Analysis, which section is incorporated herein by reference.  The discussion of factors under such
section may not be exhaustive of all possible factors and other factors could also adversely affect the Company’s
results. All such factors should be considered carefully when making decisions with respect to the Company.

4. DIVIDEND POLICY

The ability of KFSI to pay dividends on the common shares is largely dependent upon its ability to receive dividends
from its subsidiaries. The insurance subsidiaries are regulated and are required to maintain statutory capital in order to
write insurance policies. Regulatory authorities may impose, from time to time, additional restrictions which may
affect the actual amounts available to KFSI for the payment of dividends.

KFSI paid and declared cash dividends in the aggregate amount of nil per share, C$0.04 per share, C$0.30 per share
for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. As of the date hereof, there has been no
dividend declared for 2011. Any decision to pay dividends on KFSI's common shares in the future will be dependent
upon the financial requirements of KFSI to finance future growth, the financial condition of KFSI and other factors
which the Board may consider appropriate in the circumstances.

5. DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Common Shares

General Description of Capital Structure

The authorized capital of KFSI consists of an unlimited number of common shares, of which 52,095,828 common
shares were outstanding as of December 31, 2010. All common shares have the same attributes, including the right to
one vote per share.
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On November 9, 2007, KFSI announced its intention to commence a normal course issuer bid ("NCIB") to repurchase
up to 2,780,000 common shares, ending no later than November 12, 2008 and being no more than five percent of the
total number of common shares outstanding. During this period, 591,900 common shares were repurchased at an
average price of C$12.21. On November 28, 2008, KFSI announced its intention to commence another NCIB to
repurchase up to 2,753,426 common shares for the twelve month period commencing December 2, 2008 and ending
no later than December 1, 2009 and being no more than 5% of the total number of common shares outstanding. For
the period December 2, 2008 to July 28, 2009, the Company did not repurchase any common shares. On July 29,
2009, KFSI announced an amendment to its existing NCIB for common shares which ended on December 1, 2009 and
authorized KFSI to repurchase up to 5,386,545 common shares. For the period July 29, 2009 to December 1, 2009, the
Company repurchased 3,472,700 common shares at an average price of C$3.77.

In evaluating its existing assets, including the future tax savings that may be realized through the application of its
existing tax losses, it was revealed that there is in excess of US$150 million of net operating losses ("NOLs")
potentially available to offset the future income of certain of the United States operations of the Company and its
subsidiaries. It was also revealed that this significant asset of the Company may be at risk of impairment or possible
elimination as the threshold for change of ownership under U.S. federal income tax rules may be close to being
triggered. The loss of the NOLs could have a material impact on shareholder value. Accordingly, on September 28,
2010, the Board, upon the advice of its advisors, unanimously approved the tax benefit preservation plan agreement
(the "Plan Agreement"), dated as of September 28, 2010, between the Company and Computershare Investor Services
Inc., as rights agent, for the sole purpose of protecting this asset. On October 28, 2010, shareholders of the Company
ratified and approved the adoption of this tax benefit preservation plan (the “Plan”).

Purpose of the Plan

The purpose of the Plan is solely to protect the Company's tax assets arising out its NOLs by attempting to deter
acquisitions of common shares that may result in an "ownership change" as determined in accordance with Section
382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 of the United States, as amended (the "Code"). Under Section 382 of the
Code, an "ownership change" may occur when the percentage of stock beneficially owned by one or more of a
corporation's large shareholders (defined for the purposes of Section 382 as shareholders who own 5% or more of the
corporation's shares) increases by more than 50 percentage points at any point over a three year rolling testing
period.  If the Company experiences an ownership change, the Company's ability to utilize its NOLs will be subject to
substantial limitation, resulting in significant impairment of the value of the Company's  tax assets.

The Plan is designed to reduce the likelihood that the Company will experience an ownership change by (i)
discouraging any person or group from acquiring 5% or more of the outstanding common shares without approval of
the Board, and (ii) discouraging existing holders of 5% or more of the outstanding common shares from acquiring
more than a specified number of additional common shares.  Although the purpose of the Plan is not to deter the
acquisition of "control" of the Company, the Plan may have such an effect. Additionally, there is no guarantee that the
Plan will prevent the Company from experiencing an ownership change under Section 382 of the Code and related
regulations.

The Company's ability to utilize its United States tax assets depends on its ability to generate taxable income in the
United States in the future.  There can be no assurance that it will be able to do so.  In addition, the amount of NOLs
available to the Company to offset any future taxable income has not been audited or otherwise validated by the
United States Internal Revenue Service (the "IRS").  As a result, the IRS could challenge the amount of the
NOLs.  The determination of whether an ownership change has occurred is itself subject to uncertainty, both because
of the complexity and ambiguity of the regulations under Section 382 of the Code and because of inherent limitations
on the Company's knowledge of the ownership of, and transactions in, its common shares.  Accordingly, the IRS may
claim that the Company has experienced an ownership change and attempt to limit the Company's use of its NOLs,
even with the Plan in place and if it has its intended effect on future transactions.
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Description of the Plan

From and after the record date for the distribution of rights under the Plan, each common share carries with it one
purchase right (a "Right"), until the earlier of the Distribution Date (as defined in the Plan) or the expiration of the
Rights. In general, the Rights will work to impose a significant penalty upon any Person (as defined in the Plan) or
group which acquires 5% or more of the outstanding common shares, without the approval of the Board.

The Plan has an ownership triggering threshold of 4.99% which is significantly lower than the triggering threshold of
20% generally used in traditional Canadian shareholder rights plans. The reduced threshold discourages additional
shareholders from becoming 5% shareholders and thereby being counted for purposes of the ownership change
calculation under Section 382 of the Code. The Plan also severely limits the number of additional common shares that
can be acquired by existing 5% shareholders without triggering the Plan. Accordingly, the Plan may prevent the
Company from undergoing an ownership change for purposes of Section 382 of the Code.

A general summary of the mechanics of the Plan and a summary of the Plan are set out in the management
information circular of KFSI dated September 28, 2010 and is available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.

Change of Control

Many state insurance laws intended primarily for the protection of policyholders require advance approval by state
insurance commissioners of any change in control of an insurance Company that is domiciled (or, in some cases,
having such substantial business that it is deemed to be commercially domiciled) in that state. "Control" is generally
presumed to exist through the ownership of 10% or more of the voting securities of a domestic insurance Company or
of any Company that controls a domestic insurance Company. In addition, insurance laws in many states contain
provisions that require prenotification to the insurance commissioners of a change in control of a non-domestic
insurance Company licensed in those states.

Any future transactions that would constitute a change in Control of the Company's U.S. insurance Company
subsidiaries, including a change of Control of KFSI, would generally require the party acquiring Control to obtain the
prior approval by the insurance departments of the insurance subsidiaries' states of domicile or commercial domicile,
if any, and may require pre-acquisition notification in applicable states that have adopted pre-acquisition notification
provisions. Obtaining these approvals could result in material delay of, or deter, any such transaction.

Debt Securities

In May 2009 the Board of Directors delegated to the Capital Committee of the Board of Directors the authority to
repurchase debt of the Company.

On July 10, 2007, a general partnership of the Company, Kingsway 2007 General Partnership issued C$100 million
Senior Unsecured Debentures at 6% due on July 11, 2012. These debentures bear interest at a fixed rate of 6% per
annum payable semi-annually from the date of issuance until July 11, 2012. Interest payments are to be made on
January 10 and July 10 in each year, commencing January 10, 2008 with an effective interest rate of 6.3%. The net
proceeds to the Company amounted to C$99,188,000. Kingsway 2007 General Partnership may redeem the
debentures in whole at any time and in part from time to time, at the issuer’s option. The debentures are
unconditionally guaranteed by Kingsway Financial Services Inc. and Kingsway America, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Kingsway Financial Services Inc. During 2009 and 2010, the Company repurchased $14.6 million (C$16.1 million)
and $69.8 million (C$71.4 million) of par value, respectively, of this offering and realized a gain of $6.0 million in
2009 and $7.8 million in 2010. As at December 31, 2010 C$12.5 million of par value of this issue remains
outstanding, as compared to C$83.9 million par value outstanding at December 31, 2009.
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On January 29, 2004, a subsidiary of the Company, Kingsway America, completed the sale of $100 million 7.50%
senior notes due 2014. The notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by the Company. The notes are redeemable
at Kingsway America’s option on or after February 1, 2009. In March 2004 an additional $25 million of these senior
notes were issued. Interest payments are to be made on February 1 and August 1 in each year with an effective interest
rate of 8.3%. During 2009 and 2010 the Company repurchased $7.0 million and $73.5 million of par value,
respectively, of this offering. The Company realized a gain on the repurchases of $3.5 million in 2009 and $11.4
million in 2010. As at December 31, 2010 $27.0 million of par value of this issue remains outstanding, as compared to
$100.5 million par value outstanding at December 31, 2009.

Between December 4, 2002 and December 16, 2003, six subsidiary trusts of the Company issued $90.5 million of 30
year capital securities to third parties in separate private transactions. In each instance, a corresponding floating rate
junior subordinated deferrable interest debenture was then issued by Kingsway America to the trust in exchange for
the proceeds from the private sale. The floating rate debentures bear interest at the rate of the London interbank
offered interest rate for three month U.S. dollar deposits, plus spreads ranging from 3.85% to 4.20%, but until dates
ranging from December 4, 2007 to January 8, 2009, the interest rates will not exceed 12.45% to 12.75%. The
Company has the right to call each of these securities at par anytime after five years from their issuance until their
maturity. The net proceeds to the Company were $70,877,000 after deducting expenses of $4,625,000. Interest paid
during the year was $4,126,000 for 2010, 5,047,000 for 2009, and $7,126,000 for 2008. Subsequent to year end, the
Company has given notice to its Trust Preferred trustees of its intention to exercise its voluntary right to defer interest
payments for up to 20 quarters.

On July 14, 2005 Kingsway Linked Return of Capital Trust (“KLROC Trust”) completed its public offering of C$78
million of 5.00% Kingsway Linked Return of Capital Preferred Units (“Units”) due June 30, 2015 of which the
Company was a promoter. In order to achieve its investment objectives, KLROC used the net proceed of
C$74,141,236 of its initial public offering to subscribe for and purchase all of the limited partnership units of KL
Limited Partnership (“KL LP”). In turn, KL LP used these proceeds for the payment of its payment of its purchase
obligations under Forward Purchase Agreement which KL LP entered into with the Bank of Nova Scotia (“the
Counterparty”). Such proceeds were invested by the Counterparty in KN Trust. The KN Trust lent funds to Kingsway
ROC GP (“ROC GP”) and combined with its partnership capital of C$8,250,000, ROC GP subscribed for common
shares in Kingsway ROC LLC (“ROC LLC”) totaling C$82,087,781. With these proceeds, ROC LLC purchased a
promissory note from KAI, with the principle amount of US $66,222,012 bearing interest at 7.37% per annum and due
June 30, 2015.

Beginning in 2009, KFS Capital, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, began purchasing KLROC
units. On June 26, 2009, KFS Capital, commenced a take-over bid (the “KLROC Offer”) to acquire up to 1,000,000
preferred, retractable, redeemable, cumulative units of Kingsway Linked Return of Capital Trust (“KLROC”) at a price
per unit of C$12.00 in cash. The KLROC Offer expired on Tuesday, August 4, 2009 and 694,015 units were tendered.
This tender was paid for using available cash. The Company also acquired ownership of 139,700 units of the KLROC
outside of the tender offer through a series of purchases on the Toronto Stock Exchange. On June 9, 2010 KFS Capital
commenced the take-over bid (“the Offer”) to acquire up to 750,000 KLROC units at a price per unit of C$17.50 in
cash. On July 9, 2010, KFS Capital increased the size and price of its previously announced Offer to 1,500,000 units
at a price per unit of C$20.00 in cash.  The Offer expired on Friday, July 23, 2010 and 1,525,150 units were tendered,
of which 1,500,000 were purchased on a pro-rata basis. The tender was paid for using available cash. As a result of
these acquisitions, the Company beneficially owns and controls 2,333,715 units, representing 74.8% of the issued and
outstanding units. The Company has determined that the consolidated financial statements of the KLROC Trust,
which financial statements include the accounts of other aforementioned entities, should be consolidated with the
financial statements of the Company beginning July 23, 2010 in accordance with Canadian GAAP. As a result of
consolidating the KLROC Trust, the Company recorded a gain of $17.8 million during 2010 related to the KLROC
Units held by KFS Capital. The gain arose as a result of the effective settlement of the debt within the consolidated
group and is equal to the difference between the carrying value of the debt held by KLROC Trust and the fair value of
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As at December 31, 2009, KAI had a promissory note payable balance of approximately $66.2 million with ROC
LLC.  The note was issued on July 15, 2005 and bears interest at 7.37% annually.  The note principal is payable on
June 30, 2015.  As further described above, as at December 31, 2010, the financial statements of ROC LLC are
consolidated with the financial statements of the Company, and therefore, the note payable balance is no longer
considered to be an obligation of the consolidated entity.

Ratings

On June 5, 2009, the Company withdrew all ratings provided by Standard & Poor’s in connection with its outstanding
securities as a part of its ongoing cost cutting strategy.
On June 5, 2009, the Company also withdrew all ratings provided by DBRS as a part of its ongoing cost cutting
strategy.
On November 24, 2009, the Company announced that A.M. Best had downgraded the Company’s issuer credit rating
from “B-“ to “CCC” and the downgrade of the financial strength ratings from “B” to “B-” for American Service Insurance
Company Inc., Jevco, Mendakota Insurance Company, Mendota Insurance Company, Southern United Fire Insurance
Company, Kingsway Amigo Insurance Company (formerly U.S. Security Insurance Company, Inc.) and Universal
Casualty Company.
The ratings received from rating organizations for securities of KFSI are described further under the section entitled
“Risk Factors” in the 2010 Management’s Discussion and Analysis, which section is incorporated herein by reference.

6. MARKET FOR SECURITIES

Trading Price and Volume

The common shares of KFSI are listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange (the "TSX") and the New York Stock
Exchange (the "NYSE") (Symbol: KFS).

The following chart sets forth the high and low sales price and volume (in thousands) for the common shares of KFSI
on the TSX (in Canadian dollars) and the NYSE (in US Dollars) for the periods so indicated:

TSX NYSE

2010 High (C$) Low (C$) Volume
(‘000s) High (US$) Low (US$) Volume(‘000s)

January 1.85 1.39          10,290 1.73 1.32          5,245
February 1.75 1.65            1,788 1.67 1.58          1,013
March 1.85 1.59            3,355 1.79 1.59          2,040
April 2.61 2.10            6,453 2.59 2.05          8,489
May 2.18 1.63            1,910 2.14 1.60          1,549
June 1.88 1.70            1,557 1.81 1.64          2,320
July 1.95 1.67            1,297 2.00 1.65          1,051
August 2.06 1.76                902 2.02 1.68             883
September 1.82 1.64                680 1.78 1.60             807
October 1.73 1.50            2,235 1.70 1.49          1,161
November 1.51 1.36            1,161 1.48 1.33          1,478
December 1.41 1.21            3,670 1.53 1.20          3,682
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7. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

The following tables and the notes thereto state the names of all directors and executive officers of the Company, all
other positions or offices with the Company and its subsidiaries now held by them, their principal occupations or
employment and the number of common shares and options to acquire common shares of the Company beneficially
owned, directly or indirectly, by each of them, or over which they exert control or direction as of the date hereof.

Directors

The name, municipality of residence and principal occupation of each of the directors are, as of the date hereof, as set
forth below.  Such individuals have served as directors of KFSI since the dates set forth opposite their respective
names and their respective terms as directors of KFSI shall expire at the next annual meeting of KFSI, scheduled to be
held on May 26, 2011.

Name and
Residence Date First Elected as Director Principal Occupation

Gregory Hannon(1)(4)
Ontario, Canada

September 16, 2009 Vice President,
Oakmont Capital Inc.

Terence Kavanagh(2)(3)
Ontario, Canada

April 23, 2009 President,
Oakmont Capital Inc.

Spencer L. Schneider(1)(4)(5)
(Chairman)
New York, USA

January 7, 2009 Attorney,
Self-Employed

Joseph Stilwell(1)(2)(3)
New York, USA

April 23, 2009 Managing Partner,
Stillwell & Associates, LP

(1) Member of Audit Committee
(2) Member of Compensation Committee
(3) Member of Investment and Capital Committee
(4) Member of Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee
(5) Member of Disclosure Committee

For the past five years, each director has been engaged in his current occupation or in other capacities within the same
or a related entity.

Executive Officers

The name, municipality of residence and position held with KFSI of each of the officers, are, as of the date hereof, as
set forth below:

Name and
Residence

Position with the
Company Principal Occupation

Daniel Brazier(1)
Ontario, Canada

Interim Chief Financial
Officer and Treasurer

Consultant, Resources Global
Professionals (a business
consulting firm)

William A. Hickey, Jr.
Illinois, USA

Executive Vice President and
Chief Operating Officer

Executive Vice President and
Chief Operating Officer, KFSI

Larry G. Swets, Jr.(1)
Illinois, USA

President & Chief Executive
Officer

President & Chief Executive
Officer, KFSI

(1) Member of Disclosure Committee
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Except as noted below, for the past five years, each executive officer has been engaged in his current occupation or in
other capacities within the same or a related entity.

•Daniel Brazier joined KFSI as Interim Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer in 2009.  Mr. Brazier is also currently a
consultant for Resources Global Professionals, which position he has held since April 2007.  He was Vice President
Finance with CIBC from June 2004 until July 2006.

•William Hickey was appointed Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer on August 30, 2010. Prior to
joining KFSI, he was a Managing Director with Macquaire Capital from 2009 to 2010. Previously, Bill was Managing
Director, Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer for Fox-Pitt Kelton Cochran Caronia Waller (between
2007 and 2009) at the time of its merger with Macquarie on November 30, 2009. He was Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer of the Kemper Insurance Companies prior to joining Cochran Caronia Waller.

•Larry Swets was appointed President and Chief Executive Officer on June 30, 2010. Mr. Swets was appointed
Executive Vice President, Corporate Development of KFSI in 2009. Prior to joining KFSI, Mr. Swets served as
Managing Member for Itasca Financial LLC in from June 2005 until December 2009. Mr. Swets was Acting Chief
Financial Officer of Risk Enterprise Management, Ltd. from November 2007 until December 2009, and Director
Investments for Kemper Insurance between 1997 and 2005.  Presently, Mr. Swets is also engaged as Managing
Member of Fund Management Group, which position he has held since 2007.

As a group, the directors and officers of KFSI own, directly or indirectly or exercise control or direction over
12,914,922 (24.8%) of the total outstanding common shares of KFSI as of March 31, 2010. The information as to
shares owned indirectly or over which control or direction is exercised by the directors and officers, but which are not
registered in their names, not being within the knowledge of KFSI, has been furnished by such directors and officers
of KFSI.

Conflicts of Interest

To the knowledge of KFSI, no director or officer of KFSI has an existing or potential material conflict of interest with
KFSI or any of its subsidiaries.

Cease Trade Orders, Penalties, Sanctions and Bankruptcies

To the knowledge of the Company, no director or executive officer of the Company is, as at the date of this AIF, or
was within 10 years before the date of this AIF, a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer of any
Company (including KFSI), that:

(a)was subject to a cease trade order, an order similar to a cease trade order or an order that denied the relevant
Company access to any exemption under securities legislation that was in effect for a period of more than 30
consecutive days (an “Order”) that was issued while the director or executive officer was acting in the capacity as
director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer, or

22

Edgar Filing: KINGSWAY FINANCIAL SERVICES INC - Form 40-F

33



(b)was subject to an Order that was issued after the director or executive officer ceased to be a director, chief
executive officer or chief financial officer and which resulted from an event that occurred while that person was
acting in the capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer.

To the knowledge of the Company, no director or executive officer or a shareholder holding a sufficient number of
securities of the Company to affect materially the control of the Company:

(a)is, as at the date of this AIF, or has been within the 10 years before the date of this AIF, a director or executive
officer of any Company (including KFSI) that while that person was acting in the that capacity, or within a year of
that person ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to
bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with
creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets; or

(b)has, within the 10 years before the date of the AIF, become bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation
relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or become subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or
compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of the
director, executive officer or shareholder.

Except as disclosed below, to the knowledge of the Company, no director or executive officer or, to the knowledge of
the Company, a shareholder holding a sufficient number of securities of the Company to affect materially the control
of the Company has been subject to (a) any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to securities legislation
or by a securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a securities regulatory authority;
or (b) any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body.

8. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND REGULATORY ACTIONS

In the ordinary course of business, we are, from time to time, susceptible to various claims and legal proceedings,
including class actions. We are also susceptible to claims and legal proceedings alleging bad faith or extra contractual
damages. While it is not possible to estimate the final outcome of these various proceedings at this time, we do not
believe the outcome of such proceedings will have a material impact on our financial condition or results of
operations.

In addition to the potential exposures outlined above, the Company is engaged in the following legal disputes:

•The Pennsylvania Insurance Department (“DOI”) has challenged the disposition of Walshire and Lincoln General. On
November 20, 2009, DOI filed a complaint in the Commonwealth Court of Pennsylvania (“Commonwealth Court”)
against the Company, KAI and Walshire, seeking a declaration that the disposition was unlawful and not valid. The
Company strongly disagrees with the DOI’s position and maintains that the donations of Walshire shares to the
charities were lawful and valid. The Company therefore demurred to each of the claims in the DOI’s complaint,
thereby putting the legal sufficiency of the DOI’s claims at issue. The demurrers were argued to a panel of the
Commonwealth Court on February 9, 2010. 

On April 1, 2010, the Commonwealth Court sustained the demurrers, rejecting the arguments made by DOI and
dismissing all of the DOI’s claims against the Company. On April 30, 2010, the DOI appealed the April 1, 2010
decision to Pennsylvania Supreme Court. The Company is opposing this appeal, which is scheduled for oral argument
on April 12, 2011.
On November 19, 2009 the day before the day the DOI’s complaint, the Company and KAI filed a complaint in the
Commonwealth Court against the DOI seeking a declaration that the statue upon which DOI principally relies did not
apply to the donations. In response to the Company’s complaint, the DOI filed an Answer and New Matter (in essence,
a Counterclaim), making the same arguments the DOI made in its November 20, 2009 complaint. Because the two
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lawsuits raise the same issues, further proceedings in the Company’s and KAI’s lawsuit have been postponed, pending
the Pennsylvania Supreme Court’s decision in the DOI’s lawsuit.
If the ultimate decision of the courts is unfavorable for the Company, the control of Lincoln may revert back to the
Company, which would result in Lincoln General’s financial results being included in the Company’s consolidated
financial statements. Thus, if the Pennsylvania Supreme Court deems the transaction to be invalid, it could ultimately
lead to the Company being in breach of its public debt covenants should Lincoln General go into liquidation while still
part of the Company. The Company’s public debt is material, and a breach in covenants could lead to the debt being
called and paid before maturity.
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• The Company is the defendant in two separate breach of contract suits filed by two former employees.

9. INTEREST OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS

In the three most recently completed financial years and the current financial year of the Company, no director,
executive officer, or, to the knowledge of the Company, no person or Company that beneficially owns, controls or
directs, directly or indirectly, more than 10% of any class or series of outstanding voting securities of the Company, or
associate or affiliate  of any foregoing, other than what is specified below, had or is expected to have any material
direct or indirect transactions with the Company that materially affected or would materially affect the Company.

In March 2009, the Company obtained a $20 million financing facility from American Physicians Assurance
Corporation (“AP Assurance”) to allow for specific capital initiatives.   Two of the members of the Board, Spencer
Schneider and Joseph Stilwell, were also members of the board of American Physicians Capital Inc., of which AP
Assurance is a subsidiary.  Neither of these individuals participated in the negotiation of the facility or the discussion
or approval of the facility at the board level of KFSI or AP Assurance.  At the time of these negotiations, Mr. Stilwell
had not yet been appointed to the Board. As at September 30, 2009, the facility was undrawn, expired and was
terminated. In the fourth quarter of 2009, a new facility was obtained from the same related party. This new facility
was at fair market terms and conditions. No funds were ever drawn on this facility and it was withdrawn on February
25, 2010.  Spencer Schneider and Joseph Stillwell ceased to be members of the board as of October 2010.

10. AUDIT COMMITTEE INFORMATION

Composition of the Audit Committee

As of the date hereof, the Audit Committee of KFSI was composed of the following three members: Gregory Hannon
(Chair), Spencer L. Schneider and Joseph Stilwell. The responsibilities and duties of the Audit Committee are set out
in the Audit Committee's charter, the text of which is set forth in Appendix A to this AIF.

The Board believes that the composition of the Audit Committee reflected a high level of financial literacy and
expertise. Each member of the Audit Committee has been determined by the Board to be "independent" and
"financially literate" as such terms are defined under Canadian and United States securities laws and the NYSE rules.
The Board has made these determinations based on the education and breadth and depth of experience of each
member of the Audit Committee.

The following is a description of the education and experience of each member of the Audit that is relevant to the
performance of his responsibilities as a member of the Audit Committee:
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Gregory P. Hannon has been a Vice-President and Director of Oakmont Capital Inc. since 1997. He previously was a
founding partner of Lonrisk, a Toronto-based specialty insurer and subsidiary of the London Insurance Group, where
he was the Vice-President.  Prior to that, Mr. Hannon worked for the Continental Bank of Canada in commercial
credit and as auditor for Arthur Andersen and Company, Chartered Accountants.    Mr. Hannon received a Bachelor of
Commerce degree from Queen’s University in 1978 and an M.B.A. from The Harvard Business School in 1987. He
currently sits on the Board of Delhi-Solac, a privately owned manufacturer of steel tubing.

Spencer L. Schneider served from 2002 until 2010, on the audit committee of American Physicians Capital Inc.
(“ACAP”), an insurance holding Company, which is engaged in the business of providing medical professional liability
insurance to physicians in the United States. In this role, Mr. Schneider was actively involved in reviewing ACAP’s
quarterly and annual filings.

Joseph Stilwell, as managing partner of Stilwell Associates, LP, has over 18 years of experience in managing his own
is investment funds, with a great deal of his time being dedicated to analyzing financial statements.  Mr. Stillwell is
also a graduate from the Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania with a Bachelor of Science in Economics.

Auditor Service Fees

Aggregate fees paid to the Company's Auditors during the fiscal years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 were as
follows:

(in Canadian dollars) 2010 Fee Amount 2009 Fee Amount
Audit Fees C$1,622,459 C$3,791,931
Audit-Related Fees C$135,161 C$175,000
Tax Fees C$486,706 C$704,807
All Other Fees nil C$2,000
Total: C$2,244,326 C$4,673,738

Audit Fees represent the aggregate fees billed by the Company’s external auditors for professional services rendered
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries, and for the reviews of the
Company’s quarterly financial statements.

Audit-Related Fees represent the aggregate fees billed by the Company’s external auditors for indirect audit services
provided.   These fees included consultations relating to financial accounting and reporting standards and French
translation services.

Tax Fees represent the aggregate fees billed by the Company’s external auditors for tax services related to tax
compliance, tax advice and tax planning. These services included analyses of various tax matters affecting the
Company.

All Other Fees represent the aggregate fees billed by the Company’s external auditors for services other than Audit,
Audit-Related and Tax.   These services relate to a subscription for online accounting research.
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11. TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR

KFSI's transfer agent and registrar is Computershare Investor Services Inc. at its principal office in Toronto, Ontario.

12. INTERESTS OF EXPERTS

Name of Experts

BDO USA, LLP prepared auditors' reports in regard to the Consolidated Financial Statements and in regard to the
Company's internal control over financial reporting at December 31, 2010. The Canadian Institute of Chartered
Accountants gives authority to the reports.

Interests of Experts

BDO USA, LLP is independent with respect to the Company within the meaning of the Rules of Professional Conduct
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Ontario and the rules of the U. S. Securities Exchange Commission.

13. MATERIAL CONTRACTS

The following is a list of contracts that are material to Kingsway and that were entered into within the most recently
completed financial year, or before the most recently completed financial year:
(a)the Agreement and Plan of Merger dated December 14, 2010 among JJR VI Acquisition Corp., Atlas Acquisition

Corp., Kingsway Financial Services Inc. and American Insurance Acquisition Inc.;

(b)the Tax Benefit Preservation Plan Agreement dated September 28, 2010 between Kingsway Financial Services
Inc. and Computershare Investor Services Inc.; and

(c)the Purchase Agreement dated January 25, 2010 between The Westaim Corporation and Kingsway Financial
Services Inc.

Copies of these agreements may be accessed on SEDAR under “Kingsway Financial Services Inc.” at www.sedar.com.

14. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Financial information about the Company is contained in its Consolidated Financial Statements and Management's
Discussion and Analysis for fiscal year ended December 31, 2010, which are available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.

Additional information, including directors' and officers' remuneration and indebtedness, the principal holders of
KFSI securities and securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans, where applicable, is contained
in KFSI's latest proxy circular dated as of April 29, 2010 in connection with its annual meeting of shareholders held
on May 27, 2010 which involved the election of directors.

Copies of this AIF Form as well as copies of the Management’s Discussion and Analysis and the Consolidated
Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2010 may be obtained from:

Kingsway Financial Services Inc.
c/o Leeann Repta
45 St. Clair Avenue West, Suite 400
Toronto, Ontario
M4V 1K9

Edgar Filing: KINGSWAY FINANCIAL SERVICES INC - Form 40-F

38



26

Edgar Filing: KINGSWAY FINANCIAL SERVICES INC - Form 40-F

39



APPENDIX A

CHARTER OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
Kingsway Financial Services Inc

I. Purpose

The Audit Committee is appointed by the Board of Directors to assist the Board in fulfilling its oversight
responsibilities with respect to (a) the integrity of the Company’s financial statements, (b) the Company’s compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements, (c) the external auditor’s qualifications and independence, and (d) the
performance of the Company’s corporate internal audit department function and the performance of the external
auditors.  The Audit Committee’s primary duties and responsibilities are to:
(i).Identify and monitor the management of the principal risks that could impact the financial reporting of the

Company

(ii).Monitor the integrity of the Company’s financial reporting process and system of internal controls regarding
financial reporting and accounting appropriateness and compliance.

(iii).Recommend the appointment of and monitor the independence and performance of the Company’s external
auditors and the external appointed actuary.

(iv).Provide an avenue of communication among the external auditors, the external appointed actuary, management
and the Board of Directors’.

(v). Review the annual audited financial statements with management and the external auditors.

II. Organization

Audit Committee members shall meet the requirements of the Business Corporations Act (Ontario), all applicable
securities laws, and the Toronto Stock Exchange and the New York Stock Exchange.  The Audit Committee shall be
comprised of three or more directors as determined by the Board, each of whom shall be outside directors who are
unrelated, free from any relationship that would interfere with the exercise of his or her independent judgment.  All
members of the Committee shall be financially literate, being defined as able to read and understand basic financial
statements, and the Chair of the Committee shall have accounting or related financial management expertise.  The
Audit Committee shall assist the Board in determining whether or not one or more members of the Audit Committee
is an “audit committee financial expert” as defined in SSEC Release 33-8177.
Audit Committee members shall be appointed by the Board annually at the meeting of the board of Directors next
following the annual meeting.  The Audit Committee Chair shall be designated by the full board or if it does not do so,
the members of the Committee may designate a Chair by majority vote of the Committee membership.

III. Structure and Meetings

The Committee shall meet at least quarterly, or more frequently as circumstances dictate.  The Audit Committee shall
prepare and/or approve an agenda in advance of each meeting.  The committee should meet privately in executive
session with each of management, the external auditors, the external appointed actuary, the corporate internal auditor
and as a committee to discuss any matters that the Committee or each of these groups believe should be discussed.
The Audit Committee has the authority to conduct any investigation appropriate to fulfilling its responsibilities, and it
has direct access to the external auditors as well any other employees or consultants to Kingsway and its subsidiaries.
The Audit Committee has the ability to retain, at the Company’s expense, special legal, accounting, or other
consultants or experts it deems necessary in the performance of its duties.

IV. Responsibilities and Duties
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The Audit Committee shall have the power and authority of the Board of Directors to perform the following duties
and fulfill the following responsibilities:
Review Procedures
1.Review and reassess the adequacy of this Mandate at least annually and submit the mandate to the Board of

Directors for approval.

2.Review the Company’s annual audited financial statements and discuss the Company’s quarterly financial statements
and related documents prior to filing or distribution.  Review should include discussion with management and
external auditors of significant issues regarding accounting principles, practice, and significant management
estimates and judgments as well as the contents of “Management’s Discussion and Analysis”.
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3.In consultation with management, external auditors, and external appointed actuary, consider the integrity of the
Company’s financial, reporting processes and internal controls.  Discuss significant financial risk exposures and the
steps management has taken to monitor, control, and report such exposures.  Review significant findings prepared
by the external auditors together with management’s responses.

4.Review the effectiveness of the overall process for identifying the principal risks affecting financial reporting and
provide the Committee’s view to the Board of Directors.

5.Review the Company’s quarterly financial results and related documents prior to the release of earnings and/or the
Company’s quarterly financial statements prior to filing or distribution shall be reviewed by the full Board of
Directors.

6.Review financial statements and other related documents to be included in any prospectus or other offering
document of the Company.

7.Discuss the Company’s earnings press releases as well as financial information and earnings guidance provided to
analysts and rating agencies.

External Auditors and Actuaries
8.The External auditors are accountable to the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors, as representatives of the

shareholders.  The Audit Committee shall review the independence and performance of the auditors and annually
recommend to the Board of Directors the appointment of the external auditors or approve any discharge of auditors
when circumstances warrant.

9.Recommend the appointment and approve the appointment, compensation and work carried out by the external
auditors, including the provision of both audit related and non-audit related services.

10.On no less than an annual basis, the Committee should review and discuss with the external auditors all significant
relationships they have with the Company that could impair the non-audit related services.

11.Review the external auditor’s audit plan and in particular, discuss and approve audit scoping, staffing, locations,
reliance upon management and general audit approach.

12. On not less than an annual basis review with the external auditors:

(i) all critical accounting policies and practices to be used in connection with the auditor’s report

(ii)all alternative treatments within GAAP for policies and practices related to material items that have been
discussed with management, including ramification of the use of such alternative disclosures and treatments, and
the treatment preferred by auditor; and

(iii)other material written communications between the auditor and the management of the Company, such as any
management representation letter, schedule of unadjusted differences, reports on observations and
recommendations on internal control, engagement letter and independence letter.

13.Prior to releasing the year-end earnings, discuss the results of the audit with the external auditors.  Discuss certain
matters required to be communicated to audit committees in accordance with the standards established by the
Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants.

14.
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Consider the external auditor’s judgments about the quality and appropriateness of the Company’s accounting
principles as applied in the Company’s financial reporting.

15. Set clear hiring policies for employees or former employees of the external auditors.

16.Consider the external appointed actuary’s judgment about the appropriateness of management’s selection of
assumptions of methods to determine the unpaid claims liabilities included in the Company’s year-end financial
statements.

Corporate Internal Audit Department
17. Discuss policies with respect to risk assessment and risk management
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18.On not less than an annual basis, obtain and review a report by the external auditor describing the Company’s
internal quality-control review, or peer review of the Company.

19. Review significant internal audit reports together with internal auditors and with external auditors.

20. Meet separately, periodically, with management, with internal auditors and with external auditors

21.Review formal whistleblower procedures that address the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints regarding
accounting, internal controls and auditing matters and the confidential anonymous submission by employees of
any concerns regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters.

22.On at least an annual basis, review with the Company’s counsel any legal matters that could have a significant
impact on the organization’s financial statements, the Company’s compliance with applicable laws and regulations,
and inquiries received from regulators or governmental agencies.

23.Develop and recommend to the full Board a set of corporate governance principles, review such principles
annually and recommend any modifications thereto.

24. Consider corporate governance issues that may arise from time to time and make recommendations to
the Board with respect thereto.

25. Confer, as appropriate, with the General Counsel on matters of corporate governance.

Other Audit Committee Responsibilities
26.Annually assess the effectiveness of the committee against this Mandate and report the results of the assessment to

the Board.

27.Perform any other activities consistent with this Mandate, the Company’s by-laws and governing law, as the
Committee or the board deems necessary or appropriate.

28.Maintain minutes of meetings and periodically report to the Board of Directors on significant results of the
foregoing activities.

29.Establish, review, and update periodically a Code of Conduct of the CEO and other Senior Financial Officers and
Code of Ethical Conduct for others and ensure that management has established a system to enforce these codes.

30.The Audit Committee will annually review a summary of director and officers’ related party transactions and
potential conflicts of interest.
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INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, and
have designed such internal control over financial reporting to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with Canadian
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), including a reconciliation to U.S. GAAP.

Management has used the Internal Control - Integrated Framework to assess the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control over the financial reporting as of December 31,2010, which is a recognized and suitable framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

Because of inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

Management has assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December
31, 2010 and has concluded that such internal control over financial reporting is effective as of December 31,
2010.  There are no material weaknesses that have been identified by management in this regard.

The independent registered public accounting firm, BDO USA, LLP, appointed by the Audit Committee, who have
audited the consolidated financial statements, have also audited the internal control over financial reporting and have
issued an attestation report on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2010 and their report is included herein.

Larry G. Swets, Jr.
P r e s i d e n t  &  C h i e f
Executive Officer

 Daniel Brazier
Chief Financial Officer

     March 31, 2011
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INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of Kingsway Financial Services Inc.:

We have audited Kingsway Financial Services Inc’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2010,
based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria).  Kingsway Financial Services Inc’s management is
responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying “Management’s Report on
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting”. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the company’s internal
control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining
an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit
also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance
with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

In our opinion, Kingsway Financial Services, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2010, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have conducted our audit of the Company's consolidated financial statements in accordance with Canadian
generally accepted auditing standards and the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Our report dated March 31, 2011 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

(Signed BDO USA, LLP)

Grand Rapids, Michigan
March 31, 2011
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MANAGEMENT’S STATEMENT ON RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Management is responsible for presentation and preparation of the annual consolidated financial statements,
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MDA”) of the financial condition and results of the operations and all other
information in the Company’s Annual Report. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles and the requirements of the United States Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”) including a reconciliation to generally accepted accounting principles in the United
States. Financial information appearing elsewhere in the Company’s Annual Report is consistent with the consolidated
financial statements.

The MDA has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the applicable securities rules and regulations,
including National Instrument 51-102 of the Canadian securities regulators as well as Item 303 of Regulation S-K of
the Securities Exchange Act of the United States, and their related published requirements.

The consolidated financial statements and information in the MDA necessarily include amounts based on informed
judgements and estimates of the expected effects of current events and transactions with appropriate consideration to
materiality. In addition, in preparing the financial information management must make determinations as to the
relevancy of information to be included, and make estimates and assumptions that affect reported information. The
MDA also includes information regarding the estimated impact of current transactions and events, sources of liquidity
and capital resources, operating trends, risks and uncertainties. Actual results in the future may differ materially from
management’s present assessment of this information because future events and circumstances may not occur as
expected and we undertake no duty to update such forward-looking statements.

In meeting its responsibility for the reliability of the consolidated financial statements and for the accounting systems
from which they are derived, management maintains the necessary system of internal controls. These controls are
designed to provide management with reasonable assurance that the financial records are reliable for preparing
financial statements and other financial information, that assets are safeguarded against unauthorized use or
disposition and that liabilities are recognized.

The Board of Directors oversees management’s responsibilities for financial reporting through an Audit Committee,
which is composed entirely of directors who are neither officers nor employees of the Company. The Audit
Committee reviews the consolidated financial statements and recommends them to the board for approval. The Audit
Committee also reviews and monitors the Company’s system of internal controls as reported by management or the
independent registered public accounting firm.

Kingsway Financial Services Inc. 2010 Annual Report

33

Edgar Filing: KINGSWAY FINANCIAL SERVICES INC - Form 40-F

49



CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 ROLE OF THE AUDITOR
The independent registered public accounting firm, BDO USA, LLP, has been appointed by the Audit Committee. Its
responsibility is to conduct an independent and objective audit of the financial statements in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States) and to report thereon to the shareholders. In carrying out their audit procedures relating to the
claims liabilities of the Company, the auditors make use of the work and report of the independent actuary. BDO
USA, LLP has full and unrestricted access to the Board of Directors and the Audit Committee to discuss audit,
financial reporting and related findings. The auditors’ report outlines the scope of their audit and their opinion.

Larry G. Swets, Jr.
President & Chief Executive Officer

March 31, 2011

Daniel Brazier
Chief Financial Officer

Kingsway Financial Services Inc. 2010 Annual Report
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of Kingsway Financial Services Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Kingsway Financial Services, Inc. ("the
Company") and its subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2010, the
consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity, comprehensive income and cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audit is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
the Company and its subsidiaries as at December 31, 2010, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Other Matters

Our audit was made for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a
whole. The supplementary information included in footnote 22 entitled "Reconciliation of Canadian and United States
generally accepted accounting principles is presented for purposes of additional analysis and requirements under
securities legislation. Such supplementary information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the
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audit of the basic consolidated financial statements and, in our opinion, is fairly stated in all material respects in
relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole.

The financial statements of Kingsway Financial Services, Inc. as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, were audited by
other auditors whose report dated March 31, 2010, expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2010, based on the criteria
established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated March 31, 2011 expressed an unmodified opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

(Signed BDO USA, LLP)

Grand Rapids, Michigan

March 31, 2011

Kingsway Financial Services Inc. 2010 Annual Report
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of Kingsway Financial Services Inc.:

We have audited the consolidated balance sheet of Kingsway Financial Services Inc. (“the Company”) as at December
31, 2009 and December 31, 2008 and the consolidated statements of operations, changes in shareholders equity,
comprehensive income and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008.  These consolidated
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).  Those standards require that we plan and perform an
audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
the Company as at December 31, 2009 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years ended
December 31, 2009 and 2008 in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Canadian generally accepted accounting principles vary in certain significant respects from U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles.  Information relating to the nature and effect of such differences is presented in Note 22 to the
consolidated financial statements.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2009, based on the criteria
established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated March 31, 2010 expressed an unqualified opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Chartered Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants

Toronto, Canada
March 31, 2010, except for the information relating
to the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008
in note 4 which is as of March 31, 2011
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands of U.S. dollars)
As at December 31

2010 2009
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 140,567 $ 49,577
Securities (Note 5) 146,684 280,686
Investment in investee (Note 6) 49,079 -
Accrued investment income 1,957 2,348
Financed premiums 13,572 15,237
Accounts receivable and other assets 48,938 67,692
Funds held in escrow (Note 4) 22,259 -
Due from reinsurers and other insurers (Note 14) 7,651 (164)
Deferred policy acquisition costs 13,952 19,550
Income taxes recoverable 17,991 15,622
Future income taxes (Note 15) 503 8,879
Capital assets (Notes 1, 10) 12,469 25,925
Goodwill and intangible assets (Notes 1, 21) 43,959 37,543
Assets held for sale (Note 4) - 1,434,460

$ 519,581 $1,957,355
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Liabilities:
Loans payable (Note 18(d)) $ - $ 66,222
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 42,385 57,395
Unearned premiums 66,879 85,635
Unpaid claims (Note 16) 174,708 186,685
Senior unsecured debentures (Notes 18(a), 27) 37,469 176,764
LROC preferred units (Note 18 (c) 15,884 -
Subordinated indebtedness (Note18(b)) 87,450 87,415
Liabilities held for sale (Note 4) - 1,127,900

$ 424,775 $1,788,016
Shareholders’ equity:
Share capital (Note 11) 296,139 295,291
Contributed surplus 15,440 20,549
Retained earnings (deficit)   (231,815) (193,572)
Accumulated other comprehensive income 15,042 47,071

94,806 169,339
Contingent liabilities (Note  20)
Subsequent  events (Note  27)

$ 519,581 $1,957,355

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

On behalf of the Board:

/s/ Spencer Schneider /s/ Greg Hannon
Spencer Schneider Greg Hannon
Director Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except per share amounts)
Years ended December 31

2010 2009 2008
Gross premiums written $ 214,048 $ 261,947 $ 345,676
Net premiums written $ 203,723 $ 273,095 $ 332,642
Revenue:
Net premiums earned (Note 14) $ 222,481 $ 298,211 $ 339,966
Net investment income (Note 5) 16,353 144 31,494
Net realized investment gains (losses) (Note 5) 9,243 10,956 (7,242)

248,077 309,311 364,218
Expenses:
Claims incurred (Notes 14 and 16) 214,681 236,801 224,324
Commissions and premium taxes (Note 14) 27,378 47,694 51,160
General and administrative expenses 83,990 85,066 81,364
Restructuring costs (Note 24) 4,803 14,783                      -
Interest expense 14,825 23,912 35,022
Amortization of intangible assets (Note 1, 21) 6,621 10,602 9,618
                Goodwill impairment (Note 21) - - 50,074

352,298 418,858 451,562
Loss from continuing operations before unusual item
and income taxes (104,221) (109,547) (87,344)
Gain on buy-back of debt (Note 18 (a)) 19,157 9,501 652
Gain on consolidation of debt (Note 18 (c)) 17,821 - -
Loss from continuing operations before income taxes (67,243) (100,046) (86,692)
Income taxes (recovery) (Note 15):
Current (14,494) (37,766) (15,566)
Future 8,376 7,356 27,728

 (6,118)  (30,410)  12,162
Loss from continuing operations $ (61,125) $ (69,636) $ (98,854)
Loss from discontinued operations, net of taxes (Note
4) (7,508) (222,836) (341,510)
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, net of
taxes (Note 4) 30,390 2,185 34,499
Net loss $ (38,243) $ (290,287) $ (405,865)
Per share amounts (in dollars) (Note 11):
Loss per share - continued operations
Basic $ (1.17) $                (1.29) $ (1.79)
Diluted $ (1.17) $                (1.29) $ (1.79)
Income (loss) per share - discontinued operations
Basic $ 0.44 $ (4.09) $ (5.56)
Diluted $ 0.44 $ (4.09) $ (5.56)
Loss per share - net loss
Basic $ (0.73) $ (5.38) $ (7.35)
Diluted $ (0.73) $ (5.38) $ (7.35)
Dividends declared per common share (in Canadian
dollars) $ - $ 0.04 $ 0.30

 See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(In thousands of U.S. dollars)
Years ended December 31

2010 2009 2008
Share capital
Balance at beginning of year $ 295,291 $ 322,344 $ 326,151
Issued during the year 848 - 89
Repurchased for cancellation - (27,053) (3,896)
Balance at end of year 296,139 295,291 322,344
Contributed surplus
Balance at beginning of year $ 20,549 $ 9,791 $ 7,619
Stock option adjustment (5,109) (4,186) 2,172
Repurchase of shares for cancellation - 14,944 -
Balance at end of year 15,440 20,549 9,791
Retained earnings (deficit)
Balance at beginning of year $ (193,572) $ 98,564 $ 521,165
Net loss for the year (38,243) (290,287) (405,865)
Common share dividends - (1,849) (15,460)
Repurchase of shares for cancellation - - (1,276)
Balance at end of year (231,815) (193,572) 98,564
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Balance at beginning of year $ 47,071 $ 22,873 $ 85,866
Other comprehensive income (loss) (Note  2(c)) (32,029) 24,198 (62,993)
Balance at end of year 15,042 47,071 22,873
Total shareholders’ equity at end of year $ 94,806 $ 169,339 $ 453,572

 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
(In thousands of U.S. dollars)
Years ended December 31

2010 2009 2008
Comprehensive loss
Net loss $ (38,243) $(290,287) $(405,865)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of taxes:
• Change in unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale
securities:
Unrealized gains arising during the year, net of income taxes(1) 972 7,170 14,201
Recognition of realized gains to net loss, net of income taxes (2) (1,583) (24,064) (11,361)
• Unrealized gains (losses) on translating financial statements
of self-sustaining foreign operations 6,271 34,489 (56,988)
Recognition of currency translation gain on disposal of subsidiary (34,075) - -
• Gain (loss) on cash flow hedge (3,614) 6,603 (8,845)
Other comprehensive income (loss) (32,029) 24,198 (62,993)
Comprehensive loss $ (70,272) $(266,089) $(468,858)
 (1)   Net of income tax (recovery) of $563 in 2010, $(7,403) in 2009.
 (2)   Net of income tax of $815 in 2010, $3,530 in 2009.

 See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands of U.S. dollars) 
Years ended December 31

2010 2009 2008
Cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities:
Net loss $ (38,243) $ (290,287) $(405,865)
Items not affecting cash:
(Income) loss on discontinued operations (22,882) 220,651 307,011
Amortization of intangibles and goodwill impairment 6,621 10,602 59,692
Amortization of capital assets and deferred charges 1,928 2,763 3,844
Future and current income (recovery) taxes (6,118) (30,410) 12,162
Net realized (gains) losses (9,243) (10,956) 7,242
Amortization of bond premiums and discounts 1,625 5,372 330

(66,312) (92,265) (15,584)
Change in non-cash balances:
Deferred policy acquisition costs 5,598 6,068 2,082
Due from reinsurers and other insurers (7,815) (130,573) 27,403
Unearned premiums (18,756) (22,975) (41,703)
Unpaid claims (11,977) 3,532 (7,330)
(Decrease) increase in contributed surplus (5,109) 10,758 2,172
Net change in other non-cash balances 34,426 (528,089) (447,307)

(69,945) (753,544) (480,267)
Financing activities:
Increase (decrease) in share capital, net 848 - 89
Repurchase of common shares for cancellation - (27,053) (5,172)
Common share dividend - (1,849) (15,460)
Increase (decrease) in bank indebtedness and loans payable (66,187) 32 29
Increase in LROC preferred units 15,884 - -
Increase (decrease) in senior unsecured debentures (139,295) (8,439) (34,877)

(188,750) (37,309) (55,391)
Investing activities:
Purchase of securities (113,851) (1,608,341) (499,010)
Proceeds from sale of securities 218,636 2,339,283 911,130
Financed premiums receivable, net 1,665 1,296 (481)
Acquisition of investment of investee (49,079) - -
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (13,752) - -
Net proceeds from sale of discontinued operations 307,575 43,858 44,067
Additions to capital assets (1,509) (194) 4,087

349,685 775,902 459,793
Net change in cash and cash equivalents of discontinued
operations - 9,149 8,549
Increase (decrease) in cash position during the year 90,990 (5,802) (67,316)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 49,577 55,379 122,695
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 140,567 $ 49,577 $ 55,379
Supplementary disclosure of cash information:
Represented by:
Cash on hand and balances with banks 60,828 44,553 50,772
Investments with maturities less than 30 days 79,739 5,024 4,607
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 140,567 $ 49,577 $ 55,379
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Cash paid for:
Interest $ 24,875 $ 29,985 $ 36,581
Income taxes (13,962) (20,645) 5,259

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Tabular amounts in thousands of U.S. dollars, except for per share amounts)

Kingsway Financial Services Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated under the Business Corporations Act (Ontario) on
September 19, 1989. The Company is a financial services holding Company which, through its subsidiaries in the
United States, Barbados and Bermuda, is engaged in property and casualty insurance.

NOTE 1 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES:

Commencing January 1, 2009, the Company adopted the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA”)
Handbook Section 3064, Goodwill and Intangible Assets which replaced Section 3062, Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets and Section 3450, Research and Development Costs. The new standard establishes standards for the
recognition, measurement and disclosure of goodwill and intangible assets. As a result of adopting the new standard,
certain software costs previously recorded as Capital assets are now recorded as Intangible assets in the Consolidated
Balance Sheet. Comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the financial statement presentation adopted
in the current year. Accordingly, as at December 31, 2008, $10.4 million was reclassified from Capital assets to
Intangible assets. The related amortization expense that was previously recorded in General and administrative
expenses on the Consolidated Statement of Operations is now recorded as Amortization of intangibles. Accordingly,
$5.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2008 was reclassified from General and administrative expenses to
Amortization of intangibles.

Effective January 1, 2009, the Company adopted the CICA Emerging Issues Committee (“EIC”) Abstract No. 173,
Credit Risk and the Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (“EIC-173”).  EIC-173 clarifies the
consideration of entity’s own credit risk and the credit risk of the counterparty in determining the fair value of financial
assets and financial liabilities, including derivative instruments. There was no resulting difference noted on adoption.

In June 2009 the CICA issued amendments to CICA Handbook Section 3862, Financial Instruments-Disclosures. The
amendments focused on improving disclosures about financial instruments. The amendments are effective for annual
financial statements for fiscal years ending after September 30, 2009. The Company has adopted these amendments
and has included these disclosures in Note 7.

NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)          Principles of consolidation:

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries. Acquisitions are
accounted for by the purchase method, whereby the results of acquired companies are included only from the date of
acquisition, and divestitures are included up to the date of disposal. Assets and liabilities of the acquired companies
are included in the financial statements at their fair values at the date of acquisition.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the following material subsidiaries, all of which are
owned, directly or indirectly, with the jurisdiction of incorporation indicated in brackets: Appco Finance Corporation
(Pennsylvania); ARK Insurance Agency (Illinois); KFS Capital LLC (Delaware); Kingsway 2007 General Partnership
(Delaware); Kingsway Reinsurance Corporation (Barbados); American Country Underwriting Agency Inc. (Illinois);
ARM Holdings, Inc. (Illinois); Assigned Risk Solutions Ltd. ( New Jersey); Auto Underwriters Holdings LLC
(Delaware); Hamilton Risk Management Company (Florida); Insurance Management Services Inc. (Florida);
Kingsway 2009 LLC (Delaware); Kingsway America Agency Inc. (Illinois); Kingsway America II Inc. (Delaware);
Kingsway America Inc. (Delaware); Kingsway Amigo Insurance Company (formerly U.S. Security Insurance
Company) (Florida); Kingsway General Insurance Company (Ontario); Kingsway Nova Scotia Finance Inc. (Nova
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Scotia); Kingsway Reinsurance (Bermuda) Ltd. (Bermuda); Kingsway Linked Return of Capital Trust (Ontario);
Knight Underwriters Inc. (Delaware); Mattoni Insurance Brokerage, Inc. (Washington); Mendota Insurance Company
(Minnesota); Mendakota Insurance Company (Minnesota); Mendota Insurance Agency Inc. (Texas); Northeast
Alliance Insurance Agency, L.L.C. (Delaware); and Universal Casualty Company (Illinois).

 (b)          Use of estimates:

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the year. Actual results
could differ from these estimates and changes in estimates are recorded in the accounting period in which they are
determined.

The most significant estimates that are susceptible to significant change in the near-term relate to the determination of
the liability for unpaid claims, the fair value of investments, including whether securities are other-than-temporarily
impaired, stock-based compensation expense, income taxes and deferred policy acquisition costs. Although
considerable judgement is inherent in these estimates, management believes that the current estimates are reasonable
in all material respects. The estimates are reviewed regularly and adjusted as necessary. Adjustments related to
changes in estimates are reflected in the Company’s results of operations, or other comprehensive income, in the period
in which those estimates changed.
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(c)         Securities:

The Company has classified the securities held in its investment portfolio as available-for-sale (“AFS”).  See Note 5 for
further details.

AFS fixed income and equity investments are carried at their fair value, whereby the unrealized gains and losses are
included in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (“AOCI”) until sale or until an other-than-temporary
impairment is recognized, at which point cumulative unrealized gains or losses are transferred to the statement of
operations. Realized gains and losses on sale, determined on an average cost basis, and write-downs to reflect
other-than-temporary impairments in value are included in net realized investment gains (losses).

Dividends and interest income from these securities are included in net investment income. Investment income is
recorded as it accrues. Dividend income on common and preferred shares is recorded on the ex-dividend date.

The Company accounts for all financial instruments using trade date accounting.

Transaction costs are capitalized and, where applicable, amortized over the expected life of the instrument using the
effective interest rate method.

The Company conducts a quarterly review to identify and evaluate securities (both debt and equity) that show
objective indications of possible impairment. Impairment is charged to income if the fair value of a security falls
below its cost/amortized cost, and the decline is considered other-than-temporary. Factors considered in determining
whether a loss is other-than-temporary include the length of time and extent to which fair value has been below cost;
financial condition and near-term prospects of the issuer; and the Company’s ability and intent to hold securities for a
period of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery.

 (d)         Investment in investee:

Investment in Investee is accounted for under the equity method of accounting in the accompanying consolidated
financial statements. The Company’s voting percentage and share of earnings or losses of an investee is determined
using the most recent and timely publicly available audited financial statements, subsequent unaudited interim reports
and other publicly available information. The Company recognizes into income its equity share of a change in an
investee’s reported net assets resulting from an investee’s issuance of stock that is not part of a broader corporate
reorganization.

 (e)         Cash and cash equivalents:

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash and securities with maturities of less than thirty days.

 (f)         Goodwill and intangible assets:

When the Company acquires a subsidiary or other business where it exerts significant influence, the fair value of the
net tangible and intangible assets acquired is determined and compared to the amount paid for the subsidiary or
business acquired. Any excess of the amount paid over the fair value of those net assets is considered to be goodwill.

Goodwill is tested at least annually for impairment to ensure that its fair value is greater than or equal to the carrying
value. Any excess of carrying value over fair value is charged to income in the period in which the impairment is
determined.
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When the Company acquires a subsidiary or other business where it exerts significant influence or acquires certain
assets, intangible assets may be acquired, which are recorded at their fair value at the time of the acquisition. An
intangible asset with a definite useful life is amortized to income over its defined useful life. The Company writes
down the value of an intangible asset with a definite useful life when the undiscounted cash flows are not expected to
allow for full recovery of the carrying value.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not subject to amortization and are tested at least annually for
impairment to ensure that fair values are greater than or equal to carrying values. Any excess of carrying value over
fair value is charged to income in the period in which the impairment is determined.
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(g)          Deferred policy acquisition costs:

The Company defers brokers’ commissions, premium taxes and other underwriting and marketing costs directly
relating to the acquisition of premiums written to the extent they are considered recoverable. These costs are then
expensed as the related premiums are earned. The method followed in determining the deferred policy acquisition
costs limits the deferral to its realizable value by giving consideration to estimated future claims and expenses to be
incurred as premiums are earned. Changes in estimates, if any, are recorded in the accounting period in which they are
determined. Anticipated investment income is included in determining the realizable value of the deferred policy
acquisition costs.

(h)          Premium revenue and unearned premiums:

The Company earns premium revenue over the period covered by each individual insurance contract in proportion to
the insurance protection provided. The premiums are earned evenly over the contract period. Unearned premiums
represent the portion of premiums written related to the unexpired risk portion of the policy at year end.

The reinsurers’ share of unearned premiums is recognized as amounts recoverable using principles consistent with the
Company’s method for determining the unearned premium liability.

A significant portion of the Company’s revenue is subject to regulatory approvals. In the United States, property and
casualty insurance premium rates are subject to regulation by state government authorities. Regulation of premium
rates is based on claims and other costs of providing insurance coverage. Regulatory approvals can limit or reduce
premium rates that can be charged, or delay the implementation of changes in rates.

(i)          Unpaid claims:

The provision for unpaid claims includes adjustment expenses and represents an estimate for the full amount of all
expected costs, including investigation, and the projected final settlements of claims incurred on or before the balance
sheet date. The provision does not take into consideration the time value of money or make an explicit provision for
adverse deviation.

These estimates of future loss activity are necessarily subject to uncertainty and are selected from a wide range of
possible outcomes. All provisions are periodically reviewed and evaluated in the light of emerging claims experience
and changing circumstances. The resulting changes in estimates of the ultimate liability are recorded as incurred
claims in the accounting period in which they are determined.

 (j)           Reinsurance:

Net premiums earned and claims incurred are recorded net of amounts ceded to, and recoverable from, reinsurers.
Estimates of amounts recoverable from reinsurers on unpaid claims are recorded separately from estimated amounts
payable to policyholders. Unearned premiums are also reported before reduction for business ceded to reinsurers and
the reinsurers’ portion is classified with amounts due from reinsurers.

Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are estimated and recognized in a manner consistent with the Company’s method
for determining the related policy liability associated with the reinsured policy.

 (k)           Translation of foreign currencies:
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The consolidated financial statements have been presented in U.S. dollars as the Company’s principal investments and
cash flows are influenced primarily by the U.S. dollar. The operations of its subsidiaries in Bermuda and its head
office operations are self sustaining. Assets and liabilities of non U.S. dollar denominated subsidiaries are translated at
year end rates of exchange. Revenues and expenses of non U.S. dollar denominated subsidiaries are translated into
U.S. dollars at the average monthly exchange rate. The net unrealized gains or losses which result from translation are
deferred and included in shareholders’ equity under the caption “Accumulated other comprehensive income”. The
currency translation adjustment will change with fluctuations in the Canadian to U.S. dollar exchange rate.

The unrealized foreign currency translation gains and losses arising from available-for-sale financial assets are
included in other comprehensive income as unrealized gains/losses on available-for-sale securities until realized, at
which time they are reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income to the Consolidated Statement of
Operations.

All amounts expressed in the financial statements are in U.S. dollars unless otherwise noted.

 (l)          Income taxes:

The Company follows the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes, whereby future tax assets and
liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement
carrying amount of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit carry
forwards. Future tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted or substantively enacted tax rates expected to
apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The
effect on future tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the
date of enactment or substantive enactment.
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(m)          Stock-based compensation plan:

The Company has a stock-based compensation plan which is described in Note 12. The Company uses the fair-value
method of accounting for stock-based compensation awards granted to employees for options granted on or after
January 1, 2003. The Company determines the fair value of the stock options on their grant date using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model and records the fair value as a compensation expense over the period that the
stock options vest, with a corresponding increase to contributed surplus. When these stock options are exercised, the
amount of proceeds together with the amount recorded in contributed surplus is recorded in share capital.

No compensation expense is recognized for stock options granted prior to January 1, 2003. The consideration paid by
employees on exercise of these stock options is credited to share capital.

(n)         Capital assets:

Capital assets are reported in the consolidated financial statements at amortized cost. Amortization of capital assets
has been provided using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of such assets. The useful lives range
from 39 years for buildings, 5 to 39 years for leasehold improvements, 3 to 10 years for furniture and equipment, 1.5
to 5 years for computer hardware and 4 to 5 years for automobiles. See Note 10 for further disclosure of capital assets.

NOTE 3 FUTURE ACCOUNTING CHANGES - INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS:

The Canadian Accounting Standards Board requires all publicly accountable enterprises to adopt International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as the replacement for Canadian general accepted accounting principles
(“Canadian GAAP”) effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011.

The IFRS consist of the International Financial Reporting Standards and International Accounting Standards (“IAS”)
issued or adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) together with interpretations issued or
adopted by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”). IFRS is based on a conceptual
framework similar to Canadian GAAP; however that are differences in recognition, measurement and disclosure.

The Company will present its interim consolidated financial statements commencing with the quarter ending March
31, 2011 and its annual consolidated financial statements for the year ending December 31, 2011 in accordance with
IFRS, including comparative prior period results and balances restated to conform with IFRS. The interim and annual
consolidated financial statements will also include the January 1, 2010 opening statement of financial position restated
to conform to IFRS together with reconciliations and explanations of significant differences between Canadian GAAP
and IFRS.

NOTE 4 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND RELATED CONTINGENCIES:

Walshire Assurance Company (“Walshire”), Zephyr Insurance Company, Inc. (“Zephyr”),  Avalon Risk Management Inc.
(“Avalon”), American Service Insurance Company (“American Service”), American Country Insurance Company
(”American Country”), and Southern United Fire Insurance Company (“Southern”), previously disclosed as part of the
United States segment, and Jevco Insurance Company (“Jevco”), Kingsway General Insurance Company (“KGIC”) and
York Fire and Casualty Insurance Company (”York Fire”), previously disclosed as part of the Canadian segment, have
been classified as discontinued operations and the results of their operations are reported separately for all periods
presented.

Summarized financial information for discontinued operations is shown below.
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Years ended December 31
2010 2009 2008

Operations:
Revenue 141,027 742,000 1,217,454
Loss from discontinued operations before income taxes (2,433) (205,083) (285,300)
Income taxes 5,075 17,753 56,210
Loss from discontinued operations before gain on disposal, net of
taxes (7,508) (222,836) (341,510)
Disposals:
Gain on disposal before income taxes 29,416 1,860 41,411
Income taxes (recovery) (974) (325) 6,912
Gain on disposal, net of taxes 30,390 2,185 34,499
Total gain (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes 22,882 (220,651) (307,011)
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The assets and liabilities at December 31, 2009 for discontinued operations are shown below.

As at December 31
2009

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 71,304
Securities 1,083,642
Accrued Investment Income 7,780
Finance Premiums 51,340
Accounts Receivable and other assets 46,523
Due from reinsurers and other insurers 81,395
Deferred policy acquisition costs 39,512
Income taxes recoverable (5,034)
Future income taxes 3,404
Capital assets 53,268
Goodwill and intangible assets 1,326
Assets of discontinued operations $1,434,460
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 13,405
Unearned premiums 179,345
Unpaid claims 935,150
Liabilities of discontinued operations $1,127,900

American Country, American Service, and Southern:

During 2010, Southern was merged into American Service.

On December 31, 2010, the previously announced going-public transaction involving the Company’s subsidiaries
American Country and American Service by way of a reverse takeover of JJR VI Acquisition Corp. (“J6”) was
completed.  Upon completion of the transaction, J6 was renamed Atlas Financial Holdings Inc. (“Atlas”) and American
Country and American Service became wholly-owned subsidiaries of Atlas.  Total consideration to the Company as a
result of the transaction was approximately $57.0 million, consisting of cash of $7.9 million, preferred shares of Atlas
of $18.0 million, and common shares of Atlas of $31.1 million. As part of the transaction, a quota share agreement
was put in place for 90% of $10.0 million of adverse claims beyond $1.0 million, based on the carried reserves at
September 30, 2010. The maximum obligation to the Company is $9.0 million.

As a result of disposal, the Company recognized a loss of $0.9 million in 2010. The Company’s revenues from
discontinued operations relating to Atlas companies were $53.9 million, $133.9 million and $184.7 million for 2010,
2009 and 2008 respectively. In total, the Company’s loss from discontinued operations including the loss on disposal,
net of taxes were $19.1 million, $36.7 million and $43.9 million for 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

At the date of disposition, the securities, other non-cash assets and total liabilities of American Country, American
Service and Southern were $154.0 million, $85.1 million and $168.4 million respectively.

Walshire:

In May 2009 the Company placed all of Lincoln General Insurance Company (“Lincoln General”) into voluntary
run-off. After that date, Lincoln General continued to experience losses from unfavourable reserve development. The
result of Lincoln General’s operational losses greatly reduced the Company’s capital flexibility and created the potential
of the Company breaching the covenants in its trust indentures. These ongoing losses also contributed to the financial
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strength rating downgrades of all operating companies.
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On October 19, 2009, with the objective of protecting the interests of the Company’s stakeholders, Kingsway America
Inc. (“KAI”), an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, disposed of its entire interest in its wholly owned
subsidiary, Walshire. Walshire is the sole shareholder of Lincoln General. All of the stock of Walshire was donated to
charities, and with this disposition, Lincoln General ceased to be a member of the Kingsway group of companies.

The Pennsylvania Insurance Department (“DOI”) has challenged the disposition of Lincoln General.  On November 20,
2009, DOI filed a complaint in the Commonwealth Court of Pennsylvania (“Commonwealth Court”) against the
Company, KAI and Walshire, seeking a declaration that the disposition was unlawful and not valid.  The Company
disagrees with the DOI’s position and maintains that the donations of Walshire shares to the charities were lawful and
valid. The Company has demurred to each of the claims in the DOI’s complaint, thereby putting the legal sufficiency
of the DOI’s claims at issue. The analogous procedure, in Ontario, would be a motion to strike out a pleading for
failure to disclose a cause of action. The demurrers were argued to a panel of the Commonwealth Court on February 9,
2010.

On April 1, 2010, the Commonwealth Court sustained the demurrers, rejecting the arguments made by DOI, and
dismissing all of the DOI’s claims against the Company. On April 30, 2010 the DOI appealed the April 1, 2010
decision to Pennsylvania Supreme Court. The Company is opposing this appeal, which is scheduled for oral argument
on April 12, 2011.

On November 19, 2009 the day before the day the DOI’s complaint, the Company and KAI filed a complaint in the
Commonwealth Court against the DOI seeking a declaration that the statue upon which DOI principally relies did not
apply to the donations. In response to the Company’s complaint, the DOI filed an Answer and New Matter (in essence,
a Counterclaim), making the same arguments the DOI made in its November 20, 2009 compliant. Because the two
lawsuits raise the same issues, further proceedings in the Company’s and KAI’s lawsuit have been postponed, pending
the Pennsylvania Supreme Court’s decision in the DOI’s lawsuit.

If the ultimate decision of the courts is unfavorable for the Company, the control of Lincoln General may revert back
to the Company, which would result in Lincoln General’s financial results being included in the Company’s
consolidated financial statements. Thus, if the Pennsylvania Supreme Court deems the transaction to be invalid, it
could ultimately lead to the Company being in breach of its public debt covenants should Lincoln General go to
liquidation while still part of the Company. The Company’s public debt is material, and a breach in covenants could
lead to the debt being called and paid before maturity.

The Company’s commitment to the DOI to provide a $10.0 million cash payment to Lincoln General was paid in the
fourth quarter of 2009. The Company also has continuing obligations on reinsurance agreements with Lincoln General
which are at market terms and conditions. These ongoing obligations are not significant and do not provide the
Company with any control or significant influence over the operating activities or financial results of Lincoln General.

On June 29, 2009, Kingsway and Lincoln General entered into a consulting agreement with an external run-off
manager to provide certain consulting services relating to Lincoln General, including advice and assistance in the
development of a Run-off Plan. In addition to base compensation of $1.3 million annually, the agreement provided for
a minimum of $2.5 million to be paid to the run-off manager at the termination of the contract (provided the contract
is not terminated for cause), which, at the latest would have been March 1, 2014. As a result of the October 19, 2009
disposition of Walshire and Lincoln General, the Company accrued $2.5 million for the minimum and an additional
$3.4 million relating to the annual service contract for a total compensation of $5.9 million as at December 31, 2009.

As at December 31, 2010, the Company has settled all outstanding obligations with the run-off manager.

At September 30, 2009, the total investment in Walshire was written down to nil. After taking into account the
operating loss of Lincoln General from October 1 to 19, 2009, factoring in realized investment gains and the write

Edgar Filing: KINGSWAY FINANCIAL SERVICES INC - Form 40-F

75



down of net assets, a net gain on disposal of $1.4 million was recorded and included in discontinued operations in
2009. The results of Lincoln General from January 1 to October 19, 2009, the aggregate of the write-down of the
investment in Walshire and the $10.0 million cash payment have been included in the income (loss) from discontinued
operations, net of taxes line item in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December
31, 2009.

The Company’s revenues from discontinued operations relating to Walshire were nil, $217.5 million and $521.3
million in 2010, 2009 and 2008 respectively. In total, the Company’s loss from discontinued operations relating to
Walshire, net of taxes was $2.7 million, $156.9 million and $259.6 million in 2010, 2009 and 2008 respectively.

At the date of disposition, the securities, other non-cash assets and total liabilities of Walshire were $649.1 million,
$322.7 million and $889.3 million respectively.
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Zephyr:

On October 30, 2009, the Company completed its previously announced sale of Zephyr, a specialty property insurance
company founded specifically to protect Hawaii homeowners and residents from catastrophic loss due to hurricanes,
for $31.5 million plus a settlement of pre-closing earnings and other post closing adjustments of $5.5 million.

As a result of the disposal, the Company recognized an after tax gain of $0.9 million in 2010 and $2.9 million during
2009.  The Company’s revenues from discontinued operations relating to Zephyr were nil, $14.1 million and $14.6
million in 2010, 2009 and 2008 respectively.  In total, the Company’s income (loss) from discontinued operations
including the gain on disposal, net of taxes were $0.9 million, $11.6 million and $(0.2) million in 2010, 2009 and
2008 respectively.

Avalon:

On October 9, 2009, specific assets of Avalon Risk Management Inc. were sold for $1.5 million pursuant to an Asset
Purchase agreement with FMG Specialty Insurance Agency LLC. The agreement also included a transition services
agreement.

As a result of the disposal, the Company recognized an after tax gain of $1.0 million during 2009. As described in
Note 20(b), the Company wrote down the remaining associated intangible assets of $1.6 million. The Company’s
revenues from discontinued operations relating to Avalon were $2.3 million, $5.4 million and $15.1 million in 2010,
2009 and 2008 respectively. In total, the Company’s income (loss) from discontinued operations relating to Avalon, net
of taxes were $2.4 million, $(6.7) million and $(1.4) million in 2010, 2009 in 2008 respectively.

Canadian Operations:

As a result of the Company’s ongoing strategic initiatives, on October 1, 2009, Jevco assumed the assets and liabilities
of KGIC, a wholly owned Canadian subsidiary of the Company.

On November 20, 2009, the Company was advised by A. M. Best Company (“A. M. Best”) that the financial strength
rating for Jevco was downgraded from “B” to “B-“. On November 23, 2009, as a result of A.M. Best’s downgrade of
Jevco’s financial strength rating, the company undertook to dispose of its majority interest in Jevco.

On January 25, 2010, the Company entered into a definitive purchase agreement with The Westaim Corporation
(“Westaim”) to sell all of the issued and outstanding shares of Jevco to Westaim. On March 29, 2010, after receipt of all
required regulatory approvals, the sale was completed for a purchase price of C$263.3 million. This was based on
94.5% of the difference between the book value of Jevco as at December 31, 2009 and a dividend of C$10.8 million,
an investment portfolio adjustment relating to the change in market value at the closing date and is subject to certain
future contingent adjustments. The contingent adjustments include up to C$20.0 million decrease in the purchase price
relating to specific future adverse claims development to be determined at the end of 2012.  C$20.0 million is being
held in escrow until this contingent adjustment is finalized. The Company also had the option to sell a property that
was included in the purchase agreement. The purchase price would decrease if the sale price of the property was less
than its carrying value, up to a maximum of approximately C$6.3 million. The purchase price would increase by
94.5% of every dollar that the sale price exceeded the carrying value. On June 15, 2010 the Company sold the
property for less than its carrying value and as a result, the purchase price was decreased by C$2.2 million.

As a result of the disposal of Jevco, the Company realized an after tax gain of $30.3 million for 2010. Included in this
gain is a $34.1 million foreign currency exchange gain previously recorded in accumulated other comprehensive
income and now recognized as a result of the disposal of Jevco in 2010.
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In 2009, given that the purchase price of Jevco was less than its net book value, it was determined that the goodwill
relating to the Canadian operating segment was fully impaired. As a result, the Company recorded in operating
income non-cash goodwill impairment charge relating to the Canadian operations of $6.9 million in the fourth quarter
of 2009.

The Company’s revenues from discontinued operations relating to the Canadian Operations were $84.9 million, $371.3
million and $401.3 million in 2010, 2009 and 2008 respectively. In total, the Company’s income (loss) from
discontinued operations relating to Canadian Operations including the gain on disposal, net of taxes were $41.4
million, $(28.1) million and $(25.4) million in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

At the date of disposition, the securities, other non-cash assets and total liabilities of Jevco were $909.4 million,
$248.7 million and $913.6 million respectively.

Due to covenant restrictions associated with the sale of restricted subsidiaries under the KAI, 7.50% senior notes and
the Kingsway 2007 General Partnership, 6.00% senior unsecured debentures, the Company was required to lower its
applicable ratios to a level where the restrictions would no longer apply. The Company entered into a series of
contingent trades which were completed on March 31, 2010, whereby the Company repurchased $84.8 million par
value of the senior unsecured debentures. The repurchase resulted in a gain of $15.1 million, which was recorded in
the first quarter of 2010.

Kingsway Financial Services Inc. 2010 Annual Report

48

Edgar Filing: KINGSWAY FINANCIAL SERVICES INC - Form 40-F

78



York Fire:

On September 30, 2008, the Company sold York Fire, a primarily standard insurance writer, to La Capitale General
Insurance Inc. for C$95 million in cash. The final settlement was completed in the first quarter of 2009 and the
adjustments were reflected accordingly. The Company’s revenues from discontinued operations relating to York Fire
were nil, $(0.2) million and $80.4 million in 2010, 2009 and 2008 respectively. In total, the Company’s income (loss)
from discontinued operations relating to York Fire, net of taxes were nil, $(3.8) million and $23.4 million in 2010,
2009 and 2008, respectively.

NOTE 5 SECURITIES:

The amortized cost and fair values of investments are summarized below:

December 31,2010
Gross Gross

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value

T e r m
deposits $ 18,738 $ 1 $ - $ 18,739
Bonds:
Canadian - Government 2,882 17 21 2,878
U.S.  - Government 100,728 1,904 647 101,985

- Corporate 20,054 508 181 20,381
- Commercial Mortgage backed 993 27 - 1,020
- Other asset backed 1,553 46 - 1,599

Sub-total $ 144,948 $ 2,503 $ 849 $ 146,602
 P r e f e r r e d
shares - U.S. 92 - 10 82

$ 145,040 $ 2,503 $ 859 $ 146,684

December 31, 2009
Gross Gross

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value

T e r m
deposits $ 9,999 $ - $ - $ 9,999
Bonds:
Canadian - Government 208 7 - 215
U.S.  - Government 143,910 2,791 234 146,467

- Corporate 104,937 2,584 590 106,931
- Commercial  Mortgage
backed 5,554 - 73 5,481
- Other asset backed 3,339 92 36 3,395

Sub-total $ 267,947 $ 5,474 $ 933 $272,488
 Preferred
shares - Canadian 9,014 - 893 8,121
 Preferred
shares - U.S. 92 - 15 77

$ 277,053 $ 5,474 $ 1,841 $280,686
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The following tables highlight the aggregate unrealized loss position, by security type, of holdings in an unrealized
loss position as at December 31, 2010 and 2009. The tables segregate the holdings based on the period of time the
securities have been continuously held in an unrealized loss position.

December 31,2010
        0 - 12 Months                Over 12 Months

Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
Value Loss Value Loss

Bonds:
Canadian - Government $ - - $ 866 $ (21)
U.S.  - Government 35,398 $ (647) - -

- Corporate 3,491 (181) - -
Sub-total $ 38,889 $ (828) $ 866 $ (21)
P r e f e r r e d
shares - U.S. - - 82 (10)

$ 38,889 $ (828) $ 948 $ (31)

December 31, 2009
        0 - 12 Months                  Over 12 Months 

Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
Value Loss Value Loss

T e r m
deposits $ 7,906 $ - $ - $ -
Bonds:
U.S. - Government 76,776 (234) - -

- Corporate 47,144 (477) 895 (113)
- Commercial mortgage backed 5,481 (73) - -
- Other asset backed 597 (3) 481 (33)

Sub-total $ 137,904 $ (787) $ (1,376) $ (146)
P r e f e r r e d
shares - Canadian 8,121 (893) - -

- U.S. - - 77 (15)
$ 146,025 $ (1,680) $ 1,453 $ (161)

Fair values of term deposits, bonds and preferred shares are considered to approximate quoted market values based on
the latest bid prices in active markets. Fair values of securities for which no active market exists are derived from
quoted market prices of similar securities or other third party evidence.

Management performs a quarterly analysis of the Company’s investment holdings to determine if declines in market
value are other than temporary. The analysis includes some or all of the following procedures as deemed appropriate
by management:
•identifying all security holdings in unrealized loss positions that have existed for at least six months or other
circumstances that management believes may impact the recoverability of the security;
•obtaining a valuation analysis from third party investment managers regarding the intrinsic value of these holdings
based on their knowledge, experience and other market based valuation techniques;
• reviewing the trading range of certain securities over the preceding calendar period;
•assessing if declines in market value are other than temporary for debt security holdings based on their investment
grade credit ratings from third party security rating agencies;
•
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assessing if declines in market value are other than temporary for any debt security holding with non-investment
grade credit rating based on the continuity of its debt service record;
• determining the necessary provision for declines in market value that are considered other than temporary based

on the analyses performed; and
•assessing the Company’s ability and intent to hold these securities at least until the investment impairment is
recovered.

Kingsway Financial Services Inc. 2010 Annual Report

50

Edgar Filing: KINGSWAY FINANCIAL SERVICES INC - Form 40-F

82



The risks and uncertainties inherent in the assessment methodology utilized to determine declines in market value that
are other than temporary include, but may not be limited to, the following:
• the opinion of professional investment managers could be incorrect;
• the past trading patterns of individual securities may not reflect future valuation trends;
•the credit ratings assigned by independent credit rating agencies may be incorrect due to unforeseen or unknown facts
related to a Company’s financial situation; and
•the debt service pattern of non-investment grade securities may not reflect future debt service capabilities and may not
reflect the Company’s unknown underlying financial problems.

 As a result of the above analysis performed by management to determine declines in market value that are other than
temporary, write-downs for other than temporary impairments relating to continuing operations were nil (2009 - $0.7
million) during the year. These impairment charges included nil (2009 - nil) from the write down of common stocks
and nil (2009 - $0.7) from the write-down of debt securities.

Management has reviewed currently available information regarding other securities whose estimated fair values are
less than their carrying amounts and believes that these unrealized losses are not other than temporary and are
primarily due to temporary market and sector related factors rather than to issuer-specific factors. Debt securities
whose carrying amounts exceed fair value can be held until maturity when management expects to receive the
principal amount.

Net investment income for the years ended December 31 is comprised as follows:

2010 2009 2008
Investment income:
Interest $ 9,496 $ 15,842 $ 31,552
Dividends 129 475 736
Premium financing 5 (683) (513)
Other 7,285 (14,822) 152
Gross investment income 16,915 812 31,927
Investment expenses 562 668 433
Net investment income $ 16,353 $ 144 $ 31,494

The decrease in interest income in 2010 compared to 2009 is primarily due to lower yields and from the duration and
risk profile of the portfolio having been reduced during the year. Also contributing to the reduction in interest income
is a reduction in the size of the securities portfolio as a result of reduced volumes of business in the Company’s
continuing operations, the acceleration of claim payments and debt and other corporate initiatives. The decrease in
investment income in 2009 compared to 2008 is primarily due to lower short term yields and a reduction in the size of
the portfolio.

The reduction in dividend income in 2010 compared to 2009 is primarily a result of the decision by the Company to
divest of all of the common equities in the securities portfolio. The dividend income in 2009 represents the dividend
income earned on the common equity portfolio prior to the divestitures described above, as well as dividend income
earned on one remaining preferred stock investment.

Other investment income in 2010 includes a net gain of approximately $2.2 million, as compared to a net foreign
exchange loss of $12.9 million in 2009, due to the impact of the strengthening of the Canadian dollar on Canadian
dollar assets in the Canadian head office and net Canadian dollar liabilities in the U.S. operations.

The reduction in investment expenses is primarily due to lower investment management fees paid as a result of a
smaller, exclusively fixed income securities portfolio.
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Net realized investment gains (losses) for the years ended December 31 are comprised as follows:

2010 2009 2008
Fixed income $ 9,243 $ 12,208 $ 1,101
Equities - (563) 364
Other than temporary impairment - (689) (8,707)
Net realized gains (losses) $ 9,243 $ 10,956 $ (7,242)

The Company incurred net realized gains in 2010 of $9.2 million compared to $11.0 million in 2009. The net gain in
2010 is primarily due to gains realized from the liquidation of fixed income securities in the Company’s insurance
subsidiaries in the third and fourth quarter. There were no impairments recorded during 2010 for other than
temporarily impaired securities.  The net gain in 2009 is due to gains realized from the liquidation of fixed income
securities in the Company’s captive reinsurance company in Barbados to facilitate the related party reinsurance
commutation transactions, partially offset by realized losses on the disposal of the Company’s common equity
portfolio and impairments for other than temporarily impaired securities.
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NOTE 6 INVESTMENT IN INVESTEE:

The Company’s investment in the preferred and common stock of Atlas is accounted for under the equity method of
accounting and reported as Investment in Investee in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. The fair value and
approximate voting and equity percentages, based on the most recent publicly available data, for the Company’s
Investment in Investee at December 2010 was:

2010
Carrying value $ 49,079
Fair value 49,079
Approximate voting percentage 30 %
Approximate equity percentage 75 %

The carrying value of the Company’s investment in investee approximates fair value due to the investee not being
actively traded at December 31, 2010. Equity in Net Income (Loss) of Investee was nil for the year ended 2010.

NOTE 7 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS:

(a)          Financial risk management objectives and policies:

By virtue of the nature of the Company’s business activities, financial instruments make up the majority of the
consolidated balance sheet. The risks which arise from transacting financial instruments include credit risk, market
risk, liquidity risk and cash flow risk. These risks may be caused by factors specific to an individual instrument or
factors affecting all instruments traded in the market. The Company has a risk management framework in place to
monitor, evaluate and manage the risks assumed in conducting its business. The Company manages these risks using
risk management policies and practices.

Further details are provided below on the risk management objectives and policies as they relate to the specific
financial risks:

Credit risk:

The Company is exposed to credit risk principally through its fixed income securities and balances receivable from
policyholders and reinsurers. The Company monitors concentration and credit quality risk through policies to limit
and monitor its exposure to individual issuers or related groups (with the exception of U.S. and Canadian government
bonds) as well as through ongoing review of the credit ratings of issuers held in the securities portfolio. The
Company’s credit exposure to any one individual policyholder is not material. The Company’s policies, however, are
distributed by agents, program managers or brokers who manage cash collection on its behalf. The Company has
policies to evaluate the financial condition of its reinsurers and monitors concentrations of credit risk arising from
similar geographic regions, activities, or economic characteristics of the reinsurers to minimize its exposure to
significant losses from reinsurer insolvency.

The table below summarizes the credit exposure of the Company from its investments in fixed income securities and
term deposits by rating as assigned by Standard & Poor’s (“S&P”) or Moody’s Investor Services, using the higher of these
ratings for any security where there is a split rating:

2010 2009
AAA/Aaa $ 103,675 70.7 % $ 169,689 62.3%
AA/Aa 27,401 18.7 38,292 14.0
A/A 13,145 9.0 58,311 21.4
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BBB/Baa 641 0.4 5,137 1.9
BB/Ba - - - -
B/B - - -     -
CCC/Caa or lower, or not
rated 1,740 1.2 1,059 0.4
Total $ 146,602 100.0 % $ 272,488 100.0%
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Market risk:

The market risk exposure of the Company consists mainly of changes in interest rates and to a smaller extent, to
foreign currency exchange rates. Market risk is subject to risk management. The Investment Committee of the Board
and senior management of the Company monitor the Company’s market risk exposures and activities that give rise to
these exposures.

Interest rate risk:

The Company is exposed to changes in the value of its fixed income securities to the extent that market interest rates
change. The Company actively manages its interest rate exposure with the objective of enhancing net interest income
within established risk tolerances and Board approved investment policies. Except one preferred stock investment, the
securities portfolio is comprised of only fixed income securities that are usually held to maturity, due to which
periodic changes in interest rate levels generally impact the financial results to the extent that reinvestment yields are
different than the original yields on maturing securities. Also, during periods of rising interest rates, the market value
of the existing fixed income securities will generally decrease and realized gains on fixed income securities will likely
be reduced. The reverse is true during periods of declining interest rates.

It is estimated that an immediate hypothetical 100 basis point increase in interest rates would decrease the market
value of the fixed income securities by $3.5 million, representing 2.4% of the $146.7 million fair value fixed income
securities portfolio. Since the continuing operations securities portfolio is classified as available-for-sale, the impact of
this hypothetical increase in interest rates would affect other comprehensive income and have no affect on net income
until the security is sold or written down as a result of other than temporary impairment.

Computation of the prospective effect of hypothetical interest rate changes are based on numerous assumptions,
including maintenance of the existing levels and composition of fixed income security assets at the indicated date and
should not be relied on as indicative of future results. The analysis is done on the following assumptions:

a)           the securities in the Company’s portfolio are not impaired;
b)           credit and liquidity risks have not been considered;
c)           interest rates and equity prices move independently; and
d)           shifts in the yield curve are parallel.

Available-for-sale securities in an unrealized loss position as reflected in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income
may at some point in the future be realized through a sale or impairment.

Equity price risk:

In early 2009, the Company elected to significantly reduce this equity risk by liquidating virtually all of the common
equity portfolio. As a result, the Company’s exposure to equity price risk is considered to be low.

Foreign currency risk:

The Company is exposed to changes in the U.S. to Canadian dollar foreign currency exchange rate, primarily through
Canadian dollar indebtedness. It does not hedge any of this foreign currency exposure. Its U.S. operations generally
hold their investments in U.S. dollar denominated securities. A one cent appreciation in the value of the Canadian
dollar relative to the U.S. dollar decreases net income before income taxes by approximately $0.2 million.

Liquidity and cash flow risk:
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Liquidity risk is the risk of having insufficient cash resources to meet current financial obligations without raising
funds at unfavorable rates or selling assets on a forced basis. Liquidity risk arises from general business activities and
in the course of managing the assets and liabilities. There is the risk of loss to the extent that the sale of a security
prior to its maturity is required to provide liquidity to satisfy policyholder and other cash outflows. Cash flow risk
arises from risk that future inflation of policyholder cash flow exceeds returns on long-dated investment securities.
The purpose of liquidity and cash flow management is to ensure that there is sufficient cash to meet all financial
commitments and obligations as they fall due. The liquidity and cash flow requirements of the Company’s business
have been met primarily by funds generated from operations, asset maturities and income and other returns received
on securities as well as the sale of certain operations. Cash provided from these sources is used primarily for claims
and claim adjustment expense payments and operating expenses. The timing and amount of catastrophe claims are
inherently unpredictable and may create increased liquidity requirements. To meet these cash requirements, the
Company has policies to limit and monitor its exposure to individual issuers or related groups and to ensure that assets
and liabilities are broadly matched in terms of their duration and currency. The Company believes that it has the
flexibility to obtain, from internal sources, the funds needed to fulfill the cash requirements during the current
financial year and also to satisfy regulatory capital requirements.
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The Company holds $158.6 million in cash and high grade short-term assets, representing approximately 55% of
invested assets. The majority of the other fixed income securities are also liquid.

The following table summarizes carrying amounts of financial instruments from continuing operations by contractual
maturity or expected cash flow dates. The Company may seek to repurchase additional indebtedness in the future,
depending upon market conditions and capital requirements within the group. For this reason, as well as the fact that
certain securities and debentures have the right to call or prepay obligations, the actual settlement dates may differ
from contractual maturity. The table below excludes operating leases (refer to Note 20 (g)).

 As  a t  December  31 ,
2010

One year
or less

One to
five years

Five to ten
years
years

More than
ten

years
No Specific

date Total
Assets:
C a s h  a n d  c a s h
equivalents         $ 140,567 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 140,567
Securities 39,752 72,694 29,101 5,055 82 146,684
Investment in investee - - - - 49,079 49,079
A c c r u e d  i n v e s t m e n t
income 1,957 - - - - 1,957
Finance premiums 13,572 - - - - 13,572
Accounts receivable and
other assets 48,938 - - - - 48,938
Cash held in escrow 2,150 20,109 - - - 22,259
Due from reinsurers and
other insurers 4,809 2,638 198 6 - 7,651
Total: 251,745 95,440 29,298 5,061 49,161 430,707

Liabilities:
Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities 42,385 - - - - 42,385
Unpaid claims 109,816 60,241 4,495 156 - 174,708
S e n i o r  u n s e c u r e d
debentures - 37,469 - - - 37,469
LROC preferred units - 15,884 - - 15,884
S u b o r d i n a t e d
indebtedness - - - 87,450 - 87,450
Total: 152,201 113,594 4,495 87,606 - 357,896

The coupon rates for the fixed term securities range from 0.8% to 9.5% at December 31, 2010. The average effective
yield (using amortized cost and the contractual interest rates, adjusted for any amortization of premiums and
discounts) is 2.0%.

(b)        Fair value:

Fair value amounts represent estimates of the consideration that would currently be agreed upon between
knowledgeable, willing parties who are under no compulsion to act.

Fair value is best evidenced by quoted bid or ask price, as appropriate, in an active market. Where bid or ask prices are
not available, such as in an illiquid or inactive market, the closing price of the most recent transaction of that
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instrument subject to appropriate adjustments as required is used. Where quoted market prices are not available, the
quoted prices of similar financial instruments or valuation models with observable market based inputs are used to
estimate the fair value. These valuation models may use multiple observable market inputs, including observable
interest rates, foreign exchange rates, index levels, credit spreads, equity prices, counterparty credit quality,
corresponding market volatility levels and option volatilities. Minimal management judgment is required for fair
values calculated using quoted market prices or observable market inputs for models. The calculation of estimated fair
value is based on market conditions at a specific point in time and may not be reflective of future fair values. For the
Company’s financial instruments carried at cost or amortized cost, the book value is not adjusted to reflect increases or
decreases in fair value due to market fluctuations, including those due to interest rate changes as it is the company’s
intention to hold them until there is a recovery of fair value, which may be to maturity.

The Company records the AFS securities held in its securities portfolio at their fair value. The Company primarily
uses the services of external securities pricing vendors to obtain these values. The securities are valued using quoted
market prices or prices established using observable market inputs. In the current volatile market conditions, these
quoted market prices or observable market inputs can change rapidly causing a significant impact on fair value and
financial results recorded.
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Refer to Note 5 with respect to fair value disclosure on securities.

The Company employs a fair value hierarchy to categorize the inputs it uses in valuation techniques to measure the
fair value. The extent of use of quoted market prices (Level 1), internal models using observable market information
(Level 2) and internal models without observable market information (Level 3) in the valuation of securities as at
December 31, 2010 and 2009 was as follows:

As at December 31, 2010

Description Available for sale securities
Equity Fixed income

Fair value $82 $146,602
Based on:
Quoted market prices (level 1) 100.0% -
Valuation techniques -Significant market observable
Inputs (level 2)

- 100.0%

Valuation techniques - Significant unobservable market
inputs (level 3)

- -

As at December 31, 2009

Description Available for sale securities
Equity Fixed income

Fair value $8,198 $272,488
Based on:
Quoted market prices (level 1) 100.0% -
Valuation techniques -Significant market observable
Inputs (level 2)

- 100.0%

Valuation techniques - Significant unobservable market
inputs (level 3)

- -

The carrying value of the Company’s investment in investee approximates fair value due to the investee not being
actively traded at December 31, 2010.

The table below summarizes the fair valuation of debt liabilities, though they are held at amortized cost on the
consolidated balance sheets:

 As at December 31, 2010
Total Fair

Value

Total
Carrying

Value
 Favourable/

(Unfavourable)
Senior unsecured debentures $ 37,177 $ 37,469 $ 292
LROC preferred units 13,076 15,884 2,808
Subordinated indebtedness $ 40,480  $ 87,450 $ 46,970

 As at December 31, 2009
Total Fair

Value

Total
Carrying

Value
 Favourable/

(Unfavourable)
Loans payable $ 24,187 $ 66,222 $ 42,035
Senior unsecured debentures 103,512 176,764 73,252
Subordinated indebtedness $ 22,788  $ 87,415 $ 64,627
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The fair value of debt is currently considerably below the carrying value reflecting the credit risk to holders of the
Company’s securities.

The carrying value of unpaid claims does not take into consideration the time value of money or make an explicit
provision for adverse deviation. In order to estimate the fair value of the unpaid claims, the Company uses an actuarial
approach recognizing the time value of money which incorporates assumptions concerning projected cash flows and
appropriate provisions for adverse deviation. As at December 31, 2010, the estimated fair value of unpaid claims was
$180.5 million ($172.6 million net of reinsurers’ share of unpaid claims). The estimated fair value is approximately
$5.8 million above the undiscounted carrying value as a result of the inclusion of a risk margin provision totaling $9.9
million in addition to the present value of unpaid claims. There is no active market for policy liabilities; hence market
value is not determinable. 
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The carrying value of all other financial instruments approximates their fair value due to the short term to maturity of
those financial instruments.

NOTE 8 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT:

Objectives, policies and procedures:

The Company has three capital management objectives: to meet regulatory requirements, to develop strong financial
strength ratings and to maximize returns to shareholders. It manages capital in accordance with policies established by
the Board. These policies relate to capital strength, capital mix, dividends and return on capital, and the
unconsolidated capital adequacy of all regulated entities. The Company has a capital management process in place to
measure, deploy and monitor its available capital and assess its adequacy on a continuous basis. Senior executive
management develops the capital strategy and oversees the capital management processes of the Company. Capital is
managed using both regulatory capital measures and internal metrics.  The Company’s capital is primarily derived
from common shareholders’ equity, retained earnings (deficit) and accumulated other comprehensive income.

As a holding company, the Company derives cash from its subsidiaries generally in the form of dividends and
management fees to meet its obligations, which primarily consist of dividend and interest payments. The Company’s
insurance subsidiaries fund their obligations primarily through the premium and investment income and maturities in
the securities portfolio. The operating insurance subsidiaries require regulatory approval for the return of capital and,
in certain circumstances, prior to the payment of dividends. In the event that dividends and management fees available
to the holding company are inadequate to service its obligations, the Company would need to raise capital, sell assets
or restructure its debt obligations.

The Company’s dividend was suspended in the second quarter of 2009 with no dividend payments made since that
date.

Throughout 2010, the Company has continued to experience net losses. The reduction in shareholders’ equity as a
result of these ongoing losses greatly reduced the Company’s capital flexibility by triggering negative covenants in its
trust indentures and limiting the dividend capacity of the operating subsidiaries. A description of the negative
covenants is disclosed below. For further details on the capital adequacy of the operating subsidiaries, see the
‘Regulatory capital requirements and ratios’ section of this note to the financial statements.

Certain debentures issued by the Company contain negative covenants in their trust indentures, placing limitations and
restrictions over certain actions without the prior written consent of the indenture trustees. Included in the negative
covenants is the limitation on the incurrence of additional debt in the event that the total debt to total capital ratio or
the senior debt to total capital ratio exceed 50% and 35%, respectively. The total debt is calculated on a pro-forma
basis taking into account the issuance of additional debt. The debentures also include covenants limiting the issuance
and sale of voting stock of restricted subsidiaries, the payment of dividends or any other payment in respect of capital
stock of the Company, or the retirement of debt subordinate to the debentures covered by the trust indentures if, after
giving effect to such payments as described in the trust indentures, the total debt to total capital ratio exceeds 50%. In
this calculation, total debt and senior debt are determined on a current basis and total capital is determined based on
the most recent publicly filed financial statements.

Based on the December 31, 2010 financial statements the Company’s total debt to capital and senior debt to capital
ratios were 60.2% and 23.2% respectively. As a result, the limitations and restrictions described above are applicable
at that date. When reviewing applicable activities, compliance is based on a calculation of the last reported equity
balance and the debt level at the point of time of the transaction.
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Early in 2010, the Company announced that it had entered into a definitive agreement for the sale of Jevco. On March
29, 2010, the sale of Jevco was completed. Although Jevco is a restricted subsidiary, prohibiting the sale of its voting
stock under the terms of the restrictive covenants described above, a portion of the proceeds from this transaction was
used to repay outstanding indebtedness sufficient to lower the ratios applicable to the restrictive covenants to a level
where the restrictions did not apply following the application of the proceeds in this manner. This transaction
improved the Company’s capital flexibility and reduced the debt service costs going forward.

On December 31, 2010, the previously announced going-public transaction involving the Company’s subsidiaries
American Country and American Service by way of a reverse takeover of J6 was completed. As a result of significant
debt buybacks in the first three quarters of 2010, the Company reduced its debt ratios sufficiently to allow the
Company to complete this transaction under the restrictive covenants of its senior debt.
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Debt and Equity Buyback Initiative:

In May 2009, the Board of Directors delegated to the Capital Committee of the Board of Directors the authority to
repurchase debt of the Company.

On June 26, 2009, KFS Capital, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, commenced a take-over bid
(the “KLROC Offer”) to acquire up to 1,000,000 preferred, retractable, redeemable, cumulative units of Kingsway
Linked Return of Capital Trust (“KLROC”) at a price per unit of C$12.00 in cash. The KLROC Offer expired on
Tuesday, August 4, 2009 and 694,015 units were tendered. This tender was paid for using available cash. The
Company acquired ownership of 121,000 units of the KLROC outside of the tender offer at an average price of
C$10.45 per unit through a series of purchases on the Toronto Stock Exchange. On June 9, 2010 KFS Capital
commenced the take-over bid (“the Offer”) to acquire up to 750,000 KLROC units at a price per unit of C$17.50 in
cash. On July 9, 2010, KFS Capital increased the size and price of its previously announced Offer to 1,500,000 units
at a price per unit of C$20.00 in cash.  The Offer expired on Friday, July 23, 2010 and 1,525,150 units were tendered,
of which 1,500,000 were purchased on a pro-rata basis. The tender was paid for using available cash. As a result of
these acquisitions, the Company beneficially owns and controls 2,333,715 units, representing 74.8% of the issued and
outstanding units. The Company has determined that the consolidated financial statements of the KLROC Trust,
which financial statements include the accounts of other entities, should be consolidated with the financial statements
of the Company beginning July 23, 2010 in accordance with Canadian GAAP (refer to Note 19). As a result of
consolidating the KLROC Trust, the Company recorded a gain of $17.8 million related to the KLROC Units held by
KFS Capital during 2010.

Kingsway 2007 General Partnership, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Kingsway announced on July 14
2009,  the commencement of a modified “Dutch Auction” tender offer (the “2012 Offer”) for a portion of its outstanding
Unsecured 6% Debentures due July 11, 2012 (the “2012 Debentures”). The 2012 Offer provided for a cash purchase of
2012 Debentures at a price per C$1,000 principal amount of debentures of not less than C$540 and not greater than
C$620, for a maximum aggregate purchase price to the offeror not to exceed C$31 million (excluding accrued and
unpaid interest). The 2012 Offer expired Friday, August 14, 2009 with valid tenders (that were not withdrawn) of
C$9,174,000 in aggregate principal amount of Debentures. Kingsway 2007 General Partnership accepted for purchase
all such tendered Debentures at the highest price specified of C$620 per C$1,000 principal amount. This tender was
paid for using available cash.

In November 2009, the Company repaid in full a $6.9 million mortgage on a property.

On March 29, 2010 , as part of the closing of the Jevco sale transaction the Company repurchased $36.9 million
(C$37.5 million) of par value of the 2012 Debentures realizing a gain of $5.9 million and $47.9 million of par value of
the 7.5% senior notes due 2014 “2014 Debentures” realizing a gain of $9.2 million. In addition to debt buybacks on
Jevco sale transaction the Company during 2010 also repurchased an aggregate principle amount of $32.9 million
(C$33.9 million) of 2012 Debentures and an aggregate principle of $25.6 million of 2014 for a total purchase price of
approximately $31.1 million (C$32.0 million) and $23.4 million, respectively. The repurchases resulted in a gain of
$1.8 million on the unsecured 6% debentures due 2012 and $2.1 million on the 7.5% senior notes due 2014.

The Company continues to explore opportunities to buy back debt in the market in order to reduce the debt to capital
ratios below the level at which these operating restrictions apply, while ensuring that the debt covenants are fully
complied with.  The Company’s public debt is material and a breach in covenants could lead to the liquidation of the
Company if principal and interest payments are called before maturity.

The Company announced on July 29, 2009 an amendment to its normal course issuer bid for common shares had been
approved by the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”). The normal course issuer bid was originally announced by
Kingsway on November 28, 2008. Purchases under the normal course issuer bid from December 2, 2008 to December
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1, 2009 were limited to 2,753,426 common shares (or approximately 5% of the aggregate number of common shares
outstanding on November 15, 2008). Purchases under the normal course issuer bid, as amended, were limited to
5,386,545 common shares, or 10% of the public float on November 28, 2008. The normal course issuer bid, as
amended, terminated on December 1, 2009. Under this normal course issuer bid, 3,472,700 shares were repurchased at
an average price of C$3.77.

As at December 31, 2010, the Company had 52,095,828 common shares outstanding compared with 51,595,828
common shares outstanding at December 31, 2009.

Regulatory capital requirements and ratios:

In the United States, a risk based capital (“RBC”) formula is used by the National Association of Insurance
Commissioners (“NAIC”) to identify property and casualty insurance companies that may not be adequately capitalized.
The NAIC requires that capital and surplus not fall below 200% of the authorized control level. As at December 31,
2010, all U.S. subsidiaries are above the required RBC levels, with the exception of Universal Casualty Company
(“UCC”). The RBC ratios, excluding UCC, based on the subsidiary unaudited statutory financial statements range
between 238% and 10,509%, and have estimated aggregate capital of approximately $38.8 million in excess of the
200% level.

As at December 31, 2010, UCC’s RBC was 160% which is at the company action level.  UCC has commenced
preparation of a comprehensive plan which it intends to file with the Illinois Department of Insurance in April 2011.
The comprehensive plan intends to outline UCC’s future plans, including the current and projected RBC level and is
subject to approval by the Illinois Department of Insurance. Achievement of the comprehensive plan depends on the
future events and circumstances, the outcome of which cannot be assured. Nevertheless, the Company expects that
UCC will take all necessary steps to comply with the provisions of the plan.
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In May 2009, the Company placed all of Lincoln General into voluntary run-off. After that date, Lincoln General
continued to experience losses from unfavourable reserve development. The result of Lincoln General’s operational
losses greatly reduced the Company’s capital flexibility and created the potential of the Company breaching the
covenants in its trust indentures. These ongoing losses also contributed to the financial strength rating downgrades of
all operating companies.

On October 19, 2009, with the objective of protecting the interests of the Company’s stakeholders, KAI, an indirect
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, disposed of its entire interest in its wholly owned subsidiary, Walshire.
Walshire was the sole shareholder of Lincoln General. All of the stock of Walshire was donated to charities, and with
this disposition Lincoln General ceased being a member of the Kingsway group of companies. The method of disposal
of Walshire is lawful and valid but is not a standard method of disposing of an insurance company. The choice of this
nonstandard method of disposition has led to litigation, as discussed below; has caused some regulatory scrutiny; and
has the potential to adversely affect the reputation of the Company.

The Pennsylvania Insurance Department (“DOI”) has challenged the disposition of Walshire and Lincoln General. On
November 20, 2009, DOI filed a complaint in the Commonwealth Court of Pennsylvania (“Commonwealth Court”)
against the Company, KAI and Walshire, seeking a declaration that the disposition was unlawful and not valid. The
Company disagrees with the DOI’s position and maintains that the donations of Walshire shares to the charities were
lawful and valid. The Company therefore demurred to each of the claims in the DOI’s complaint, thereby putting the
legal sufficiency of the DOI’s claims at issue. The demurrers were argued to a panel of the Commonwealth Court on
February 9, 2010.

On April 1, 2010, the Commonwealth Court sustained the demurrers, rejecting the arguments made by DOI, and
dismissing all of the DOI’s claims against the Company. On April 30, 2010, the DOI appealed the April 1, 2010
decision to the Pennsylvania Supreme Court. The Company is opposing this appeal.

On November 19, 2009, the day before the DOI’s complaint, the Company and KAI filed a complaint in the
Commonwealth Court against the DOI seeking a declaration that the statute upon which the DOI principally relies did
not apply to the donations. In response to the Company’s complaint, the DOI filed an Answer and New Matter (in
essence, a Counterclaim), making the same arguments the DOI made in its November 20, 2009 complaint. Because
the two lawsuits raise the same issues, further proceedings in the Company’s and KAI’s lawsuit have been postponed,
pending the Pennsylvania Supreme Court’s decision in the DOI’s lawsuit.

If the ultimate decision of the courts is unfavorable for the Company, the control of Lincoln General may revert back
to the Company, which would result in Lincoln General’s financial results being included in the Company’s
consolidated financial statements. Thus, if the Pennsylvania Supreme Court deems the transaction to be invalid, it
could ultimately lead to the Company being in breach of its public debt covenants should Lincoln General go into
liquidation while still part of the Company. The Company’s public debt is material, and a breach in covenants could
lead to the debt being called and paid before maturity.

The Company’s commitment to the DOI to provide a $10.0 million cash payment to Lincoln General was met in 2009.
The Company also has continuing obligations on reinsurance agreements with Lincoln General which are at market
terms and conditions. These ongoing obligations are not significant and do not provide the Company with any control
or significant influence over the operating activities or financial results of Lincoln General.

As part of the ongoing transformation program, during the second quarter of 2009 the Company began terminating all
related party reinsurance treaties. As at September 30, 2009, all treaties between Kingsway Reinsurance Corporation
and the U.S. operating companies were commuted. The treaties between the Canadian operating companies and
Kingsway Reinsurance (Bermuda) Limited were commuted effective October 1, 2009. These initiatives have resulted
in increased capital in our operating companies and it has released excess capital from the captive reinsurers to be
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used for corporate purposes.

Following the commutation of all intercompany reinsurance treaties between Kingsway Reinsurance Corporation and
the Company’s U.S. operating subsidiaries, a significant portion of the remaining capital at Kingsway Reinsurance
Corporation was repatriated. A portion of this capital was re-deployed directly into the U.S. operating subsidiaries and
a portion was held at the parent company for corporate purposes.

Our reinsurance subsidiaries, which are domiciled in Barbados and Bermuda, are required by the regulators in the
jurisdictions in which they operate to maintain minimum capital levels. As at December 31, 2010, the capital
maintained by Kingsway Reinsurance Corporation was approximately $11.3 million in excess of the regulatory capital
requirements in Barbados. As at December 31, 2010, the capital maintained by Kingsway Reinsurance (Bermuda)
Limited was approximately $1.6 million in excess of the regulatory capital requirements in Bermuda.

NOTE 9 HEDGES:

On July 10, 2007, a general partnership of the Company (Kingsway 2007 General Partnership) issued a five year
C$100 million debt obligation due on July 11, 2012 with fixed semi-annual C$3 million interest payments. Kingsway
2007 General Partnership’s risk management objective is to lock in the cash flow requirements on this debt obligation
in U.S. dollar terms which is the currency in which its cash inflows are received, thus mitigating exposure to
variability in expected future cash flows. In order to meet this objective, Kingsway 2007 General Partnership had
entered into a cross-currency swap with Bank of Nova Scotia to swap U.S. dollar cash flows into Canadian dollar cash
flows providing the Company with the required Canadian dollar funds each semi-annual period and upon maturity to
settle the senior debenture offering interest payments. The swap transaction had been designated as a cash flow hedge.
Any changes in the fair value of the hedging instruments were recorded in other comprehensive income until the
hedged item affects the Consolidated Statement of Income.
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On June 2, 2009, the company discontinued the swap transaction which was designated as a cash flow hedge. Any
changes in the fair value of this hedging instrument had been recorded in other comprehensive income. When a cash
flow hedge is discontinued, any cumulative adjustment to the hedging instrument that had been recorded through other
comprehensive income is recognized in income over the remaining term of the hedged item, or when the hedged item
is derecognized. The amount of loss recorded in other comprehensive income at the time of the discontinuance of the
cash flow hedge was $6.2 million before tax of which $2.1 million has been reclassified to net income for the year
ended December 31, 2009 and $3.6 million has been reclassified to net income for the year ended December 31, 2010.

NOTE
10

CAPITAL ASSETS:

  2010

Accumulated Carrying
Cost Amortization Value

Land $ 1,984 $ - $ 1,984
Buildings 1,904 289 1,615
Leasehold improvements 9,439 2,921 6,518
Furniture and equipment 8,022 6,483 1,539
Computer hardware 10,160 9,362 798
Automobiles 66 51 15
Total $ 31,575 $ 19,106 $12,469

  2009
Accumulated Carrying

Cost Amortization Value
Land $ 3,734 $ - $ 3,734
Buildings 15,804 3,116 12,688
Leasehold improvements 8,899 2,244 6,655
Furniture and equipment 6,727 4,268 2,459
Computer hardware 6,355 6,047 308
Automobiles 321 240 81
Total $ 41,840 $ 15,915 $25,925

During 2010 KAI contributed its building to American Service which was disposed of as part of the Atlas transaction.
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NOTE
11

SHARE CAPITAL:

Authorized:
Unlimited number of common shares
Share transactions consist of the following:

Shares Issued Stock Options
Weighted-Average

Exercise Price Amount

Balance as at December 31, 2007 55,515,728 2,772,823 $ 19.03 $ 326,151
Stock options:
Granted in year 652,350 13.47
Granted in year 12,000 9.84
Granted in year 3,000 9.60
Exercised in year 21,000 (21,000) 4.30 89
Forfeited in year (92,334) 19.74
Normal course issuer bid Note 11 (e) (468,200) (3,896)
Balance as at December 31, 2008 55,068,528 3,326,839 $ 17.97 $ 322,344
Stock options:
Granted in year 65,000 1.90
Granted in year 376,500 10.03
Expired in year (333,735) 15.19
Forfeited in year (1,410,520) 17.50
Normal course issuer bid Note 11 (f) (3,472,700) (27,053)
Balance as at December 31, 2009 51,595,828 2,024,084 16.77 295,291
Issued January 4, 2010 500,000 848
Stock options:
Granted in year 1,400,000 4.50
Expired in year (271,034) 3.86
Forfeited in year (1,385,050) 16.99
Balance as at December 31, 2010 52,095,828 1,768,000 6.43 296,139

(a)During the year ended December 31, 2010, options to acquire nil shares (2009 - nil shares; 2008 - 21,000 shares)
were exercised at nil per share (2009 - nil shares; 2008 - C$4.30 to C$19.70 per share).

(b)The weighted average number of shares outstanding for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 were
52,094,439, 53,901,615 and 55,196,596, respectively. On a diluted basis, the weighted average number of shares
outstanding for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 were 52,094,439, 53,936,748 and 55,250,693,
respectively.

(c)There were no dividends declared for the 2010 year. Dividends paid to common shareholders during 2009 were
C$2,202,741 and C$16,548,983 in 2008.

(d)Options exercised during the year resulted in an increase in share capital from contributed surplus of nil for the
years ended December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009.

(e)On November 9, 2007, the Company obtained approval from the TSX to make a normal course issuer bid for its
common shares. For the twelve month period commencing November 13, 2007 and ending November 12, 2008,
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the Company could repurchase up to 2,780,000 of its common shares representing less than 5% of the then
outstanding common shares. For the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company had repurchased total 468,200
of its common shares at an average price of C$11.02. All of the repurchased common shares were cancelled.
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(f)On November 28, 2008 and amended on July 29, 2009 , a normal course issuer bid was approved by the TSX,
effective for the twelve month period commencing December 2, 2008 and ending December 1, 2009, whereby the
Company could repurchase up to 5,386,545 common shares or approximately 10% of the public float.  For the
period of December 2, 2008 to December 31, 2008, the Company did not repurchase any common shares. For the
year ended, December 31, 2009 the Company had repurchased a total of 3,472,700 of its common shares at an
average price of C$3.77.  All of the repurchased common shares were cancelled.

NOTE
12

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION:

(a)The Company has established a stock option incentive plan for key officers of the Company and its subsidiaries.
Historically a stock option incentive plan was also available for directors. The director’s plan was cancelled during
2010. At December 31, 2010, the maximum number of common shares that may be issued under the plan is
4,800,000 (2009 - 4,800,000) common shares. The maximum number of common shares available for issuance to
any one person under the stock option plan is 5% of the common shares outstanding at the time of the grant.

The exercise price is based on the market value of the shares at the time the option is granted. In general, the options
vest evenly over a three or four year period and are exercisable for periods not exceeding 10 years.

The intrinsic value of a stock option grant is the difference between the current market price for the Company’s
common shares and the exercise price of the option. The aggregate intrinsic values for the stock options outstanding at
December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 were nil for each year. The aggregate intrinsic values for stock options exercisable
at December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 were nil for each year.

The following tables summarize information about stock options outstanding as at December 31, 2010, December 31,
2009 and December 31, 2008:

Exercise prices are stated as per the terms of the option.

December 31, 2010
Exercise

Price
Date of

Grant
Expiry

Date
Remaining Contractual

Life (Years)
Number

Outstanding
Number

Exercisable
$ 4.50 29-Sep-10 29-Sep-15 4.8 400,000 -
$ 4.50 06-Jan-10 06-Jan-15 4.0 1,000,000 -

C$ 1.90  05-Mar-09 05-Mar-14 3.2  65,000 21,667
C$ 10.03 05-Mar-09 05-Mar-14 3.2 82,000 27,333
C$ 13.47  20-Feb-08 20-Feb-13 2.1 100,750 67,167
C$ 23.00  12-Feb-07 12-Feb-12 1.1  47,500 47,500
C$ 24.55 13-Feb-06 13-Feb-11 0.1 52,750 52,750
C$ 13.53 10-Feb-03 10-Feb-13 2.1 2,500 2,500
C$ 19.66 21-Feb-02 21-Feb-12 1.1 17,500 17,500

Total 3.8 1,768,000 236,417

Kingsway Financial Services Inc. 2010 Annual Report

61

Edgar Filing: KINGSWAY FINANCIAL SERVICES INC - Form 40-F

102



Edgar Filing: KINGSWAY FINANCIAL SERVICES INC - Form 40-F

103



December 31, 2009
Exercise

Price
Date of

Grant
Expiry

Date
Remaining Contractual

Life (Years)
Number

Outstanding
Number

Exercisable
C$ 1.90  05-Mar-09 05-Mar-14 3.9  65,000 -
C$ 10.03 05-Mar-09 05-Mar-14 3.9 257,000 -
C$ 9.60  02-Sep-08 02-Sep-13 3.7  3,000 1,000
C$ 9.84 12-May-08 12-May-13 3.4 12,000 4,000
C$ 13.47  20-Feb-08 20-Feb-13 3.1  297,350 99,117
C$ 12.08 31-Dec-07 31-Dec-10 1.0 25,000 25,000
C$ 23.00  12-Feb-07 12-Feb-12 2.1  288,500 225,667
C$ 24.55 13-Feb-06 13-Feb-11 1.1 310,000 310,000
C$ 19.70 14-Feb-05 14-Feb-10 0.1 271,034 271,034
C$ 13.53 10-Feb-03 10-Feb-13 3.1 213,000 213,000
C$ 19.66 21-Feb-02 21-Feb-12 2.1 184,500 184,500
C$ 7.80 22-Feb-01 22-Feb-11 1.2 78,500 78,500
C$ 4.30 24-Feb-00 14-Feb-10 0.2 19,200 19,200

Total 2.2 2,024,084 1,431,018

December 31, 2008
Exercise

Price
Date of

Grant
Expiry

Date
Remaining Contractual

Life (Years)
Number

Outstanding
Number

Exercisable
C$ 9.60  02-Sep-08 02-Sep-13 4.7  3,000 -
C$ 9.84 12-May-08 12-May-13 4.4 12,000 -
C$ 13.47  20-Feb-08 20-Feb-13 4.1  639,850 -
C$ 12.08 31-Dec-07 31-Dec-10 2.0 25,000 25,000
C$ 23.00  12-Feb-07 12-Feb-12 3.1  535,250 245,083
C$ 24.55 13-Feb-06 13-Feb-11 2.1 540,100 393,400
C$ 19.70 14-Feb-05 14-Feb-10 1.1 455,867 455,867
C$ 15.19 12-Feb-04 12-Feb-09 0.1 333,735 333,735
C$ 13.53 10-Feb-03 10-Feb-13 4.1 315,334 315,334
C$ 19.66 21-Feb-02 21-Feb-12 3.1 287,000 287,000
C$ 7.80 22-Feb-01 22-Feb-11 2.2 122,002 122,002
C$ 4.30 24-Feb-00 14-Feb-10 1.2 57,701 57,701

Total 2.6 3,326,839 2,235,122

At December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 the number of options exercisable were 236,417, 1,431,018 and 2,235,122,
respectively, with weighted average prices of C$16.86, C$18.89 and C$18.23, respectively.

The Company determines the fair values of options granted using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Fair value
of options granted in January 2010 was C$1.55 and September 2010 was C$1.57. During March 2009, the Company
issued two option grants at varying exercise prices.  Per share fair value of these grants was C$0.97 and C$0.45. Fair
value of options granted in February 2008 was C$2.88, May 2008 was C$2.43 and September 2008 was C$2.45.

The Company does not record any compensation expense for stock options granted prior to 2003. When these stock
options are exercised, the Company will include the amount of proceeds in share capital. The impact on net income
and earnings per share if the Company had measured the compensation element of stock options granted based on the
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fair value on the date of grant on all outstanding stock options on their grant date is disclosed as follows:
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2010 2009 2008
Stock option adjustment included in
employee compensation adjustment $ (5,109) $ (4,186) $ 2,172
Net loss, as reported $ (38,243) $(290,287) $(405,865)
Additional expense that would have been recorded if all
outstanding stock options granted before January 1,2003 had been
expensed

- - -
Pro forma net loss $ (38,243) $(290,287) $(405,865)
Basic loss per share
As reported $ (0.73) $ (5.38) $ (7.35)
Pro forma (0.73) (5.38) (7.35)
Diluted loss per share
As reported $ (0.73) $ (5.38) $ (7.35)
Pro forma (0.73) (5.38) (7.35)

Stock option expense above is charged to earnings and is included as a separate component of Shareholders’ Equity
under the caption “Contributed Surplus”.

The fair value of the options granted was estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model
with the following weighted average assumptions:

Sep
2010

Jan
2010

Mar
2009

Sep
2008

May
2008

Feb
2008

Risk-free interest rate 3.72 % 3.72% 1.78 % 2.91% 3.03% 3.22%
Dividend yield 0.00 % 0.00% 4.21 % 3.10% 3.10% 2.20%
Volatility of the expected market price of the
Company’s common shares 203.9 %193.8% 88.1 % 37.6% 35.8% 27.8%
Expected option life (in years) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0

The Black-Scholes option valuation model was developed for use in estimating fair value of traded options that have
no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. As the Company's employee stock options have characteristics
significantly different from those of traded options, and because changes in the subjective input assumptions can
materially affect the fair value estimate, in management's opinion, the above pro forma adjustments are not necessarily
a reliable single measure of the fair value of the Company's employee stock options. 

(b)The Company had an employee share purchase plan where qualifying employees can choose each year to have up
to 5% of their annual base earnings withheld to purchase the Company’s common shares. The Company matches
one half of the employee contribution amount, and its contributions vest immediately. All contributions are used
by the plan administrator to purchase common shares in the open market. The Company’s contribution was
expensed as paid and for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 totaled $63,000, $396,000 and
$586,000, respectively. This program was cancelled effective June 30, 2010.

(c)In May 2008, the Company implemented a deferred share unit (“DSU”) program.  The purpose of the DSU program
was to promote a greater alignment of interests between members of the Board and the shareholders of the
Company. As such, one-half of the annual retainer fee for serving as a member of the board was credited as DSU. 
In addition, each director had the option to choose to receive all or a percentage of their remaining annual
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remuneration in DSUs.

DSUs were credited to an account maintained for each director by the Company. The number of DSUs to be credited
was determined by dividing the amount of the director’s remuneration to be deferred into DSUs on that date by the
closing TSX share price on that day.

A director who has terminated service may redeem the DSUs credited to the director’s account on or before December
15th in the year subsequent to the year the eligible director terminated service. The Company will make a lump sum
cash payment (net of any applicable withholdings or deductions) equal to the number of DSUs credited to the
director’s account as of the filing date of the notice of redemption of the DSUs multiplied by the fair market value per
share.

The total number of DSUs held, for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, 2008 was nil, 87,450 and 32,327,
respectively. The program was terminated effective January 1, 2010 and all outstanding DSUs held were redeemed
effective August 26, 2010.

Kingsway Financial Services Inc. 2010 Annual Report

63

Edgar Filing: KINGSWAY FINANCIAL SERVICES INC - Form 40-F

107



NOTE
13

PENSION BENEFITS:

The Company maintains separate defined contribution pension plans in Canada and in the U.S. for all of its qualified
employees including the employees of all subsidiaries. In Canada, qualifying employees can choose each year to have
up to 5% of their annual base earnings subject to the maximum Registered Retirement Savings Plan (”RRSP”) deduction
limit, withheld to contribute to the applicable plan. The RRSP deduction limit is the lesser of 18% of earned income
for the preceding year or C$22,000, C$21,000 and $20,000 for 2010, 2009 and 2008 respectively. The Company
matches one half of the employee contribution amount, and its contributions vest immediately.

In the U.S., qualifying employees can choose to voluntarily contribute up to 60% of their annual earnings subject to an
overall limitation of $16,500 in 2010, $16,500 in 2009 and $15,500 in 2008. The Company matches 50% of the
employee contribution amount each payroll period up to 5%.

The contributions for the plan vest based on years of service with 100% vesting after five years of service. The
Company’s contribution is expensed as paid and for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 totaled
$637,000, $759,000, and $763,000, respectively. All Company obligations to the plans were fully funded as of
December 31, 2010.

NOTE
14

UNDERWRITING POLICY AND REINSURANCE CEDED:

In the normal course of business, the Company seeks to reduce the loss that may arise from catastrophe or other events
that cause unfavourable underwriting results by reinsuring certain levels of risk, in various areas of exposure, with
other insurers. The Company is not relieved of its primary obligation to the policyholder as a result of the reinsurance
transaction.

Failure of reinsurers to honour their obligations could result in losses to the Company. Consequently, the Company
continually evaluates the financial condition of its reinsurers and monitors concentrations of credit risk to minimize its
exposure to significant losses from reinsurer insolvency.

Underwriting risk:

Underwriting risk is the risk that the total cost of claims and acquisition expenses will exceed premiums received and
can arise from numerous factors, including pricing risk, reserving risk, catastrophic risk, catastrophic loss risk and
reinsurance coverage risk.

The Company’s underwriting objective is to develop business within a target market on a prudent and diversified basis
and to achieve profitable underwriting results (i.e. a combined ratio between 95% and 100%)

Pricing risk:

Pricing risk arises when actual claims experience differs from the assumptions included in pricing calculations.
Historically, the underwriting results of the property and casualty industry have fluctuated significantly due to the
cyclicality of the insurance market. The market cycle is affected by the frequency and severity of losses, levels of
capacity and demand, general economic conditions and price competition. The Company focuses on profitable
underwriting using a combination of experienced underwriting staff, pricing models and price adequacy monitoring
tools. The products are priced taking into account numerous factors including claims frequency and severity trends,
product line expense ratios, special risk factors, the capital required to support the product line, and the investment
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income earned on that capital. The Company’s pricing is designed to ensure an appropriate return on capital while also
providing long-term rate stability. These factors are reviewed and adjusted periodically to ensure they reflect the
current environment.

Reinsurance risk:

The Company relies on reinsurance to manage the underwriting risk; however, reinsurance does not release the
Company from its primary commitments to its policyholders. Therefore, the Company is exposed to the credit risk
associated with the amounts ceded to reinsurers. The Company assesses the financial soundness of the reinsurers
before signing any reinsurance treaties and monitors their situation on a regular basis. In addition, the Company has
minimum rating requirements for its reinsurers. The Company tenders reinsurance requirements on a regular basis to
ensure that the best price possible is obtained. The Company works with well established reinsurers that have
expertise in their field as well as an understanding of the business. Management reviews reinsurance programs to
manage cost efficiency and reduce the likelihood of coverage gaps.
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The Company follows the policy of underwriting and reinsuring contracts of insurance, which limits the Company’s
net exposure to the following maximum amounts:

Years ended December 31
2010 2009 2008

Property claims $ 500 $ 500 $  500
Casualty claims $ 500 $ 1,000 $ 1,000

In addition, the Company has obtained catastrophe reinsurance protection which provides coverage in the event of a
series of events. This reinsurance limits its net retained exposure and provides coverage up to certain maximum per
occurrence amounts in excess of the retained loss as follows:

Years ended December 31
2010 2009 2008

Retained loss    $ 1,000    $ 2,000  $ 2,000
Maximum coverage    $ 5,000    $ 38,000  $ 38,000

The unearned premium balance is affected by the reinsurance ceded as a portion of the unearned premium will be
owed to the reinsurer as the premiums are earned in the subsequent periods. The amounts deducted for reinsurance
ceded from net premiums earned, claims incurred and commissions and premium taxes for the years ended December
31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 were as follows:

2010 2009 2008
Net premiums earned $ 10,323 $ 10,084 $ 10,159
Claims incurred 8,821 (107) 377
Commissions and premium taxes 10,427 11,462 15,247

The amounts of assumed premiums written were $12,710,000, $13,042,000 and $21,457,000 for the years ended
December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. The amounts of assumed premiums earned were $14,869,000,
$16,411,000, and $26,426,000 for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

NOTE
15

INCOME TAXES:

(a)            The Company’s provision for income taxes, compared to statutory rates is summarized as follows:

2010 2009 2008
Provision for taxes at Canadian statutory marginal income tax rate $ (20,839) $ (33,015) $ (29,041)
Valuation allowance 32,531 14,261 43,777
Foreign operations subject to different tax rates (2,941) 11,634 11,984
Change in tax rates and other (14,869) (23,290) (14,558)
Provision for income taxes (recovery) for continuing operations $ (6,118) $ (30,410) $ 12,162
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(b)           The components of future income tax balances are as follows:

2010 2009
Future income tax assets:
Losses carried forward $ 240,165 $ 207,610
Unpaid claims and unearned premiums 8,093 18,191
Other 16,163 4,804
Valuation allowance (251,412) (212,302)
Future income tax assets 13,009 18,303

Deferred policy acquisition costs (4,744) (2,594)
Securities (7,762) (4,531)
Other - (2,299)
Future income tax liabilities (12,506) (9,424)
Net future income tax assets $ 503 $ 8,879

(c)            Amounts and expiration dates of the operating loss carry forwards are as follows:

Year of net Expiration Net operating
operating loss date loss

 U.S. operations: 1997 2012 183
2000 2020 385
2001 2021 147
2006 2026 25,224
2007 2027 58,575
2008 2028 41,398
2009 2029 493,782
2010 2030 68,195

In addition, there are operating loss carry forwards relating to the operations in Barbados in the amount of
$84,654,000.  All of these losses will expire by 2018.

(d) The Company established valuation allowances of $251,412,000 (U.S. Operations - $248,337,000; Other -
$3,075,000) and $212,302,000 (U.S. Operations - $209,130,000; Other - 3,172,000) for its gross future tax assets
at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. Based on the Company’s expectations of taxable income, its ability
to change its investment strategy, as well as reversing gross future tax liabilities, management believes it is more
likely than not that the Company will fully realize the net future tax assets (Canadian operations - $503,000 U.S.
operations - nil), with the exception of the aforementioned valuation allowance. The Company has, therefore
established the valuation allowance at December 31, 2010  mainly as a result of the potential inability to utilize its
net operating losses in the U.S. that do not expire for up to 20 years. The uncertainty over the Company’s ability to
utilize these losses over the short term has led to the Company recording valuation allowances.

NOTE
16

UNPAID CLAIMS:

(a)          Nature of unpaid claims:

The establishment of the estimated provision for unpaid claims is based on known facts and interpretation of
circumstances and is therefore a complex and dynamic process influenced by a large variety of factors. These factors
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include the Company's experience with similar cases and historical trends involving claim payment patterns, loss
payments, pending levels of unpaid claims, product mix or concentration, claims severity and claim frequency
patterns.

Other factors include the continually evolving and changing regulatory and legal environment, actuarial studies,
professional experience and expertise of the Company's claims departments' personnel and independent adjusters
retained to handle individual claims, the quality of the data used for projection purposes, existing claims management
practices including claims handling and settlement practices, the effect of inflationary trends on future claims
settlement costs, court decisions, economic conditions and public attitudes.
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Consequently, the process of establishing the estimated provision for unpaid claims is complex as it relies on the
judgment and opinions of a large number of individuals, on historical precedent and trends, on prevailing legal,
economic, social and regulatory trends and on expectations as to future developments. The process of determining the
provision necessarily involves risks that the actual results will deviate, perhaps substantially, from the best estimates
made.

(b)          Provision for unpaid claims:

The Company’s annual evaluation of the adequacy of unpaid claims includes a re-estimation of the liability for unpaid
claims relating to each preceding financial year compared to the liability that was previously established. The results
of this comparison and the changes in the provision for unpaid claims, net of amounts recoverable from reinsurers, for
the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 were as follows:

2010 2009 2008
Unpaid claims - beginning of year net $ 186,685 $ 182,652 $ 197,623
Provision for claims occurring:
In the current year      200,279 234,174 233,791
In prior years 14,402 1,811 (7,447)
Claims paid during the year relating to:
The current year 122,956 124,813 132,700
The prior years       111,676 107,139 108,615
Unpaid claims - end of year net 166,734 186,685 182,652
Reinsurers’ and other insurers’ share of unpaid claims 7,974 - 499
Unpaid claims - end of year $ 174,708 $ 186,685 $ 183,151

The results for the year ended December 31, 2010, were adversely affected by the evaluation of unpaid claims related
to prior years.

The Company reported unfavourable reserve development of $14.4 million in 2010 compared to an unfavourable
development of $1.8 million in 2009. Non Standard Auto business contributed $15.2 million of the prior years’ adverse
development in 2010, compared to an unfavourable claims development of $3.8 million in 2009 and a favourable
claims development of $6.2 million in 2008. Business other than Non Standard Auto favourably contributed $0.8
million of the prior years’ claims development in 2010, compared to a favourable contribution of $2.0 million in 2009
and a favourable contribution of $1.3 million in 2008.

 (c)          Ranges of unpaid claims:

In accordance with actuarial standards for 2010 and 2009, the Company’s internal actuaries develop a range of
reasonable reserve estimates, and a recommended actuarial central estimate of reserves. The actuarial central estimate
is intended to represent the actuary’s best estimate and will not necessarily be at the mid-point of the high and low
estimates of the range. The range of reasonable reserve estimates reflects the uncertainties associated with analyzing
the reserves, and includes estimates that could be produced by various reasonable assumptions regarding future
developments.  This range does not reflect the range of all possible outcomes. Actual results outside of this range are
possible.
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The ranges of provision for gross unpaid claims for U.S. operations estimated by our actuaries and the actual carried
provision for unpaid claims were as follows:

Low High

Actuarial
Central

 Estimate Carried

As at December 31, 2010 $ 162,985 $ 194,777 $ 178,883 $ 174,708

As at December 31, 2009 $ 166,130 $ 202,957 $ 186,863 $ 186,685

As part of the reserving process, the actuaries perform various quarterly reviews throughout the calendar year to assess
whether the actual results of the operating insurance company are materially different than what was expected based
on loss development factors previously established.

In the fourth quarter of 2010, each subsidiary recorded management’s estimate of unpaid claims, which, with the
exception of UCC was not materially different from our actuary’s central estimate. Reserves for UCC at December 31,
2010 are carried at $4.3 million below our actuary’s central estimate as management’s estimate of unpaid claims was
lower than that calculated by the actuary. The difference related primarily to the relevance of historical development
patterns and management’s view of changes in development during UCC’s runoff phase.

Beginning in 2010, the Company has discontinued its prior policy whereby management’s estimate of reserves will be
adjusted to reflect our actuary’s central estimate. Comparing management’s selected reserve estimate to the point
estimate and range of reasonable reserves independently determined by the our actuary continues to be an important
step in the reserving process, however, where differences exist and management believes their own reserve estimate to
be more accurate, management’s estimate will not be changed. We believe this to be consistent with industry practice
for companies with a robust reserving process in place.

As at December 31, 2009, the aggregate amount by which the appointed actuary’s central estimate exceeded
management’s selected reserve estimate was $6.6 million. Because of the change in policy described above, the
provision for unpaid claims was not increased or decreased in the financial statements of the subsidiaries where
management’s reserve estimate is lower or higher than that of the actuarial central estimate. The Company elected to
increase the consolidated reserves by $6.6 million to reflect the above difference on a consolidated basis in order to
present the financial position of the consolidated Company on a consistent basis throughout the year.

NOTE
17

SEGMENTED INFORMATION:

The Company provides property and casualty insurance.  Previously, the Company managed these businesses in three
reportable segments: Canada, the United States and Corporate.  As a result of implementing its corporate restructuring
plans, exiting non-core businesses and the sale of its remaining Canadian operations and the Atlas transaction, the
Company now manages its business in the following two segments: the United States and Corporate.  The United
States segment consists of U.S. operations and includes transactions with one of the Company’s reinsurance
subsidiaries. Results for the Company’s operating segments are based on the Company’s internal financial reporting
systems and are consistent with those followed in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements.
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The segmented information for December 31, 2010 is summarized as follows: 

United States Corporate Total
Gross premiums written $ 214,048 $ - $ 214,048
Net premiums earned 222,481 - 222,481
Investment income 14,991 1,362 16,353
Net realized gain 9,227 16 9,243
Interest expense 14,825 - 14,825
Amortization of capital assets 1,782 146 1,928
Amortization of intangible assets 6,621 - 6,621
Income tax recovery (789) (5,329) (6,118)
Loss from continuing operations (54,988) (7,137) (61,125)
Total assets  $ 461,411 $ 58,170 $ 519,581

The segmented information for December 31, 2009 is summarized as follows: 

United States Corporate Total
Gross premiums written $ 261,947 $ - $ 261,947
Net premiums earned 298,211 - 298,211
Investment income (loss) 13,971 (13,827) 144
Net realized gain (loss) 10,959 (2) 10,956
Interest expense 23,912 - 23,912
Amortization of capital assets 2,262 502 2,763
Amortization of intangible assets 8,271 2,332 10,602
Income tax recovery (15,022) (15,388) (30,410)
Loss from continuing operations (29,118) (40,518) (69,636)
Total assets (excluding assets held for sale)* $ 501,331 $ 21,564 $ 522,895
* Total assets were $1,957,355 and assets held for sale were $1,434,460

The segmented information for December 31, 2008 is summarized as follows:

United States Corporate Total
Gross premiums written              $ 345,676 $ - $ 345,676
Net premiums earned 339,966 - 339,966
Investment income 31,009 485 31,494
Net realized loss (7,242) - (7,242)
Interest expense 31,094 3,928 35,022
Amortization of capital assets 2,315 1,529 3,844
Amortizat ion of  intangible assets  and goodwil l
impairment 56,237  3,455 59,692
Income tax expense (recovery) 26,950 (14,788) 12,162
Loss from continuing operations (93,022) (5,832) (98,854)
Total assets (excluding assets held for sale)*  $ 665,604 $ 44,576 $ 710,180
* Total assets were $3,343,441 and assets held for sale were $2,633,261
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The Company’s gross premiums written are derived from the following business lines and geographical areas:

2010 2009 2008
Business Line
Personal Lines:
Non-standard Auto 91.6% 91.0% 83.9%
Property (including Liability) 3.8% 3.3% 2.5%
Total Personal Lines 95.4% 94.3% 86.4%
Commercial Lines:
Commercial Auto 4.6% 5.7% 13.6%
Total Commercial Lines 4.6% 5.7% 13.6%
Total Gross Premiums Written 100% 100% 100%

2010 2009 2008
Geographical Area
United States:
Florida 44.4% 36.5% 31.6%
Illinois 8.6% 12.6% 14.8%
California 11.8% 14.0% 14.5%
Texas 6.1% 5.2% 4.4%
Colorado 6.2% 5.8% 3.8%
Other 22.9% 25.9% 30.9%
Total Gross Premiums Written 100% 100% 100%

NOTE
18

INDEBTEDNESS:

(a)          Senior unsecured debentures:

On January 29, 2004, a subsidiary of the Company, KAI, completed the sale of $100 million 7.50% senior notes due
2014. The notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by the Company. The notes are redeemable at KAI’s option
on or after February 1, 2009. In March 2004 an additional $25 million of these senior notes were issued. Interest paid
during the year was $6,092,000 for 2010, $9,193,000 for 2009, and $9,375,000 for 2008 with an effective interest rate
of 8.3%. 

During 2010 and 2009 the Company repurchased $73.5 million and $7.0 million of par value, respectively, of this
offering. The Company realized a gain on the repurchases of $11.4 million in 2010 and $3.5 million in 2009. As at
December 31, 2010 $27.0 million of par value of this issue remains outstanding, as compared to $100.5 million par
value outstanding at December 31, 2009.

On July 10, 2007, a general partnership of the Company, Kingsway 2007 General Partnership issued C$100.0 million
Senior Unsecured Debentures at 6% due on July 11, 2012. These debentures bear interest at a fixed rate of 6% per
annum payable semi-annually from the date of issuance until July 11, 2012. Interest payments are to be made on
January 10 and July 10 of each year, commencing January 10, 2008 with an effective interest rate of 6.3%. The net
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proceeds to the Company amounted to C$99,188,000. Kingsway 2007 General Partnership may redeem the
debentures in whole at any time and in part from time to time, at the issuer’s option. The debentures are
unconditionally guaranteed by the Company and KAI.

Both of these senior unsecured debentures contain negative covenants in their trust indentures placing limitations and
restrictions over certain actions without the prior written consent of the indenture trustees. For additional details of
these covenants and the Company’s non-compliance with the debt to capital thresholds see Note 8.
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During 2010 and 2009, the Company repurchased $69.8 million (C$71.4 million) and $14.6 million (C$16.1 million)
of par value, respectively, of this offering and realized a gain of $7.8 million in 2010 and $6.0 million in 2009. As at
December 31, 2010 C$12.5 million par value of this issue remains outstanding as compared to C$83.9 million par
value outstanding at December 31, 2009.

(b)          Subordinated indebtedness:

Between December 4, 2002 and December 16, 2003, six subsidiary trusts of the Company issued $90.5 million of 30
year capital securities to third parties in separate private transactions. In each instance, a corresponding floating rate
junior subordinated deferrable interest debenture was then issued by KAI to the trust in exchange for the proceeds
from the private sale. The floating rate debentures bear interest at the rate of the London interbank offered interest rate
for three month U.S. dollar deposits, plus spreads ranging from 3.85% to 4.20%, but until dates ranging from
December 4, 2007 to January 8, 2009, the interest rates will not exceed 12.45% to 12.75%. The Company has the right
to call each of these securities at par anytime after five years from their issuance until their maturity. The net proceeds
to the Company were $70,877,000 after deducting expenses of $4,625,000. Interest paid during the year was
$4,126,000 for 2010, 5,047,000 for 2009, and $7,126,000 for 2008. Subsequent to year end, the Company has given
notice to its Trust Preferred trustees of its intention to exercise its voluntary right to defer interest payments for up to
20 quarters (see Note 27).

(c)          Linked Return of Capital (“LROC”) preferred units:

On July 14, 2005 Kingsway Linked Return of Capital Trust (“KLROC Trust”) completed its public offering of C$78
million of 5.00% Kingsway Linked Return of Capital Preferred Units (“Units”) due June 30, 2015 of which the
Company was a promoter. In order to achieve its investment objectives, KLROC used the net proceed of
C$74,141,236 of its initial public offering to subscribe for and purchase all of the limited partnership units of KL
Limited Partnership (“KL LP”). In turn, KL LP used these proceeds for the payment of its payment of its purchase
obligations under Forward Purchase Agreement which KL LP entered into with the Bank of Nova Scotia (“the
Counterparty”). Such proceeds were invested by the Counterparty in KN Trust. The KN Trust lent funds to Kingsway
ROC GP (“ROC GP”) and combined with its partnership capital of C$8,250,000, ROC GP subscribed for common
shares in Kingsway ROC LLC (“ROC LLC”) totaling C$82,087,781. With these proceeds, ROC LLC purchased a
promissory note from KAI, with the principle amount of US $66,222,012 bearing interest at 7.37% per annum and due
June 30, 2015.

Beginning in 2009, KFS Capital, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, began purchasing KLROC
units. On June 26, 2009, KFS Capital, commenced a take-over bid (the “KLROC Offer”) to acquire up to 1,000,000
preferred, retractable, redeemable, cumulative units of Kingsway Linked Return of Capital Trust (“KLROC”) at a price
per unit of C$12.00 in cash. The KLROC Offer expired on Tuesday, August 4, 2009 and 694,015 units were tendered.
This tender was paid for using available cash. The Company also acquired ownership of 139,700 units of the KLROC
outside of the tender offer through a series of purchases on the Toronto Stock Exchange. On June 9, 2010 KFS Capital
commenced the take-over bid (“the Offer”) to acquire up to 750,000 KLROC units at a price per unit of C$17.50 in
cash. On July 9, 2010, KFS Capital increased the size and price of its previously announced Offer to 1,500,000 units
at a price per unit of C$20.00 in cash.  The Offer expired on Friday, July 23, 2010 and 1,525,150 units were tendered,
of which 1,500,000 were purchased on a pro-rata basis. The tender was paid for using available cash.

As a result of these acquisitions, the Company beneficially owns and controls 2,333,715 units, representing 74.8% of
the issued and outstanding units. The Company has determined that the consolidated financial statements of the
KLROC Trust, which financial statements include the accounts of other aforementioned entities, should be
consolidated with the financial statements of the Company beginning July 23, 2010 in accordance with Canadian
GAAP. As a result of consolidating the KLROC Trust, the Company recorded a gain of $17.8 million during 2010
related to the KLROC Units held by KFS Capital. The gain arose as a result of the effective settlement of the debt
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within the consolidated group and is equal to the difference between the carrying value of the debt held by KLROC
Trust and the fair value of the KLROC Units held by KFS Capital.

(d)         Loan payable:

As at December 31, 2009, KAI had a promissory note payable balance of approximately $66.2 million with ROC
LLC.  The note was issued on July 15, 2005 and bears interest at 7.37% annually.  The note principal is payable on
June 30, 2015.  As further described above, as at December 31, 2010, the financial statements of ROC LLC are
consolidated with the financial statements of the Company, and therefore, the note payable balance is no longer
considered to be an obligation of the consolidated entity.

 (e)         Financing facility:

In March 2009, the Company obtained a $20 million financing facility from American Physicians Assurance
Corporation (“AP Assurance”) to allow for specific capital initiatives. Two of the members of the Company’s Board of
Directors also sat on the board of AP Assurance in 2009 making it a related party. The facility was at fair market
terms and conditions. As at September 30, 2009, the facility was undrawn, expired and was terminated. In the fourth
quarter of 2009, a new facility was obtained from the same related party. This new facility was at fair market terms
and conditions. No funds were ever drawn on this facility and it was withdrawn on February 25, 2010.
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(f)         Contractual obligations:

The table below provides a breakdown of contractual obligations as described above in items (a) - (d):

2010 2009
Senior unsecured debentures $ 37,469 $ 176,764
LROC preferred units 15,884 -
Subordinated indebtedness 87,450 87,415
Loan payable - 66,222
Total $ 140,803 $ 330,401

Refer to Note 7 for a maturity schedule of these contractual obligations.

NOTE
19

Acquisitions:

(a)         Itasca Financial, LLC:

On January 4, 2010, the Company’s subsidiary KAI acquired certain assets of Itasca Financial, LLC, a property and
casualty insurance industry advisory firm, owned and controlled by Mr. Larry Swets, a former director and current
Chief Executive Officer and President of the Company (refer to Note 23). The consideration for the assets purchased
is equal to $1.5 million cash and one million restricted common shares of the Company, payable in three annual
installments. Goodwill of $2.5 million was recognized related to the purchase.

(b)       Assigned Risk Solutions Ltd. (formerly JBA Associates, Inc.):

Effective June 30, 2010, the Company made an investment in JBA Associates, Inc. (“JBA”) for approximately $16.3
million, following which the Company has a 100% interest in JBA. JBA is a managing general agency based in New
Jersey that specializes in assigned risk automobile insurance. The acquisition allows the Company to benefit from its
institutional knowledge of non-standard automobile and assigned risk business and expand in the agency market.
Goodwill of $0.8 million was recognized related to the purchase. An intangible asset was recognized related to the
purchase of JBA of $11.7 million related to retention of buyout customers and contract renewals. Subsequent to the
acquisition, JBA was renamed Assigned Risk Solutions, Ltd. See Note 21 for further disclosure on intangible assets
related to this acquisition.

The following table summarizes the estimated fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of
acquisition of JBA.

 June 30, 2010
Cash $ 4,998
Accounts receivable 3,852
Other tangible assets 458
Other assets
Intangible assets 11,712
Goodwill 773
Total Assets 21,793

Deferred service fee revenue 5,015
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Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 528
Total Liabilities 5,543

Purchase Price  $ 16,250

(c)       KLROC Trust:

KLROC Trust is an investment trust established under the laws of the Province of Ontario and is governed by a
Declaration of Trust dated May 12, 2005, amended July 14, 2005. KLROC was created to provide holders with
exposure to a promissory note issued by KAI, an affiliate of Kingsway.

Kingsway Financial Services Inc. 2010 Annual Report

72

Edgar Filing: KINGSWAY FINANCIAL SERVICES INC - Form 40-F

125



KLROC Trust commenced operations on July 14, 2005 and raised C$78,000,000 through the issuance of 3,120,000
preferred units (“KLROC Units”) at C$25 per KLROC preferred unit. In order to achieve its investment objectives,
KLROC used the net proceeds of C$74,141,236 of its initial public offering to subscribe for and purchase all of the
limited partnership units of KL LP. In turn, KL LP used these proceeds for the payment of its purchase obligations
under a Forward Purchase Agreement which KL LP entered into with the Bank of Nova Scotia (“the Counterparty”).
Such proceeds were invested by the Counterparty in KN Trust.

The KN Trust lent funds to ROC GP and combined with its partnership capital of C$8,250,000, ROC GP subscribed
for common shares in ROC LLC totaling C$82,087,781. With these proceeds, ROC LLC purchased a promissory note
from KAI, with the principal amount of US $66,222,012 bearing interest at 7.37% per annum and due June 30, 2015.

Beginning in 2009, KFS Capital began purchasing KLROC Units. The investments at that time were accounted as
available for sale securities as they were purchased primarily as an investment. As at December 31, 2009, the
Company held 830,515 KLROC Units representing 26.6% of the issued and outstanding KLROC units, therefore the
Company was not obligated to consolidate the KLROC Trust. In 2010, the Company purchased an additional
1,503,200 KLROC Units and now beneficially owns and controls 74.8% of the issued and outstanding KLROC
Units.  The Company has determined that the consolidated financial statements of the KLROC Trust, which financial
statements include the accounts of the other aforementioned entities, should be consolidated with the financial
statements of the Company beginning July 23, 2010 in accordance with Canadian GAAP. As a result of consolidating
the KLROC Trust, the Company recorded a gain of $17.8 million in 2010 related to the KLROC Units held by KFS
Capital. The gain arose from the difference between the carrying value of the debt held by KLROC Trust and the fair
value of the KLROC Units held by KFS Capital.

NOTE
20

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES:

(a)         Legal proceedings:

In connection with its operations, the Company and its subsidiaries are, from time to time, named as defendants in
actions for damages and costs allegedly sustained by the plaintiffs. While it is not possible to estimate the outcome of
the various proceedings at this time, such actions have generally been resolved with minimal damages or expense in
excess of amounts provided and the Company does not believe that it will incur any significant additional loss or
expense in connection with such actions.

In addition to the potential exposures outlined above, the Company is engaged in the following legal disputes:

(i)The DOI has challenged the disposition of Walshire and Lincoln General. On November 20, 2009, DOI filed a
complaint in the Commonwealth Court against the Company, KAI and Walshire, seeking a declaration that the
disposition was unlawful and not valid. The Company disagrees with the DOI’s position and maintains that the
donations of Walshire shares to the charities were lawful and valid. The Company therefore demurred to each of the
claims in the DOI’s complaint, thereby putting the legal sufficiency of the DOI’s claims at issue. The demurrers were
argued to a panel of the Commonwealth Court on February 9, 2010.

On April 1, 2010, the Commonwealth Court sustained the demurrers, rejecting the arguments made by DOI, and
dismissing all of the DOI’s claims against the Company. On April 30, 2010, the DOI appealed the April 1, 2010
decision to Pennsylvania Supreme Court. The Company is opposing this appeal, which is scheduled for oral argument
on April 12, 2011

On November 19, 2009 the day before the day the DOI’s complaint, the Company and KAI filed a complaint in the
Commonwealth Court against the DOI seeking a declaration that the statue upon which DOI principally release did
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not apply to the donations. In response to the Company’s complaint, the DOI filed an Answer and New Matter (in
essence, a Counterclaim), making the same arguments the DOI made in its November 20, 2009 complaint. Because
the two lawsuits raise the same issues, further proceedings in the Company’s and KAI’s lawsuit have been postponed,
pending the Pennsylvania Supreme Court’s decision in the DOI’s lawsuit.

If the ultimate decision of the courts is unfavorable for the Company, the control of Lincoln General may revert back
to the Company, which would result in Lincoln General’s financial results being included in the Company’s
consolidated financial statements. Thus, if the Pennsylvania Supreme Court deems the transaction to be invalid, it
could ultimately lead to the Company being in breach of its public debt covenants should Lincoln General go into
liquidation while still part of the Company. The Company’s public debt is material, and a breach in covenants could
lead to the debt being called and paid before maturity.

(ii) The Company is the defendant in two separate breach of contract suits filed by two former employees.

 (b)          Letters of credit:

The Company had a syndicate letter of credit facility which was used to collateralize reinsurance balances. The letter
of credit facility was terminated in 2010. At December 31, 2009 the letter of credit facility utilization was $1.8
million.
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(c)         Charitable donations:

In 2004, the Company agreed to make a gift contribution of C$3.0 million to the Trillium Health Centre Foundation
(“Trillium”) to be payable in equal installments over the period of six years beginning in 2005. This contribution is
being used to operate the Kingsway Financial Spine Centre in Mississauga, Ontario and is expensed as paid.  In 2009,
the Company issued a payment of C$0.3 million and has informed Trillium that it will no longer make any further
contributions.

(d)         Guarantees:

The Company provided a letter of guarantee to a third party for Customs bonds reinsured by Lincoln General.  This
guarantee may require the Company to compensate the third party if Lincoln General is unable to fulfill its obligations
relating to the Customs bonds.  The Company’s expense under this contingency is not determinable and no liability is
reflected in the financial statements at December 31, 2010. 

(e)         Collateral pledged:

As at December 31, 2010, bonds and term deposits with an estimated fair value of $28.8 million (2009 - $24.6
million) were on deposit with state and provincial regulatory authorities. Also, from time to time, the Company
pledges securities to third parties to collateralize liabilities incurred under its policies of insurance. At December 31,
2010, the amount of such pledged securities was $16.1 million (2009 - nil). Collateral pledging transactions are
conducted under terms that are common and customary to standard collateral pledging and are subject to the
Company’s standard risk management controls.

(f)         Collateral held:

In the normal course of business, the Company receives collateral on certain business transactions to reduce its
exposure to credit risk. As at
December 31, 2010, the amount of such pledged securities was $0.9 million (2009 - $1.0 million). The Company is
normally permitted to sell or repledge the collateral it receives under terms that are common and customary to
standard collateral holding and are subject to the Company’s standard risk management controls.

(g)          Future minimum lease payments:

Future minimum annual lease payments under operating leases for premises/equipment for the next five years and
thereafter are:

2011 $ 4,098
2012 3,896
2013 3,434
2014 3,095
2015 2,086
Thereafter 2,307

NOTE
21

GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS:

 (a)         Goodwill:
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Goodwill was $3,273,000 at December 31, 2010 (2009 - nil). Goodwill is assessed for impairment on an annual basis
and at any other time if an event occurs or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value
of a reporting segment below its carrying amount.

Any potential impairment is identified by comparing the fair value of a reporting unit to its carrying value. If the fair
value of the reporting segment exceeds its carrying value, goodwill is considered not to be impaired. If the carrying
value of the reporting segment exceeds its fair value, a more detailed goodwill impairment assessment must be
undertaken. A goodwill impairment charge is recognized to the extent that, at the reporting segment level, the carrying
value of goodwill exceeds the implied fair value.

As described in Note 4, in 2009, the purchase price for Jevco was less than its book value, as a result, the Company
wrote down the value of its remaining goodwill to nil.  The amount of the related write down was $6.9 million which
is included in the income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes line item on the statement of operations.

In 2008, the Company performed the annual goodwill impairment test and it was determined that the carrying amount
of goodwill for the U.S. Reporting Segment exceeded its fair value. As a result, the Company recorded in operating
income a non-cash goodwill impairment charge of $50,074,000 relating to this goodwill. The determination that the
fair value of goodwill was less than its carrying value resulted from a decline in market multiples, both from an
industry and Company perspective, and a reduction of fair value as determined using the discounted cash flow
methodology, incorporating both current Company and market assumptions, which in combination resulted in the
goodwill impairment.
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(b)         Intangible assets:

The intangible assets with indefinite useful lives for 2010 were $7,803,000 (2009 - $7,803,000).  These intangible
assets relate to insurance licenses and are not amortized.

The intangible assets with definite useful lives are comprised of agent relationships, technology-based asset, renewal
rights, and computer software, which are amortized over their estimated useful lives, and net of accumulated
amortization for 2010 were $32,883,000 (2009 - $28,740,000). The agent relationships intangible asset is being
amortized over a five year term based on the pattern in which the economic benefits of the intangible asset are
expected to be consumed. The technology based intangible and renewal rights intangible assets are amortized on a
straight-line basis over 41 months and 10 to 15 years respectively, while computer software is amortized over 18
months to 5 years.  Amortization of intangible assets for 2010 was $6,621,000 (2009 - $10,602,000 and 2008 -
$9,618,000).

As described in Note 4, in 2009, as a result of the sale of specific assets of Avalon, the Company wrote off the
associated remaining intangible assets of $1,590,000.  There was no write-down of intangible assets due to
impairment during 2008.

NOTE
22

RECONCILIATION OF CANADIAN AND UNITED STATES GENERALLY ACCEPTED
ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES:

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP. The
significant differences between Canadian GAAP and U.S. GAAP, which affect the Company's consolidated financial
statements, are described below.

The following table reconciles the consolidated net loss and other comprehensive loss as reported under Canadian
GAAP with net loss and other comprehensive loss in accordance with U.S. GAAP:

2010 2009 2008
Net loss based on Canadian GAAP $ (38,243) $(290,287) $(405,865)
Impac t  on  ne t  income of  U.S .  GAAP
adjustments, net of tax: - - -
Net loss based on U.S. GAAP* $ (38,243) $(290,287) $(405,865)

2010 2009 2008
Comprehensive loss based on Canadian GAAP $ (70,272) $(266,089) $(468,858)
 Change in  unreal ized gain on secur i t ies  c lass i f ied as
available-for-sale - - -
 Less: related future income taxes - - -
Other comprehensive income adjustments - - -
Total comprehensive loss based on U.S. GAAP $ (70,272) $(266,089) $(468,858)

*Basic earnings (loss) per share based on U.S. GAAP net income $ (0.73) $ (5.38) $ (7.35)
*Diluted earnings (loss) per share based on U.S. GAAP net
income $ (0.73) $ (5.38) $ (7.35)

The following table reconciles shareholders' equity as reported under Canadian GAAP with shareholders' equity in
accordance with U.S. GAAP:
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2010 2009
Shareholders’ equity based on Canadian GAAP $ 94,806 $ 169,339
Other comprehensive income - -
Cumulative net income impact:
Other - -
Shareholders’ equity based on U.S. GAAP $ 94,806 $ 169,339
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The consolidated statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP. As required by the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”), material differences between Canadian and U.S. GAAP are quantified and described
below. Effective January 1, 2007, Canadian GAAP has conformed to U.S. GAAP relating to disclosures of other
comprehensive income in the financial statements and accumulated balances of other comprehensive income or loss in
the equity section of the Company’s consolidated balance sheet. As a result, in the current year there are no reconciling
items between Canadian and U.S. GAAP as reported by the Company for 2010. Total cumulative other
comprehensive income amounted to $15,042,000 and $ 47,071,000 as at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

 (a)         Securities:

Effective January 1, 2007, Canadian GAAP became substantially consistent with U.S. GAAP for the Company’s
activities relating to the accounting for securities. Under the adoption of these new standards, the Company classified
all its investment securities as available-for-sale except for derivative instruments which are classified as
held-for-trading, all of which are measured at fair value consistent with U.S. GAAP. Prior to 2007, securities were
classified as portfolio investments and were carried at cost or amortized cost, and where a decline in value of an
investment is considered to be other than temporary, a write-down of the investment to its estimated recoverable
amount is recorded. Under U.S. GAAP, such investments would be classified as available-for-sale and are marked to
market after write-downs for other than temporary declines in values, and the unrealized gain or loss, net of any future
income taxes, is recorded as other comprehensive income, a component of shareholders' equity.

 (b)           Income taxes:

On January 1, 2007, the Company adopted, for U.S. GAAP purposes, Financial Accounting Standards Board “(FASB)”
interpretation No. 48 (“FIN 48”), Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes - An Interpretation of FASB Statement
No. 109. FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for financial statement recognition and
measurement of an uncertain tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return.

FIN 48 uses a two step approach for evaluating tax positions:
•a tax position must be more likely than not to be sustained based solely on its technical merits in order to be
recognized; and
•the benefit is measured as the largest dollar amount of that position that is more likely than not to be sustained upon
settlement.  The difference between the benefit recognized for a position in accordance with the FIN 48 model and
the tax benefit claimed on a tax return is referred to as an unrecognized tax benefit.

The adoption of FIN 48, had no impact on the opening retained earnings under U.S. GAAP.  As of December 31,
2010, the Company had no unrecognized tax benefits.  The Company analyzed its tax positions in accordance with the
provisions of FIN 48 and has determined that there are no uncertain tax positions.  It is difficult to project how
unrecognized tax benefits will change over the next 12 months.  The Company operates in Canada, the U.S. and other
foreign jurisdictions, subject to examination by tax authorities.

 (c)           Other significant accounting changes:

On July 1, 2009, the FASB Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) became the sole source of authoritative GAAP
literature recognized by the FASB for financial statements issued for interim and annual periods ending after
September 15, 2009.  ASC did not change GAAP, but rather combined the sources of GAAP and the framework for
selecting among those sources into a single source.  Accordingly, the adoption of ASC had no impact on the financial
results of the Company.
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Prior to the adoption of ASC, the Company adopted various standards which have been codified into ASC.  A
discussion of these standards, along with a reference to the ASC topics into which they have been codified and the
effect of adoption on the Company follows below:

In April 2009, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (FSP) SFAS No. 115-2 and SFAS No. 124-2, Recognition and
Presentation of Other-Than-Temporary Impairments (codified into ASC Topic 320, Investments-Debt and Equity
Securities). The standard amends the other-than-temporary impairment guidance for debt securities to make the
guidance more operational and to improve the presentation and disclosure of other-than-temporary impairments on
debt and equity securities in the financial statements. The standard does not amend existing recognition and
measurement guidance related to other-than-temporary impairments of equity securities. On April 1, 2009, the
Company adopted the standard and applied it prospectively.  The initial application of the standard had no impact on
the Company.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141(R), Business Combinations (codified into ASC Topic 805,
Business Combinations). The standard establishes principles and requirements for how an acquirer recognizes and
measures in its consolidated financial statements the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, and any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree, and recognizes and measures the goodwill acquired in the business
combination. The standard also sets forth the disclosures required to be made in the consolidated financial statements
to evaluate the nature and financial effects of the business combination. The standard applies prospectively to business
combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning
on or after December 15, 2008. On January 1, 2009, the Company adopted the standard.  Accordingly, the standard
will be applied by the Company to business combinations occurring on or after January 1, 2009.  In April 2009, the
FASB issued FSP SFAS No. 141(R)-1, Accounting for Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed in a Business
Combination That Arise from Contingencies (codified into ASC Topic 805, Business Combinations).  The standard
amends guidance with respect to the initial recognition and measurement, subsequent measurement and accounting,
and disclosure of assets and liabilities arising from contingencies in a business combination.
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In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, Disclosure about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, an
amendment of FASB Statement No. 133 (codified into ASC Topic 810, Consolidation). SFAS No. 161 establishes,
among other things, the disclosure requirements for derivative instruments and for hedging activities. SFAS No. 161
amends and expands the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities (SFAS No. 133), with the intent to provide users of consolidated financial statements with
enhanced understanding of: how and why an entity uses derivative securities; how derivatives and hedges are being
accounted for under SFAS No. 133; and how derivatives and hedges affect an entity’s financial position, financial
performance, and cash flows. SFAS No. 161 is effective for consolidated financial statements issued for fiscal years
beginning after November 15, 2008. The adoption of this new standard did not have an impact on the Company.

In April 2008, the FASB issued FSP SFAS No. 142-3, Determination of the Useful Life of Intangible Assets (codified
into ASC Topic 350, Intangibles-Goodwill and Other). FSP SFAS No. 142-3 amends the factors that should be
considered in developing renewal or extension assumptions used to determine the useful life of a recognized
intangible asset under SFAS No. 142. Previously, under the provisions of SFAS No. 142, an entity was precluded
from using its own assumptions about renewal or extension of an arrangement where there was likely to be a
substantial cost or material modifications. FSP SFAS No. 142-3 removes the requirement of SFAS No. 142 for an
entity to consider whether an intangible asset can be renewed without substantial cost or material modification to the
existing terms and conditions and requires an entity to consider its own experience in renewing similar arrangements.
FSP SFAS No. 142-3 also increases the disclosure requirements for a recognized intangible asset to enable a user of
consolidated financial statements to assess the extent to which the expected future cash flows associated with the asset
are affected by the entity’s intent or ability to renew or extend the arrangement. FSP SFAS No. 142-3 is effective for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008 and interim periods within those fiscal years. The guidance for
determining the useful life of a recognized intangible asset is applied prospectively to intangible assets acquired after
the effective date. Accordingly, the initial application of FSP SFAS No. 142-3 had no impact on the Company.

In April 2009, the FASB issued FSP SFAS No. 157-4, Determining Fair Value When the Volume and Level of
Activity for the Asset or Liability have Significantly Decreased and Identifying Transactions That are not Orderly
(codified into ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures). FSP SFAS No. 157-4 provides additional
guidance for estimating fair value in accordance with SFAS No. 157, when the volume and level of activity for the
asset or liability have significantly decreased. FSP SFAS No. 157-4 also includes guidance on identifying
circumstances that indicate a transaction is not orderly. FSP SFAS No. 157-4 is effective for periods ending after
June 15, 2009. The initial application of the standard had no impact on the financial results of the Company.

In May 2009, the FASB issued SFAS No. 165, Subsequent Events (codified into ASC Topic 855, Subsequent Events),
which provides guidance on management’s accounting for and disclosure of events that occur after the balance sheet
date, but before the financial statements are issued or are available to be issued.  The standard is effective for interim
or annual financial periods ending after June 15, 2009.  The initial application of the standard had no impact on the
financial results of the Company.

In June 2009, the FASB issued SFAS No. 166, Accounting for Transfers of Financial Assets, a grandfathered standard
under ASC.  The standard provides the guidance to improve the relevance, representational faithfulness, and
comparability of the information that a reporting entity provides in its financial statements about a transfer of financial
assets; the effects of a transfer on its financial position, financial performance, and cash flows; and a transferor’s
continuing involvement, if any, in transferred financial assets.  The standard must be applied as of the beginning of
each reporting entity’s first annual reporting period that begins after November 15, 2009, and for interim periods
within that first annual reporting period.  The adoption of this new standard did not have an impact on the Company.

In June 2009, the FASB issued SFAS No. 167, Amendments to FASB Interpretation No. 46(R), a grandfathered
standard under ASC, to amend the consolidation guidance that applies to variable interest entities.  The standard is
effective for the Company beginning in 2010.  The adoption of this new standard did not have an impact on the
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Company.

On January 21, 2010, the FASB issued FASB Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2010-06, Improving Disclosures
about Fair Value Measurements.  The standard amends ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures to
require additional disclosures related to transfers between levels in the hierarchy of fair value measurements.  The
standard is effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2009.  The standard does
not change how fair values are measured.  Accordingly, the standard did not have an impact on the Company.

In October 2010, the FASB issued ASU 2010-26, Accounting for Costs Associated with Acquiring or Renewing
Insurance Contracts. The standard is effective for the interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December
15, 2011, with earlier adoption permitted. The provisions of the new standard can be applied either prospectively or
retrospectively. The standard amends ASC Topic 944, Financial Services-Insurance, and modifies the definition of the
types of costs incurred by insurance entities that can be capitalized in the acquisition of new renewal contracts. The
Company has not yet determined the impact of the new standard on the Company or the method or date of adoption.
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(d)           Future accounting pronouncements:

In February 2008, the AcSB confirmed that a profit oriented publicly accountable enterprise will be required to adopt
IFRS. IFRS will replace current Canadian GAAP for those enterprises. For the Company, IFRS will be effective for
interim and annual periods commencing January 1, 2011, including the preparation and reporting of one year of the
comparative figures.

As the Securities and Exchange Commission allows foreign private issuers to file financial statements using IFRS as
published by the IASB, without reconciliation to U.S. GAAP, on adoption of IFRS effective January 1, 2011, the
Company will not prepare the above reconciliation.

NOTE
23

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS:

Related party transactions, including services provided to or received by the Company’s subsidiaries, are carried out in
the normal course of operations and are measured at the amount of consideration paid or received as established and
agreed by the parties.  Management believes that consideration paid for such services approximate fair value. Except
where disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, the following is a summary of related party
transactions.

On January 4, 2010, the Company and its subsidiary, KAI, acquired certain assets of Itasca Financial, LLC, a property
and casualty insurance industry advisory firm, owned and controlled by Mr. Larry Swets, a former director and the
current Chief Executive Officer and President of the Company. As at the date of the transaction, Mr. Swets was not a
director and did not hold any position within the Company. The consideration for the assets purchased is equal to $1.5
million cash and one million restricted common shares of the Company as described in the Note 19 to the financial
statements.

In 2009, the Company engaged the services of Itasca Financial, LLC and paid $1.0 million during 2009.

In March 2009, the Company obtained a $20 million financing facility from American Physicians Assurance
Corporation (“AP Assurance”) to allow for specific capital initiatives. Two of the members of the Company’s Board of
Directors sat on the board of AP Assurance in 2009 making it a related party. As at September 30, 2009, the facility
was undrawn, expired and has been terminated. In the fourth quarter of 2009, a new facility has been obtained from
the same related party. No funds were ever drawn on this facility and it was withdrawn on February 25, 2010.

In March 2010, the Company signed an agreement with AP Assurance to provide investment management and
investment accounting services to the Company, commencing April 1, 2010.  The agreement is at fair market terms
and conditions.

Approximately 45% of the KLROC Units acquired through the 2009 KLROC Offer were from a related party.  See
Note 8 for details on the KLROC Offering. The Company paid $3.5 million for these tendered KLROC units.  The
2009 KLROC Offer was a public offering. The terms and conditions for the transaction were identical for all
unitholders.

In 2009, in addition to a previously agreed retainer of C$0.1 million, the Board of Directors has decided to pay an
additional $0.4 million and C$0.1 million to the Chairman of the Board. Of these amounts, in 2009, the Company has
paid $0.2 million and C$0.1 million during the year.  In 2010, the Company paid the remaining $0.2 million owed.

In 2009 and 2010, in addition to a previously agreed annual retainer of $0.2 million, the Board of Directors decided to
pay an additional retainer of $0.2 million to the Chairman of the Board.  The additional payments to the Chairman of
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the Board in 2010 were due to his increased workload with respect to various matters confronting the Company.

NOTE
24

RESTRUCTURING CHARGES:

In February, 2009 the Company announced a corporate restructuring plan to concentrate on its core lines of business
and to improve the Company’s financial stability. The Company has consolidated operations in the U.S. and Canada,
simplified the management structure, reduced costs through synergies and operational efficiencies. As the Company
exited businesses and streamlined operations, a significant number of employees have been removed from the total
workforce. Restructuring costs were expected to be approximately $20.0 million, to be incurred over fiscal 2009 and
2010. This targeted amount included costs related to discontinued operations. In 2010 and 2009, the Company
expensed $4.8 million and $14.8 million, respectively, of restructuring costs.  Due to the disposition of Walshire and
the sale of Jevco, as described in Note 4, some of the planned restructuring costs were incurred in discontinued
operations and therefore are not included in the $14.8 million expense.  The expected costs associated with the
corporate restructuring plan for continuing operations has been revised to $17.5 million. The restructuring plan
concluded in 2010.
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In 2010, restructuring charges for continuing operations were as follows:

Restructuring
charges

Severance
and benefits

Consulting
expense Total

Provision balance at January 1, 2010 $1,891 $- $1,891
     Restructuring expense 4,777 26 4,803
     Payments 6,552 26 6,578
Provision balance at December 31, 2010 $116 $- $116

In 2009, restructuring charges for continuing operations were as follows:

Restructuring
charges

Severance
and benefits

Consulting
expense Total

Provision balance at January 1, 2009 $- $ - $-
     Restructuring expense 9,957 4,826 14,783
     Payments 8,066 4,826 12,892
Provision balance at December 31, 2009 $1,891 $- $1,891

The following table summarizes the total restructuring charges incurred by segment during 2010 for continuing
operations:

U.S. Corporate Total
Total continuing restructuring costs $1,876 $2,927 $4,803

The following table summarizes the total restructuring charges incurred by segment during 2009 for continuing
operations:

U.S. Corporate Total
Total continuing restructuring costs $2,635 $12,148 $14,783

The following table summarizes the total amount of costs expected to be incurred for each reporting segment over the
span of the restructuring plan:

U.S. Corporate Total
Total expected costs for restructuring plan $4,500 $13,000 $17,500

As a result of the implementation of the restructuring plan being ahead of target, the total restructuring costs for 2009
represent a significant portion of the total expected costs over the span of the restructuring plan.
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NOTE
25

COMPARATIVE FIGURES:

Certain comparative figures have been re-classified to conform to the financial statement presentation adopted in the
current year.

NOTE
26

SUPPLEMENTAL CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING FINANCIAL INFORMATION:

In 2004, KAI issued $125 million 7.5% senior notes due in 2014 through a private offering. These notes are
redeemable at KAI’s option on or after February 1, 2009 and are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by the
Company. On July 10, 2007, the Company through its newly formed wholly-owned subsidiary Kingsway 2007
General Partnership (“K2007GP”) issued C$100 million 6% senior unsecured debentures with a maturity date of July
11, 2012, unconditionally guaranteed by Kingsway Financial Services Inc. (“KFSI”) and KAI, another wholly-owned
subsidiary (each a “Guarantor”). The debentures will be redeemable, in whole or part, at the option of K2007GP and are
not subject to repayment by the holders prior to maturity. Interest on the debentures is payable semi-annually in
arrears in equal installments on January 10 and July 10 each year beginning January 10, 2008. The following tables
show condensed consolidating financial information for the Company as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 and for the
three years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, with a separate column for each Guarantor, the issuer and the
other businesses of the Company combined (“Non-Guarantor subsidiaries”).

Condensed Consolidating
Statement of Operations
For the year ended December
31, 2010 KFSI KAI K2007GP

Other
subsidiaries Consolidation Total

adjustments

(a
“Guarantor”)

(an “Issuer”
and a
“Guarantor”) (an “Issuer”) (the “Non-Guarantor subsidiaries")

Revenue:
          Net premiums earned $- $- $- $222,481 $ - $222,481
          Investment income 1,378 7,784 109 16,325 - 25,596
          Management fees 3 2,912 - - (2,915 ) -

1,381 10,696 109 238,806 (2,915 ) 248,077
Expenses:
          Claims incurred - - - 214,681 - 214,681
          Commissions and
premium taxes - - - 27,378 - 27,378
          Other expenses 13,845 22,018 265 62,201 (2,915 ) 95,414
          Interest expense - 18,303 2,094 (5,572 ) - 14,825

13,845 40,321 2,359 298,688 (2,915 ) 352,298
Loss before unusual items and
income taxes (12,464 ) (29,625 ) (2,250 ) (59,882 ) - (104,221 )
Gain on buy-back of debt - 11,397 7,760 - - 19,157
Gain on consolidation of debt - - - 17,821 17,821
Income (loss) from continuing
operations before income taxes (12,464 ) (18,228 ) 5,510 (42,061 ) - (67,243 )
Income taxes (recovery) (5,330 ) - 1,870 (2,658 ) - (6,118 )
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Equity in undistributed net
income of subsidiaries (53,989 ) (64,608 ) - - 118,598 -
Income (loss) from continuing
operations (61,123 ) (82,837 ) 3,640 (39,403 ) 118,598 (61,125 )
Loss from discontinued
operations, net of taxes - - - (7,508 ) - (7,508 )
Gain on disposal of
discontinued operations, net of
taxes 30,390 - - - - 30,390
Net income (loss) $(30,733 ) $(82,837 ) $3,640 $(46,911 ) $ 118,598 $(38,243 )
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Condensed Consolidating
Statement of Operations
For the year ended December
31, 2009 KFSI KAI K2007GP

Other
subsidiaries Consolidation Total

adjustments

(a
“Guarantor”)

(an “Issuer”
and a
“Guarantor”) (an “Issuer”) (the “Non-Guarantor subsidiaries")

Revenue:
              Net premiums earned $- $- $- $298,211 $ - $298,211
              Investment income (13,829 ) 9,213 4,283 11,433 - 11,100
              Management fees 33,522 16,456 - - (49,978 ) -

19,693 25,669 4,283 309,644 (49,978 ) 309,311
Expenses:
             Claims incurred - - - 236,801 - 236,801
             Commissions and
premium taxes - - - 47,694 - 47,694
             Other expenses 75,599 29,479 392 54,959 (49,978 ) 110,451
             Interest expense - 26,180 5,060 (7,328 ) - 23,912

75,599 55,659 5,452 332,126 (49,978 ) 418,858
Loss before unusual items and
income taxes (55,906 ) (29,990 ) (1,169 ) (22,482 ) - (109,547 )
Gain on buy-back of debt - 3,517 5,984 - - 9,501
Income (loss) from continuing
operations before taxes (55,906 ) (26,473 ) 4,815 (22,482 ) - (100,046 )
Income taxes (recovery) (15,388 ) - 1,689 (16,711 ) - (30,410 )
Equity in undistributed net
income of subsidiaries (29,118 ) (31,156 ) - - 60,274 -
Income (loss) from continuing
operations (69,636 ) (57,629 ) 3,126 (5,771 ) 60,274 (69,636 )
Loss from discontinued
operations, net of taxes - - - (222,836 ) - (222,836 )
Gain on disposal of
discontinued operations, net of
taxes 2,185 - - - - 2,185
Net income (loss) $(67,451 ) $(57,629 ) $3,126 $(228,607 ) $ 60,274 $(290,287 )
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Condensed Consolidating
Statement of Operations
For the year ended December
31, 2008 KFSI KAI K2007GP

Other
subsidiaries Consolidation Total

adjustments

(a
“Guarantor”)

(an “Issuer”
and a
“Guarantor”) (an “Issuer”) (the “Non-Guarantor subsidiaries")

Revenue:
            Net premiums earned $- $- $- $339,966 $ - $339,966
            Investment income 485 3,651 6,953 13,163 24,252
            Management fees 72,028 19,829 - - (91,857 ) -

72,513 23,480 6,953 353,129 (91,857 ) 364,218
Expenses:
          Claims incurred - - - 224,324 - 224,324
          Commissions and
premium taxes - - - 51,160 - 51,160
          Other expenses 89,205 28,920 237 114,551 (91,857 ) 141,056
          Interest expense 3,928 28,240 6,195 (3,341 ) - 35,022

93,133 57,160 6,432 386,694 (91,857 ) 451,562
Income (loss) before unusual
items and income tax (20,620 ) (33,680 ) 521 (33,565 ) - (87,344 )
Gain on buy-back of debt 652 652
Income (loss) from continuing (20,620 ) (33,680 ) 521 (32,913 ) - (86,692 )
operations before income taxes
Income taxes (recovery) (14,788 ) (15,998 ) 177 42,771 - 12,162
Equity in undistributed net
income of subsidiaries (93,023 ) (91,559 ) - - 184,582 -
Income (loss) from continuing
operations (98,855 ) (109,241 ) 344 (75,684 ) 184,582 (98,854 )
Income from discontinued
operations, net of taxes - - - (341,510 ) - (341,510 )
Gain on disposal of
discontinued operations, net of
tax 34,499 - - - - 34,499
Net income (loss) $(64,356 ) $(109,241 ) $344 $(417,194 ) $ 184,582 $(405,865 )
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Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheets

As at December 31,  2010 KFSI KAI K2007GP
Other

subsidiaries
Consolidation

adjustments Total

(a
“Guarantor”)

(an “Issuer”
and a

“Guarantor”) (an “Issuer”)

(the
“Non-Guarantor

subsidiaries”)
Assets
Investments in subsidiaries $26,002 $215,501 $- $ (1,211,647 ) $ 970,144 $-
Cash and cash equivalents 30,169 9,388 798 100,212 - 140,567
Securities - - - 201,907 (55,223 ) 146,684
Investment in investee - 49,079 - - - 49,079
G o o d w i l l  a n d  o t h e r
intangible assets - - - 43,959 - 43,959
Other assets 42,149 238,999 32,418 (631,711 ) 457,437 139,292
Assets held for sale - - - - - -

$98,320 $512,967 $33,216 $ (1,497,280 ) $ 1,372,358 $519,581
Liabilities and Shareholders’
Equity
Liabilities:
Loan payable $ $ $- $ (100,661 ) $ $
Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities 3,514 8,733 551 45,673 (16,086 ) 42,385
Unearned premiums - - - 66,879 - 66,879
Unpaid claims - - - 174,708 - 174,708
Senior unsecured debentures - 44,466 12,091 (35,558 ) 16,470 37,469
LROC preferred units - - - 15,884 - 15,884
Subordinated indebtedness - 90,500 - - (3,050 ) 87,450

3,514 244,360 12,642 166,925 (2,666 ) 424,775
Shareholders’ equity:
Share capital 296,139 743,243 14,867 1,438,070 (2,196,180 ) 296,139
Contributed surplus 15,440 - - - - 15,440
Retained earnings (deficit) (231,815 ) (474,636 ) 9,163 (3,122,797 ) 3,588,270 (231,815 )
Accumulated other
comprehensive income 15,042 - (3,456 ) 20,522 (17,066 ) 15,042

94,806 268,607 20,574 (1,664,205 ) 1,375,024 94,806
$98,320 $512,967 $33,216 $ (1,497,282 ) $ 1,372,358 $519,581
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Condensed Consolidating Balance
Sheets
As at December 31,
2009 KFSI KAI K2007GP

Other
subsidiaries

Consolidation
adjustments Total

(a “Guarantor”)
(an “Issuer” and a

“Guarantor”) (an “Issuer”)

(the
“Non-Guarantor

subsidiaries”)
Assets
I n v e s t m e n t s  i n
subsidiaries $ 149,147 $ 350,903 $ - $ (1,188,296) $ 688,246 $ -
C a s h  a n d  c a s h
equivalents 12,467 12,545 1,376 23,189 - 49,577
Securities - - - 291,262 (10,576 ) 280,686
Goodwill and other
intangible assets - - - 37,543 - 37,543
Other assets 10,066 256,282 97,157 (752,003 ) 543,587 155,089
Assets held for sale - - - 1,434,460 - 1,434,460

$ 171,680 $ 619,730 $ 98,533 $ (153,845 ) $ 1,221,257 $ 1,957,355
L i a b i l i t i e s  a n d
Shareholders’ Equity
Liabilities:
Loan payable $ - $ 215,688 $ - $ (166,499 ) $ 17,033 $ 66,222
Accounts payable
and accrued
liabilities 2,342 21,520 2,275 49,996 (18,738 ) 57,395
Unearned premiums - - - 85,635 - 85,635
Unpaid claims - - - 180,120 6,565 186,685
Senior  unsecured
debentures - 117,975 79,156 (3,488 ) (16,879 ) 176,764
S u b o r d i n a t e d
indebtedness - 90,500 - - (3,085 ) 87,415
Liabilities held for
sale - - - 1,127,900 - 1,127,900

2,342 445,683 81,431 1,273,664 (15,104 ) 1,788,016
Shareholders’ equity:
Share capital 295,291 541,967 14,867 1,515,276 (2,072,110) 295,291
Contributed surplus 20,549 - - - - 20,549
Retained earnings
(deficit) (193,572 ) (367,920 ) 5,522 (2,966,589) 3,328,987 (193,572 )
Accumulated other
comprehensive
income 47,070 - (3,287 ) 23,804 (20,516 ) 47,071

169,338 174,047 17,102 (1,427,509) 1,236,361 169,339
$ 171,680 $ 619,730 $ 98,533 $ (153,845 ) $ 1,221,257 $ 1,957,355
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of
Cash Flows
For the year ended
December 31,  2010 KFSI KAI K2007GP

Other
subsidiaries

Consolidation
adjustments Total

(a
“Guarantor”)

(an “Issuer”
and a

“Guarantor”) (an “Issuer”)

(the
“Non-Guarantor

subsidiaries”)
Cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities:
Net income (loss) $(30,733 ) $(82,837 ) $3,640 $ (46,911 ) $ 118,598 $(38,243 )
Loss (income) from
discontinued operations (30,390 ) - - 7,508 - (22,882 )
Equity in undistributed
earnings in subsidiaries 53,989 64,609 - - (118,598 ) -
Other (322,830 ) 5,641 60,967 61,151 191,360 (3,711 )

(329,964 ) (12,587 ) 64,607 21,748 191,360 (64,836 )
Financing Activities:
Increase (decrease) in share
capital, net 848 201,276 (201,276 ) 848
Repurchase of common
shares for cancellation - - - - - -
Contributed surplus (5,109 ) - - - - (5,109 )
Dividends paid - - - - - -
Increase (decrease) in bank
indebtedness and loans
payable - (120,264 ) (65,185 ) (66,187 ) 185,449 (66,187 )
Increase in LROC Units - - - 15,884 - 15,884
Decrease in senior unsecured
indebtedness - (62,112 ) - - (77,183 ) (139,295 )

(4,261 ) 18,900 (65,185 ) (50,303 ) (93,010 ) (193,859 )
Investing Activities:
Purchase of securities - - - (113,851 ) - (113,851 )
Proceeds from sale of
securities - - - 218,636 - 218,636
Proceeds from sale of
discontinued operations 253,553 54,022 - - - 307,575
Acquisitions 98,350 (18,473 ) - 4,721 (98,350 ) (13,752 )
Other 24 (45,019 ) - (3,928 ) - (48,923 )

351,927 (9,470 ) - 105,578 (98,350 ) 349,685
Net change in cash and cash
equivalents 17,702 (3,157 ) (578 ) 77,023 - 90,990
Cash and cash equivalents,
beginning of period 12,467 12,545 1,376 23,189 - 49,577
Cash and cash equivalents,
end of period 30,169 9,388 798 100,212 - 140,567
Net change in cash and cash
equivalents from
discontinued operations - - - - - -

$30,169 $9,388 $798 $ 100,212 $ - $140,567
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of
Cash Flows
For the year ended
December 31,  2009 KFSI KAI K2007GP

Other
subsidiaries

Consolidation
adjustments Total

(a
“Guarantor”)

(an “Issuer”
and a

“Guarantor”) (an “Issuer”)

(the
“Non-Guarantor

subsidiaries”)
Cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities:
Net income (loss) $(67,451 ) $(57,629 ) $3,126 $ (228,607 ) $ 60,274 $(290,287 )
Loss (income) from
discontinued operations (2,185 ) - - 222,836 - 220,651
Equity in undistributed
earnings in subsidiaries 29,118 31,156 - - (60,274 ) -
Other 17,096 (18,724 ) 1,830 (833,390 ) 138,522 (694,666 )

(23,422 ) (45,197 ) 4,956 (839,161 ) 138,522 (764,302 )
Financing Activities:
Increase (decrease) in share
capital, net - 82,834 4,200 (87,034 ) -
Repurchase of common
shares for cancellation (27,053 ) - - - - (27,053 )
Contributed surplus 10,758 - - - - 10,758
Dividends paid (1,849 ) - - - - (1,849 )
Increase (decrease) in bank
indebtedness and loans
payable - 38,278 (8,323 ) 32 (29,955 ) 32
Decrease in senior unsecured
indebtedness - (3,508 ) - - (4,931 ) (8,439 )

(18,144 ) 117,604 (4,123 ) 32 (121,920 ) (26,551 )
Investing Activities:
Purchase of securities - - - (1,608,341 ) - (1,608,341)
Proceeds from sale of
securities - - - 2,339,283 - 2,339,283
Proceeds from sale of
discontinued operations 13,674 30,184 - - - 43,858
Acquisitions 16,602 (76,302 ) - 76,302 (16,602 ) -
Other 2,422 (19,347 ) - 18,027 - 1,102

32,698 (65,465 ) - 825,271 (16,602 ) 775,902
Net change in cash and cash
equivalents (8,868 ) 6,942 833 (13,858 ) - (14,951 )
Cash and cash equivalents,
beginning of period 21,335 5,603 543 27,898 - 55,379
Cash and cash equivalents,
end of period 12,467 12,545 1,376 14,040 - 40,428
Net change in cash and cash
equivalents from
discontinued operations - - - 9,149 - 9,149
Cash and cash equivalents of
continuing operations, end

$12,467 $12,545 $1,376 $ 23,189 $ - $49,577
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of
Cash Flows
For the year ended December
31,  2008 KFSI KAI K2007GP

Other
subsidiaries

Consolidation
adjustments Total

(a
“Guarantor”)

(an “Issuer”
and a

“Guarantor”) (an “Issuer”)

(the
“Non-Guarantor

subsidiaries”)
Cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities:
Net income (loss) $(64,356 ) $(109,241 ) $344 $ (417,194 ) $ 184,582 $(405,865 )
Loss (income) from
discontinued operations (34,499 ) - - 341,510 - 307,011
Equity in undistributed
earnings in subsidiaries 93,023 91,559 - - (184,582 ) -
Other (55,544 ) (34,485 ) (599 ) (532,019 ) 239,062 (383,585 )

(61,376 ) (52,167 ) (255 ) (607,703 ) 239,062 (482,439 )
Financing Activities:
Increase (decrease) in share
capital, net 89 116,683 - - (116,683 ) 89
Repurchase of common
shares for cancellation (5,172 ) - - - - (5,172 )
Contributed surplus 2,172 - - - - 2,172
Dividends paid (15,460 ) - - - - (15,460 )
Increase (decrease) in bank
indebtedness and loans
payable - (330 ) 232 29 98 29
Decrease in senior unsecured
indebtedness - - - - (34,877 ) (34,877 )

(18,371 ) 116,353 232 29 (151,462 ) (53,219 )
Investing Activities:
Purchase of securities (1,625 ) - - (497,385 ) - (499,010 )
Proceeds from sale of
securities 1,184 - - 909,946 - 911,130
Proceeds from sale of
discontinued operations - - - 44,067 - 44,067
Acquisitions 87,600 - - - (87,600 ) -
Other 207 (65,543 ) - 68,942 - 3,606

87,366 (65,543 ) - 525,570 (87,600 ) 459,793
Net change in cash and cash
equivalents 7,619 (1,357 ) (23 ) (82,104 ) - (75,865 )
Cash and cash equivalents,
beginning of period 13,716 6,960 566 101,453 - 122,695
Cash and cash equivalents,
end of period 21,335 5,603 543 19,349 46,830
Net change in cash and cash
equivalents from
discontinued operations - - - 8,549 - 8,549
Cash and cash equivalents of
continuing operations, end of

$21,335 $5,603 $543 $ 27,898 $ - $55,379
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NOTE
27

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS:

Subsequent to year end, the Company has given notice to its Trust Preferred trustees of its intention to exercise its
voluntary right to defer interest payments for up to 20 quarters, pursuant to the contractual terms of its outstanding
Trust Preferred indentures, which permit interest deferral. This action is expected to reduce the Company’s annual cash
debt service by approximately $4.1 million and does not constitute a default under its Trust preferred indentures or
any of its other debt indentures.

On March 30, 2011, the Company closed the sale of its wholly owned subsidiary Hamilton Risk Management
Company and its subsidiaries, including Kingsway Amigo Insurance Company, to Acadia Acquisition Partners,
L.P.  Kingsway will act as the general partner and hold a limited partnership investment.
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SUPPLEMENTAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

(Tabular amounts in thousands of U.S. dollars, except for per share amounts)
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

Net premiums earned $ 222,481 $ 298,211 $ 339,966 $ 342,667 $ 197,108

I n c o m e /  ( l o s s )  f r o m  c o n t i n u i n g
operations (61,125) $(69,636) $(98,854) $ (49,949) $ 139,049

Income/ loss) from continuing operations
per share (1.17) $ (1.29) $ (1.79) $ (1.11) $ 0.40
Long-term obligations and redeemable
preferred stock (including
long-term debt ,  capi ta l  leases  and
redeemable preferred stock)*  $ 140,803 $ 330,401 $ 338,808 $ 373,656 $ 348,652

Total Assets  $ 519,581 $ 522,895 $ 710,180 $1,048,848 $1,194,371

Cash dividend declared per common
share - 0.04 0.30 0.30 0.23

*There are no redeemable preferred stocks or capital leases held by the Company for the periods indicated above.

The information above relates to continuing operations of the Company, and information for the periods 2009, 2008,
2007 and 2006 above, has been restated to adjust for discontinued operations. Refer to Note 4 of the financial
statements for the discontinued operations and related contingencies of the Company.
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The following management’s discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial
statements and related notes. Our financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles ("GAAP"). Note 22 of the consolidated financial statements provides a reconciliation of
Canadian and United States GAAP. Additional information relating to Kingsway Financial Services Inc. ("Kingsway"
or “The Company”) is available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com and on the EDGAR section of the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission's ("SEC's") website at www.sec.gov, each of which can also be accessed from our website
www.kingsway-financial.com.

Date of MD&A
Unless otherwise noted, the information contained in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis is based on
information available to management as of March 31, 2011.

Caution Regarding Forward Looking Statements

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis includes “forward looking statements” that are subject to risks and
uncertainties. These statements relate to future events or future performance and reflect management’s current
expectations and assumptions. The words “anticipate”, “expect”, “believe”, “may”, “should”, “estimate”, “project”, “outlook”, “forecast”
or similar words are used to identify such forward looking information. Such forward looking statements reflect
management’s current beliefs and are based on information currently available to management of the Company. A
number of factors could cause actual events, performance or results to differ materially from the events, performance
and results discussed in the forward-looking statements. For information identifying important factors that could cause
actual results to differ materially from those anticipated in the forward looking statements, see the heading Risk
Factors in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis section.

Reporting Currency
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As all of the Company’s operations are in the United States or are conducted in U.S. dollars, effective December 31,
2005 the Company has prepared its financial statements and its Management’s Discussion and Analysis in U.S. dollars
in order to provide more meaningful information to their users. The Company’s functional currencies, however, will
remain Canadian dollars for Canadian and head office operations and U.S. dollars for U.S. operations. To effect this
conversion, figures contained in this report have been translated into U.S. dollars using the current rate method,
pursuant to which the consolidated statements of earnings and cash flows have been translated using the average rate
of exchange for the relevant year, all assets and liabilities have been translated using the relevant year end rate of
exchange and share capital has been translated using the rates of exchange in effect as of the dates of various capital
transactions. Foreign exchange differences arising from the translations as described above are included in
shareholders’ equity under the caption “Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income”. All relevant financial information
has been restated to reflect the Company’s results as if they had been historically reported in U.S. dollars.

All of the dollar amounts in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis are expressed in U.S. dollars, except where
otherwise indicated. References to “dollars” or “$” are to U.S. dollars and any references to “C$” are to Canadian dollars.
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DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

During 2008, the Company disposed of Canadian subsidiary York Fire and Casualty Insurance Company (“York Fire”).

During 2009 the Company disposed of:
• HI Holdings and its subsidiary Zephyr Insurance Company (“Zephyr”);
• the assets of Avalon Risk Management Inc. (“Avalon”); and
•Walshire Assurance Company (“Walshire”) and its subsidiary Lincoln General Insurance Company (“Lincoln General”).

During 2010 the Company disposed of:
• Jevco Insurance Company (“Jevco”);
• American Country Insurance Company (“American Country”); and
• American Service Insurance Company, Inc. (“American Service”).

For further details on the circumstances of the disposal of Lincoln General and Jevco refer to the Corporate Overview
section below.

Each of the operations above is considered to be discontinued operations and is recorded as such in the statement of
financial position under the item “Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes”. Assets and liabilities of
discontinued operations have been reclassified and disclosed in the consolidated balance sheet as “Assets or Liabilities
held for sale”. In this Management Discussion and Analysis, unless otherwise disclosed, only continuing operating
activities of Kingsway are included.

NON-GAAP MEASURES

The Company uses both GAAP and certain non-GAAP measures to assess performance. Securities regulators require
that companies caution readers about non-GAAP measures that do not have a standardized meaning under GAAP and
are unlikely to be comparable to similar measures used by other companies. Kingsway, like many insurance
organizations, analyzes performance based on underwriting ratios such as combined, expense and loss ratios. The loss
ratio is derived by dividing the amount of net claims incurred by net premiums earned. The expense ratio is derived by
dividing the sum of commissions and premium taxes and general and administrative expenses by net premiums
earned. The combined ratio is the sum of the loss ratio and the expense ratio. A combined ratio below 100%
demonstrates underwriting profit whereas a combined ratio over 100% demonstrates an underwriting loss. We believe
that consistently delivering an underwriting profit is a key measure of performance of the underwriting business of a
property and casualty insurance company. The Company includes all corporate overhead in the calculation of its
expense ratio and combined ratio, a policy that may vary from the policies of other insurance companies.

CORPORATE OVERVIEW

In 2007, Kingsway’s underwriting results began to reflect operational challenges resulting from prior acquisitions. It
became clear the company had grown too quickly and beyond its capability to sustain a competitive and profitable
business model.

In 2008, Kingsway began consolidating operations in response to changing market conditions and evidence the
Company lacked the flexibility necessary to stay competitive. Actions taken in 2008 included divesting York Fire and
integrating American Country Insurance Company (“American Country”) into American Service Insurance Company
(“American Service”).

Throughout 2009, the Company continued to streamline operations and took decisions to:
• place certain unprofitable lines of business into run-off;
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• discontinue all business written through the managing general agent distribution channel;
• consolidate the Canadian operations within Jevco;
• create a shared service model to support the U.S. operations;
• apply disciplined and consistent processes to claims management;
• implement a process enabling an optimal staffing model;
•enhance the governance structure within the group through the centralization of regulatory and legal compliance units,
ensuring greater transparency of issues emanating from the operating units.

In addition to these operational changes, as a result of the review process and the decision to focus on core lines of
business, Kingsway disposed of HI Holdings and its subsidiary Zephyr, as well as substantially all of the assets of
Avalon. Also, in order to increase capital within regulated operating companies and to release excess capital, the
Company commuted all intercompany reinsurance treaties. The capital made available from these disposals and
commutations was used primarily to repurchase debt and shares as part of a capital initiative which began in May
2009.

In May, 2009 the Company placed all Lincoln General business into voluntary run-off. Following this action, the
Company continued to experience losses from unfavourable reserve development at Lincoln General. The reduction in
shareholders’ equity as a result of the operational losses within the group, combined with the economic pressures on
our balance sheet, greatly reduced the Company’s capital flexibility and created the potential of exposing the Company
to negative covenants in its trust indentures (for details on the restrictions of these negative covenants see the
‘Liquidity and Capital Resources’ section on page 20 of this Management Discussion and Analysis). These ongoing
losses contributed to the financial strength rating downgrades of all operating companies within the group.
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On October 19, 2009, with the objective of protecting the interests of all of our stakeholders, KAI, an indirect wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, disposed of its entire interest in its wholly owned subsidiary, Walshire, the sole
shareholder of Lincoln General. At that time, all of the stock of Walshire was donated to charities, and with this
disposition Lincoln General ceased being a member of the Kingsway group of companies.

The Pennsylvania Insurance Department (“DOI”) has challenged the disposition of Lincoln General.  On November 20,
2009, the DOI filed a complaint in the Commonwealth Court of Pennsylvania (“Commonwealth Court”) against the
Company, KAI and Walshire, seeking a declaration that the disposition was unlawful and not valid.  The Company
strongly disagrees with the DOI’s position and maintains that the donations of Walshire’s shares to the charities were
lawful and valid.  On November 19, 2009, the day before the DOI’s complaint, the Company and KAI filed a
complaint in the Commonwealth Court against the DOI seeking a declaration that the statute upon which the DOI
principally relies did not apply to the donations.  In response to the Company’s complaint, the DOI filed a New Matter
(in essence, a Counterclaim). The Company has demurred to each of the claims in the DOI’s complaint, thereby putting
the legal sufficiency of the DOI’s claims at issue.  The analogous procedure in Ontario to a demurrer would be a
motion to strike out a pleading for failure to disclose a cause of action. On April 1, 2010, the Commonwealth Court
sustained the demurrers, rejecting the arguments made by DOI, and dismissing all of the DOI’s claims against the
Company. On April 30, 2010, the DOI appealed the April 1, 2010 decision to the Pennsylvania Supreme Court. The
Company is opposing this appeal, which is scheduled for oral argument on April 12, 2011.

If the lower court decision is reversed, the complaints would proceed through the courts in due course.  If the courts
ultimately do not find for the Company, they might revert control of Lincoln General back to the Company, which
would result in Lincoln General’s financial results being included with the Company’s consolidated financial
statements. If the Commonwealth Court deems the transaction to be invalid, it could ultimately lead to Kingsway
being in breach of its public debt covenants should Lincoln General go into liquidation while still part of Kingsway.
Kingsway's public debt is material, and a breach in covenants could lead to the liquidation of the Company if principal
and interest payments are called before maturity.

In late November 2009, A.M. Best Company indicated that, due to the continued deteriorating financial condition of
the group and the impact of Lincoln General, the financial strength rating downgrades of our operating companies
were possible.

In order to preserve the inherent value of Jevco for our stakeholders and increase the financial flexibility of the
Company, on November 23, 2009, Kingsway announced its intention to sell Jevco, the Company’s Canadian insurance
operation. This disposition would also allow Jevco to continue its 20 years of profitability, and its financial strength to
be rated independently of the Kingsway group. On March 29, 2010, the Company closed on the disposition of Jevco
for C$263.3 million. Following the sale of Jevco, the Company had no further Canadian operations and moved its
corporate function to the U.S. to better align the support functions of the group with its continuing operations.
Subsequent to the close of the Jevco disposition, Kingsway repurchased $84.8 million of par value of its outstanding
debt securities for $69.7 million during the remainder of 2010.

On June 21, 2010, Kingsway announced the acquisition of 100% of the equity interest in JBA Associates, Inc. (“JBA”),
a managing general agency specializing in assigned risk automobile insurance.  JBA represented the primary
competitor to one of the Company’s existing businesses, Northeast Alliance Insurance Agency, LLC (“NEA”).  The two
businesses are being organized in 2011 to run as one business under the name Assigned Risk Solutions (“ARS”).

On January 1, 2011, Kingsway announced the closing of its previously announced going-public transaction involving
its subsidiaries American Country and American Service.  Following the transaction, Kingsway continues to own $18
million preferred equity in the publicly traded holding company, Atlas Financial Holdings, Inc. (“Atlas”), as well as
approximately 75% of the common equity in Atlas but has no control over the operations or the board of directors
given certain agreements which limit its voting control to approximately 30%.
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On June 14, 2010, the Company announced its intention to sell its wholly owned subsidiary, Mendota Insurance
Company (“Mendota”), a non-standard insurance writer headquartered in Eagan, Minnesota.  Following a lengthy
process, Kingsway is no longer pursuing the sale of Mendota after its attempts did not yield an acceptable
offer.  Kingsway is refocusing Mendota to operate on a significantly smaller and more profitable premium base
beginning in 2011.

In a related move, Kingsway will also stop voluntarily issuing insurance policies by mid-year 2011 through its wholly
owned subsidiary, Universal Casualty Company (“UCC”).  UCC’s non-standard automobile business in Illinois and
Indiana, states which have been historically profitable for the Company, will be produced by a wholly owned
insurance agency of Kingsway, KAI Advantage Auto, Inc. (“Advantage”) and issued, beginning in mid-year 2011, by
Mendakota Insurance Company (“Mendakota”), a wholly owned subsidiary of Mendota.  These actions related to
Mendota, Mendakota and UCC will allow Kingsway to deploy its resources more efficiently and operate its
non-standard automobile business through fewer, better-capitalized subsidiaries as it seeks to return the business to
profitability.

Following all of the transactions described above, Kingsway’s primary continuing operations are the insuring of
automobile risks in the United States for drivers who do not meet the criteria for coverage by standard automobile
insurers. Kingsway conducts this business through Mendota, Mendakota, Advantage, ARS and Kingsway Amigo
Insurance Company (“Amigo”).  For the year ended December 31, 2010, non-standard automobile insurance accounted
for 92% of gross premiums written in the Company’s continuing operations. The Company also owns wholly owned
reinsurance subsidiaries domiciled in Bermuda and Barbados (all related party reinsurance treaties were commuted in
2009) and wholly owned insurance agency in the U.S. called Kingsway America Agency Inc. (formerly known as
Avalon Risk Management Inc.) (substantially all of which assets were sold in 2009).

On March 30, 2011, the Company closed the sale of its wholly owned subsidiary Hamilton Risk Management
Company and its subsidiaries, including Kingsway Amigo Insurance Company, to Acadia Acquisition Partners,
L.P.  Kingsway will act as the general partner and hold a limited partnership investment.
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REVENUES

Premium Income and Competitive Factors
Revenues reported in our consolidated financial statements are derived from insurance premiums earned, investment
income and net realized gains. Total revenue from continuing operations in 2010 was $248.1 million, a decrease of
20% over the $309.3 million from 2009 which was a 15% decrease over 2008.

In order to stay competitive, Kingsway competes on a number of factors such as distribution strength, pricing and
agency relationships, service, and market reputation. In our core non-standard automobile lines in the United States,
our primary offerings are policies at the minimum prescribed limits in each state, typically not greater than $50,000
per occurrence. As such, we do not generally compete directly with the larger writers of this product, namely,
Progressive, Allstate, State Farm and GEICO. Our primary competitors in this fragmented market are companies such
as Bristol West Holdings Inc., a member of Farmers Insurance Group of Companies, Infinity Property and Casualty
and Direct General Corporation.

At the same time, we compete with numerous smaller insurance companies in regional markets.  The fragmented
nature of the non-standard automobile markets in the United States means that many of our competitors are small
companies with limited capital resources who have traditionally relied upon the support of reinsurers to supplement
their capital.  Like us, many of our competitors serve the independent agency market, as well as sell insurance directly
to customers in some cases.  On the other hand, direct underwriters typically operate in standard lines of personal
automobile and property insurance where they have certain competitive advantages over agency underwriters. These
advantages include increased name recognition obtained through extensive media advertising, loyalty of the customer
base to the insurer rather than to an independent agency and, potentially, reduced policy acquisition costs and
increased customer retention.

From time to time, the niche non-standard market attracts competition from new entrants. In many cases, these
entrants are looking for growth, and, as a result price their insurance below the rates that we believe provide an
acceptable premium for the related risk. We firmly believe that it is not in our best interest to compete solely on price,
and as a result, occasionally we experience a loss of market share during periods of intense price competition or “soft”
market conditions. In 2010 and continuing in 2011 the Company has carried out a detailed review of its price
adequacy in the territories in which it operates. The Company has taken steps to terminate business where price
adequacy is unlikely to be achieved within an acceptable period of time.

Ultimately, we believe that our ability to compete successfully in our industry is based on our ability to:

• identify markets that are most likely to produce an underwriting profit;
• operate with a disciplined underwriting approach;
• offer diversified products and geographic platforms;
• practice prudent claims management;
• reserve appropriately for unpaid claims;
• strive for cost containment and the economics of shared support functions where deemed appropriate; and
• provide services and competitive commissions to our independent agents and brokers.

Finally, changes to legislative or industry developments can lead to increased competition in our markets or reduce
our ability to price risks appropriately. New competition from these developments can cause the prices for insurance
to fall, adversely affecting our underwriting profitability.

Our underwriting philosophy stresses receiving an adequate premium and spread of risks for the business we accept.
Rather than attempt to select individual risks, we seek to set premium rates at levels that should generate profitable
underwriting. We regularly monitor premium adequacy both by territory and class of business and make adjustments
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as required. Typically, we do not reduce our pricing when competitors offer to underwrite certain classes of business
at premium rates that we believe are below acceptable levels. Instead, we focus on maintaining our premium per risk
rather than write a large number of risks at premiums that we believe would be inadequate and thus unprofitable.  As a
result, our premium volumes may be impacted.

As a normal part of operations, we regularly consider and implement initiatives to address adverse profitability trends
in our business. These initiatives vary by jurisdiction, but may include tightening of underwriting requirements, price
increases, termination of underperforming programs, reduction in agent commissions, policy non-renewals (where
permitted) and other administrative changes. In most U.S. jurisdictions premium rates must be approved by the
applicable regulatory authority. Once approved, an insurance company is prohibited from altering rates without
regulatory approval for changes. In the United States, we market and distribute our products through a network of
independent agents.  We maintain an “open market” approach which enables these agents to place business with us with
no minimum commitments and provides us with a broad, flexible and scalable distribution network. We believe that
this approach is unique compared with the approach of many of the non-standard automobile insurance companies.
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Our strategy focuses on developing and maintaining strong relationships with our independent agents. We continually
strive to provide excellent service in the markets in which we operate, communicating through a variety of channels as
we look for opportunities to increase efficiency and reduce operating costs with our agents.  Our agents generally have
the authority to bind policies on our behalf, providing specified insurance coverages within our prescribed
underwriting guidelines. These guidelines prescribe the kinds and amounts of coverage that may be written and the
premium rates that may be charged for specified categories of risk. In most cases, we do not delegate authority to
settle or adjust claims, establish underwriting guidelines, develop rates or enter into other transactions or commitments
through our independent agents.

Our automobile insurance products provide coverage in three major areas: liability, accident benefits and physical
damage. Liability insurance provides coverage where our insured is responsible for an automobile accident, and as a
result, for the payment for injuries and property damage to third parties. Accident benefit policies or personal injury
protection policies provide coverage for loss of income, medical and rehabilitation expenses for insured persons who
are injured in an automobile accident, regardless of fault. Physical damage coverages provide for the payment of
damages to an insured automobile arising from a collision with another object or from other risks such as fire or theft.
Automobile physical damage and liability coverages generally provide more predictable results than automobile
accident benefit or personal injury insurance.

Non-Standard Automobile
Non-standard automobile insurance is principally provided to individuals who do not qualify for standard automobile
insurance coverage because of their payment history, driving record, place of residence, age, vehicle type or other
factors. Such drivers typically represent higher than normal risks and pay higher insurance rates for comparable
coverage.

Non-standard automobile insurance is generally accompanied by increased loss exposure, higher claims experience
and a higher incidence of consumer and service provider fraud. In addition, policy renewal rates tend to be low for
non-standard automobile policies as policyholders often lapse their policies because of non−payment of premiums and
subsequently reapply as new policyholders. This creates an on-going requirement to replace non-renewing
policyholders with new policyholders and to react promptly to issue cancellation notices for non-payment of
premiums to mitigate potential bad debt write-offs. These factors, however, are mitigated to some extent by higher
premium rates, the tendency of high-risk individuals to own low value automobiles, and generally lower limits of
insurance coverage as insureds tend to purchase coverage at the minimum prescribed limits.

The insuring of non-standard drivers is often transitory. When their driving records improve, insureds may qualify to
obtain insurance in the standard market at lower premium rates. We often cancel policies for non-payment of premium
and, following a period of lapse in coverage, insureds frequently return to purchase a new policy at a later date. As a
result, our non-standard automobile insurance policies experience a retention rate that is lower than that experienced
for standard market risks. Most of our insureds pay their premiums on a monthly installment basis and we typically
limit our risk of non-payment of premiums by requiring a deposit for future insurance premiums and the prepayment
of subsequent installments.

In the United States, automobile insurers are generally required to participate in various involuntary residual market
pools and assigned risk plans that provide automobile insurance coverage to individuals or other entities that are
unable to purchase such coverage in the voluntary market. Participation in these pools in most jurisdictions is in
proportion to voluntary writings of selected lines of business in that jurisdiction.

In June 2010 the Company announced that it has made an investment in Assigned Risk Solutions Ltd. (“ARS”),
following which the Company would have 100% interest in ARS. ARS is a managing general agency that specializes
in assigned risk automobile insurance similar to the company’s existing NEA subsidiary. The Company is currently
integrating the operations of ARS and NEA.
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In the United States, we write non-standard automobile insurance in various states, predominantly Florida, Illinois and
California. In the United States, non-standard automobile insurance policies generally have lower limits of insurance
commensurate with the minimum coverage requirement under the statute of the state in which we write the business.
These limits of liability are typically not greater than $50,000 per occurrence.

Table 1 and Table 2 below set forth our gross premiums written by line of business and by geographic region,
respectively, for the Company’s continuing operations for the periods indicated. In the year ended December 31, 2010,
gross premiums written from non-standard automobile insurance decreased 18% to $196.0 million.  Non-standard
automobile insurance accounted for 92% and 91% of our gross premiums written for the years ended December 31,
2010 and 2009, respectively. The significant decrease in gross premiums written is due to the various steps taken to
discontinue unprofitable lines and exit the managing general agent distribution channel, primarily at UCC. Also
contributing to the reduction in non-standard automobile premium volumes is the continuing poor economic
conditions in much of the U.S. The non-standard automobile insurance market tends to contract during periods of high
unemployment as is currently being experienced in the U.S.
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TABLE 1  Gross premiums written by line of business
For the year ended December 31 (in millions of dollars, except for percentages)

−2010 2009
Non-Standard Automobile $ 196.0 91.6% $ 238.4 91.0%
Property (including liability) 8.1 3.8 8.6 3.3
Total Personal $ 204.1 95.4% $ 247.0 94.3%
Commercial Automobile 9.9 4.6%  $ 14.9 5.7%
Total Gross Premiums Written $ 214.0 100.0% $ 261.9 100.0%

TABLE 2   Gross premiums written by state
For the year ended December 31 (in millions of dollars, except for percentages)

2010 2009
Florida $ 95.1 44.4% $ 95.6 36.5%
Illinois 18.5 8.6 33.0 12.6
California 25.3 11.8 36.6 14.0
Texas 13.1 6.1 13.7 5.2
Colorado 13.2 6.2 15.3 5.8
Other 48.8 22.9 67.7 25.9
Total Gross Premiums Written $ 214.0 100.0% $ 261.9 100.0%

Commercial Automobile
Commercial automobile policies provide coverage for low limit, light weight, individual unit or small fleet
commercial vehicles. In the year ended December 31, 2010, gross premiums written from commercial automobile
decreased by 34% to $9.9 million compared to $14.9 million in 2009. This decrease represents the Company’s move
away from higher limit commercial business.

Property (including liability)
In 2010, the personal property premium relates to Amigo’s participation in the National Flood Insurance Program
(“NFIP”).  The program is a cooperative undertaking of the insurance industry and the Federal Emergency Management
Agency (“FEMA”) which allows participating property and casualty insurance companies to write and service the
Standard Flood Insurance Policy in their own names.  Under the program, Amigo receives an expense allowance for
policies written and claims processed while the Federal Government retains responsibility for underwriting all losses.
In the year ended December 31, 2010, gross premiums written from personal and commercial property lines of
business decreased by 6% to $8.1 million compared to $8.6 million in 2009.

INVESTMENT SECURITIES AND INVESTMENT INCOME

Overview and Strategy
We manage our securities portfolio to support the liabilities of our insurance operations, to preserve capital and to
generate investment returns. We invest predominantly in corporate and government bonds with relatively short
durations. The securities are managed by a third-party investment management firm and the Investment and Capital
Committee of the Board of Directors monitors their performance and their compliance with both their individual
mandate and the Company’s investment policies and guidelines. We consider financed premium receivables to be a
part of our securities portfolio.
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Our investment guidelines stress the preservation of capital, market liquidity to support payment of our liabilities and
the diversification of risk. With respect to fixed income securities, we generally purchase securities with the
expectation of holding them to their maturities.

In accordance with the preservation of capital as a key component of the investment policy, the Company undertook
the strategy in early 2009 of liquidating substantially all of the common share equity portfolio with the objectives of
reducing the volatility of the balance sheet and protecting the Company’s capital. The proceeds from the disposal were
reinvested in high quality fixed income securities.

Portfolio Composition
At December 31, 2010, we held cash and securities (including financed premiums) with a fair value of $300.9 million.
As at December 31, 2010, we held a securities portfolio comprised primarily of fixed income securities. As described
above, the Company elected in early 2009 to eliminate its exposure to common shares. Insurance subsidiaries’
securities must comply with applicable regulations that prescribe the type, quality and concentration of securities.
These regulations in the various jurisdictions in which our insurance subsidiaries are domiciled permit investments in
government, state, municipal and corporate bonds, and preferred and common equities, within specified limits and
subject to certain qualifications. Our U.S. operations typically invest in U.S. dollar denominated securities to mitigate
their exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
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Table 3 below summarizes the fair value of the securities portfolio, including cash and cash equivalents and financed
premiums, at the dates indicated.

TABLE 3   Fair value of securities portfolio
As at December 31 (in millions of dollars)

2010 2009
Type of security
Term deposits $ 18.7 $ 10.0
Government bonds 104.9 146.7
Corporate debt securities 23.0 115.8
Subtotal $ 146.6 $ 272.5
Preferred shares 0.1 8.2
Financed premiums 13.6 15.2
Cash and cash equivalents 140.6 49.6
Total $ 300.9 $ 345.5

TABLE 4                      Investment results before the effect of income taxes
For the year ended December 31 (in millions of dollars)

2010 2009
Average securities, cash & cash equivalents $ 308.8 $ 465.4
Interest income $ 9.5 $ 15.8
 Percent earned on average investments (annualized) 3.1% 3.4%
Net investment income  $ 16.4  $ 0.1

 Investment results, including miscellaneous income and investment expenses, before the effect of income taxes are
reflected in Table 4 above.

Investment income from continuing operations, excluding net realized gains, increased to $16.4 million in 2010
compared to $0.1 million in 2009.  The increase is primarily due to the following three factors:
•a net foreign exchange gain of approximately $2.2 million in 2010, as compared to a net foreign exchange loss of
$12.9 million in 2009, due to the impact of the strengthening Canadian dollar on:

• Canadian dollar assets in the Canadian head office; and
• net Canadian dollar liabilities in the U.S. operations;

•a reduction in interest income from lower yields and from the duration and risk profile of the portfolio having been
reduced; and
•a reduction in the size of the securities portfolio as a result of reduced volumes of business in the Company’s
continuing operations, the acceleration of claim payments and debt and equity buybacks and other corporate
initiatives.

The Company incurred net realized gains in 2010 of $9.2 million compared to $11.0 million in 2009.  The net gain in
2010 is primarily due to gains realized from the liquidation of fixed income securities in the Company’s insurance
subsidiaries in the third and fourth quarter. There were no impairments recorded during 2010 for other than
temporarily impaired securities. The net gain in 2009 is due to gains realized from the liquidation of fixed income
securities in the Company’s captive reinsurance company in Barbados to facilitate the related party reinsurance
commutation transactions, partially offset by realized losses on the disposal of the Company’s common equity
portfolio and impairments for other than temporarily impaired securities.
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For a more detailed analysis of investment income and net realized gains see note 5 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.
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Liquidity and Cash Flow Risk

TABLE 5  Fair value by contractual maturity date
As at December 31 (in millions of dollars)

2010 2009
Due in less than one year $ 39.8 27.1% $ 30.8 11.0%
Due in one through five years 72.7 49.6 161.8 57.6
Due after five through ten years 29.1 19.8 55.2 19.7
Due after ten years 5.1 3.5 32.9 11.7
Total $ 146.7 100.0% $ 280.7 100.0%

Table 5 above summarizes the fair value by contractual maturities of the fixed income securities portfolio, excluding
cash and cash equivalents, at the dates indicated.

At December 31, 2010, 77% of the fixed income securities, including treasury bills, government bonds and corporate
bonds had contractual maturities of five years or less. Actual maturities may differ from contractual maturities because
certain issuers have the right to call or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties. The Company
holds cash and high grade short-term assets which, along with fixed income security maturities, management believes
are sufficient for the payment of claims on a timely basis. In the event that additional cash is required to meet
obligations to our policyholders, we believe that the high quality, liquid securities in the portfolios provide us with
sufficient liquidity.

Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that we will incur losses due to adverse changes in interest or currency exchange rates and
equity prices. Having disposed of the common equity securities and given our U.S. operations typically invest in U.S.
dollar denominated securities, our primary market risk exposures in the securities portfolio are to changes in interest
rates.

Because the securities portfolio is comprised of primarily fixed income securities that are usually held to maturity,
periodic changes in interest rate levels generally impact our financial results to the extent that the securities are
recorded at market value and reinvestment yields are different than the original yields on maturing securities. Also,
during periods of rising interest rates, the market value of the existing fixed income securities will generally decrease
and realized gains on fixed income securities will likely be reduced. The reverse is true during periods of declining
interest rates.

For a more detailed analysis and quantification of market risk, see the Market Risk section of note 7 of the financial
statements.

Credit Risk
Credit risk is defined as the risk of financial loss due to failure of the other party to a financial instrument to discharge
an obligation. Credit risk arises from our positions in term deposits, corporate debt securities and government bonds.

The Investment and Capital Committee of the Board of Directors is responsible for the oversight of key investment
policies and limits. These policies and limits are subject to annual review and approval by the Investment and Capital
Committee. The Investment and Capital Committee is also responsible for ensuring that these policies are
implemented and that procedures are in place to manage and control credit risk.

Edgar Filing: KINGSWAY FINANCIAL SERVICES INC - Form 40-F

169



The Company has policies to limit and monitor its exposure to individual issuers or related groups (with the exception
of U.S. government bonds).

Table 6 below summarizes the composition of the fair value of the fixed income securities portfolio, excluding cash
and cash equivalents, at the dates indicated, by rating as assigned by S&P or Moody’s Investors Service. The fixed
income securities portfolio consists of predominantly very high quality securities in corporate and government bonds
with greater than 98% rated ‘A’ or better.  The ‘not rated’ category consists primarily of investments in money market
and short term instruments.
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TABLE 6   Credit ratings of fixed income securities portfolio
As at December 31

2010 2009
Rating
AAA/Aaa 70.7% 62.3%
AA/Aa 18.7 14.0
A/A 9.0 21.4
Percentage rated A/A2 or better 98.4% 97.7%
BBB/Baa 0.4% 1.9%
BB/Ba - -
B/B - -
CCC/Caa or lower - -
Not rated 1.2 0.4
Total 100.0% 100.0%

Premiums for property and casualty insurance are typically payable at the time a policy is issued in force or renewed.
To assist insureds in making their payments, in some instances we offer premium financing either directly or through
a separate premium finance company, whereby the insured can pay a portion of the premium in monthly installments.
The insured pays an additional amount for this option, reflecting handling costs and the income we would have earned
on such premium, had we received the total amount at the beginning of the policy period. We typically collect
sufficient premiums in advance of the period of risk which ensures that in the event of payment default by the insured,
we should not have uncollectible balances. The option of monthly premium payments is available only where
permitted under the laws or regulations of the specific jurisdictions. Some jurisdictions require the option of monthly
premium payments at a specific annual interest rate or monthly charge.

Certain U.S. public companies include this premium finance income in computing their combined ratio and
underwriting profit. We, however, consider the income from premium finance activities to be a part of investment
income, because this additional amount is essentially an interest payment on the balance of unpaid premium. At
December 31, 2010, the balance of the financed premiums receivable was $13.6 million.

The fair value of financed premiums approximates their carrying amount.

Other than temporary impairment
The Company did not incur losses during 2010 on securities for which a decline in market value was deemed to be
other than temporary. We recognized charges of $0.7 million and $8.7 million for securities value impairment that
was considered other than temporary for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively. The charges
recognized in 2008 reflected the impact on the securities portfolio of the unusually volatile fixed income and equity
markets in 2008. The 2008 charges also include the write-down of all of the unrealized losses on the common share
equity portfolio as a result of the Company’s intent to divest of this portfolio in early 2009.

Management performs a quarterly analysis of our securities holdings to determine if declines in market value are other
than temporary. Further information regarding our detailed analysis and factors considered in establishing an
other-than-temporary impairment on an investment security is discussed within the Critical Accounting Estimates
section of Management’s Discussion and Analysis.

The length of time securities may be held in an unrealized loss position may vary based on the opinion of the
investment manager and their respective analyses related to valuation and to the various credit risks that may prevent
us from recapturing the principal investment. In cases of securities with a maturity date where the investment manager
determines that there is little or no risk of default prior to the maturity of a holding, we would elect to hold the security
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in an unrealized loss position until the price recovers or the security matures. In situations where facts emerge that
might increase the risk associated with recapture of principal, and the Company may elect to sell securities at a loss.

At December 31, 2010, the gross unrealized losses amounted to $0.9 million. As at December 31, 2010 there were no
unrealized losses attributable to non-investment grade fixed income securities.

At December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009 unrealized losses related to government bonds and term deposits were
considered temporary as there was no evidence of default risk. Corporate bonds, in an unrealized loss position
continued to pay interest and were not subject to material changes in their respective debt ratings. We concluded that a
default risk did not exist at the time and, therefore, the decline in value was considered temporary. As we have the
capacity to hold these securities to maturity, no impairment provision was considered necessary. In making the
impairment decisions, we utilize the professional expertise of the investment advisors, and also take into account a
number of factors, including whether the decline in market value is more than 20% and has persisted for a period
exceeding six months. In the case of fixed income securities, we also take into account whether the issuer is in
financial distress (unable to pay interest or some other situation that would put in question the issuer’s ability to satisfy
its debt obligations).
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PROVISION FOR UNPAID CLAIMS

Overview
Claims management is the procedure by which an insurance company determines the validity and amount of a claim.
An important part of claims management is verifying the accuracy of the information provided to the insurance
company at the time the policy is underwritten. The nature of non-standard automobile insurance typically requires
more thorough claims management and in particular, more thorough investigative procedures and greater defense
costs than many other types of insurance. Insurance claims on our policies are investigated and settled by our local
claims adjusters, and we may also employ independent adjusters, private investigators, various experts and legal
counsel to adjust claims. We believe that claims management is fundamental to our operations.

Reserving
A provision for unpaid claims includes several components: a provision for unpaid claims based on estimated liability
on individual reported claims (more commonly known as case reserves), and an estimated provision for claims that
have not yet been reported and expected future development on case reserves, collectively known as the incurred but
not reported claims provision ("IBNR"). The provision for unpaid claims also includes an estimate of allocated loss
adjustment expenses (primarily defense costs) and unallocated loss adjustment expenses (primarily the adjustment
handling costs by claims personnel) which we expect to incur in the future.

The establishment of a provision for unpaid claims represents management’s best estimate of the ultimate cost of both
reported but unsettled claims and unreported claims. The provision for unpaid claims does not represent an exact
calculation of the liability but instead represents management’s best estimate at a given accounting date utilizing
actuarial and statistical procedures. The provision for unpaid claims represents the undiscounted estimates of the
ultimate net cost of all unpaid claims and loss adjustment expenses. Management continually reviews its estimates and
adjusts as experience develops and new information becomes available. In establishing the provision for unpaid
claims, the Company also takes into account estimated recoveries, reinsurance, salvage and subrogation.

The process for establishing the provision for unpaid claims reflects the uncertainties and significant judgemental
factors inherent in predicting future results of both known and unknown claims. As such, the process is inherently
complex and imprecise and estimates are constantly refined. The process of establishing the provision for unpaid
claims relies on the judgement and opinions of a large number of individuals, including the opinions of the Company’s
actuaries.

Factors affecting the provision for unpaid claims include the continually evolving and changing regulatory and legal
environments, actuarial studies, professional experience and the expertise of our claims personnel and independent
adjustors retained to handle individual claims. A change in claims handling procedures and changes in individuals
involved in the reserving process can also affect the provision for unpaid claims. The quality of the data used for
projection purposes, existing claims management practices, including claims handling and settlement practices, the
effect of inflationary trends on future claims settlement costs, court decisions, economic conditions and public
attitudes, all affect the provision for unpaid claims.

Table 7 below shows the amounts of total case reserves and IBNR as at December 31, 2010 and 2009. The provision
for unpaid claims decreased by 6% to $174.7 million at the end of 2010 compared to $186.7 million at the end of
2009. During 2010, case reserves increased by 9%, while IBNR reserves decreased by 28% compared to December
31, 2009.

TABLE 7   Total case reserves and IBNR
As at December 31 (in millions of dollars)

2010 2009  %
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Case Reserves $ 118.6 $ 108.4 9%
IBNR 56.1 78.3 (28)%
Total unpaid claims $ 174.7 $ 186.7 (6)%

Impact of Changes in Provision for Unpaid Claims
Any adjustments are reflected in the consolidated statement of operations in the period in which they become known
and are accounted for as changes in estimates. Even after such adjustments, ultimate liability or recovery may exceed
or be less than the revised estimates. A change that increases the provision for unpaid claims is known as an
unfavourable development and will reduce net income.

Management Process
During 2010, the Company moved responsibility for evaluating and setting reserves to an internal process, with the
objective of increasing consistency and accountability relating to variability of reserves. Reserves were evaluated on a
quarterly basis by the Company’s actuaries, with the results then shared with Management, which was responsible for
the final setting of reserves.
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In the year end full actuarial review process, a loss and loss adjustment expense reserve analysis is completed for each
insurance subsidiary.  Unpaid claims reserves, allocated loss adjustment expense reserves and unallocated loss
adjustment expense reserves are separately analyzed by segment, line of business or coverage by accident year. A
wide range of actuarial methods are utilized in order to appropriately measure ultimate loss and loss adjustment
expense costs.  Many of these methods are designed to properly address changes in claims settlement rate, changes in
case reserve adequacy and other operational changes.  These methods include Paid Loss Development, Incurred Loss
Development, Paid Bornhuetter-Ferguson, Incurred Bornhuetter-Ferguson, Berquist-Sherman Paid Method,
Berquist-Sherman Reported and frequency-severity method. Reasonability tests such as average outstanding reserves,
ultimate loss trends and ultimate allocated loss adjustment expense to ultimate loss are also performed prior to
selection of ultimate losses. Reserves are indicated by segment, line of business or coverage and are separated into
case reserves, IBNR reserves and unallocated loss adjustment expense reserves.

The range of reasonable reserve estimates for gross unpaid claims for the U.S. operations, the actuarial central
estimate, and the actual carried provision for unpaid claims are shown in table 8.

TABLE 8    Comparison of actuarial ranges for gross unpaid claims

Low High

Actuarial
Central

Estimate Carried
As at December 31, 2010 $ 163.0 $ 194.8 $ 178.9 $ 174.7
As at December 31, 2009 166.1 203.0 186.9 186.7

Table 9 summarizes the provision for unpaid claims, net of recoveries from reinsurers, established as at the end of the
years 2000 through 2010 and compares the re-estimation of those liabilities as at December 31, 2010. This table
presents the development of unpaid claims liabilities reflected on the balance sheets as at each year ended December
31, 2000 through December 31, 2010. The top line of the table presents the estimated provision for unpaid claims
recorded at the balance sheet date for each of the indicated years. This provision represents the estimated amount of
losses and loss adjustment expenses for claims unpaid at the balance sheet date, including IBNR. The table also
presents the re-estimated provision for unpaid claims on a gross basis, with separate disclosure of the re-estimated
reinsurance recoverables on unpaid claims for years 2000 through 2010.

The development of the provision for unpaid claims is shown by the difference between estimates of claims as of the
initial year end and the re-estimated liability at each subsequent year end. This is based on actual payments in full or
partial settlement of claims, plus re-estimates of the payments required for claims still open or claims still unreported.
Favourable development (reserve redundancy) means that the original claim estimates were higher than subsequently
determined. Unfavourable development (reserve deficiency) means that the original claim estimates were lower than
subsequently determined.

The table presents the cumulative amount paid with respect to the previously recorded provision as of the end of each
succeeding year and the re-estimated amount of the previously recorded provision based on experience as of the end
of the succeeding year. The estimate is increased or decreased as more information about the claims becomes known
for individual years. For example, as of December 31, 2010, we had paid $95.9 million of the currently estimated
$97.5 million of claims that had been incurred through the end of 2004; thus an estimated $1.6 million of losses
incurred prior to December 31, 2004 remain unpaid as of December 31, 2010.

The cumulative development represents the aggregate change in the estimates over all prior years. For example,
unpaid claims at December 31, 2000 have developed adversely by $8.9 million over the subsequent ten years and
unpaid claims at December 31, 2001 have developed adversely by $19.9 million over the subsequent nine years. The
effect on income during the past three years due to changes in estimates of unpaid claims is shown in Note 16 to the
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consolidated financial statements as the “prior years” contribution to incurred losses.

Each cumulative development amount includes the effects of all changes in amounts during the current year for prior
periods. For example, the amount of the development related to losses settled in 2010, but incurred in 2001, will be
included in the cumulative development amounts for years 2001 through 2010. The deficiency identified during the
year 2010 of $14.4 million was attributable to unpaid claims as at December 31, 2009 for unpaid claims for the year
2009 and all prior years. 
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TABLE 9    Provision for unpaid claims, net of recoveries from reinsurers
As at December 31, 2010 (in millions of dollars, except percentages)

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Unpaid
claims
originally
established
- end
o f
year,
gross 174.7 186.7 183.2 198.0 119.1 106.8 104.9 100.0 73.7 61.0 52.4
Less:
Reinsurance
recoverable
o n
unpaid
losses 8.0 - 0.5 0.3 0.3 0.5 0.3 0.4 0.1 1.0 1.7
Unpaid
claims
originally
established
- end
o f
year,
net 166.7 186.7 182.7 197.7 118.8 106.3 104.6 99.6 73.6 60.0 50.7

O n e
y e a r
later 111.7 107.1 108.6 48.8 50.0 52.6 61.4 55.4 41.5 28.0
T w o
years
later 156.8 150.5 75.5 71.0 73.3 83.6 78.3 58.7 42.0
Three
years
later 174.3 90.9 83.9 84.2 95.2 88.8 68.9 49.0
Four
years
later 98.8 91.3 90.0 101.3 93.8 73.2 53.3
F i v e
years
later 94.9 94.4 104.0 95.8 75.1 55.0
S i x
years
later 95.9 107.7 96.8 75.9 55.4
Seven
years
later 108.4 100.2 76.4 56.0
Eight
years

100.6 79.6 56.4
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later
Nine
years
later 79.7 59.4
T e n
years
later 59.5
R e - e s t i m a t e d
liability as of:
O n e
y e a r
later 201.1 184.5 190.2 109.0 105.1 102.0 102.5 90.7 68.0 52.1
T w o
years
later 197.6 186.9 104.9 98.2 99.7 107.7 96.4 72.9 52.3
Three
years
later 193.3 106.0 96.6 97.1 108.1 99.6 75.5 53.9
Four
years
later 106.8 97.6 96.2 106.6 99.7 77.8 55.5
F i v e
years
later 98.0 97.4 106.6 97.8 78.1 56.9
S i x
years
later 97.5 109.2 98.2 76.6 56.8
Seven
years
later 109.3 101.1 77.2 56.3
Eight
years
later 101.0 80.1 56.9
Nine
years
later 79.9 59.8
T e n
years
later 59.6

A s  a t
December 31,
2010:
C u m u l a t i v e
(redundancy)
deficiency 14.4 14.9 (4.4) (12.0) (8.3 ) (7.1) 9.7 27.4 19.9 8.9
C u m u l a t i v e
(redundancy)
deficiency as
a   %  o f
reserves

8% 8% (2)% (10)% (8)% (7)% 10% 37% 33 % 18%
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o r i g i n a l l y
established -
net
Re-estimated
l i a b i l i t y  -
gross 201.1 197.6 193.3 106.8 98.0 97.5 109.3 101.0 79.9 59.6
L e s s :
Re-established
r e i n s u r a n c e
recoverable - - - - - - - - - -
Re-estimated
provision - net 201.1 197.6 193.3 106.8 98.0 97.5 109.3 101.0 79.9 59.6
C u m u l a t i v e
def i c i ency  -
gross 14.4 14.4 (4.7) (12.3) (8.8) (7.4) 9.3 27.3 18.9 7.2
% of reserves
o r i g i n a l l y
established -
gross 8% 8% (2)% (10)% (8)% (7)% 9% 37% 31 % 14%

Kingsway Financial Services Inc. 2010 Annual Report

101

Edgar Filing: KINGSWAY FINANCIAL SERVICES INC - Form 40-F

179



Accident Year
The financial statements are presented on a calendar year basis for all data. Claims payments and changes in reserves,
however, may be made on accidents that occurred in prior years, in addition to claims payments and changes in
reserves on business that is currently insured. Calendar year losses consist of payments and reserve changes that have
been recorded in the financial statements during the applicable reporting period, without regard to the period in which
the accident occurred. Calendar year results do not change after the end of the applicable reporting period, even as
new claim information develops. Calendar year information is presented in Note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements and shows the claims activity and impact on income for changes in estimates of unpaid claims. Accident
year losses consist of payments and reserve changes that are assigned to the period in which the accident occurred.
Accident year results will change over time as the estimates of losses change due to payments and reserve changes for
all accidents that occurred during that period.

Tables 10 and 11 include a segmentation of the provision for unpaid claims on gross and net of external reinsurance
bases by line of business.

TABLE 10    Provision for unpaid claims - gross
As at December 31, 2010 (in millions of dollars)

Line of Business 2010 2009

Non-Standard Auto 140.1 136.0
Property & Liability - 2.2
Commercial Auto 33.1 37.9
Other 1.5 10.6
Total $174.7 $186.7

TABLE 11    Provision for unpaid claims - net of reinsurance recoverables
As at December 31 (in millions of dollars)

Line of Business 2010 2009

Non-Standard Auto 132.7 136.0
Property & Liability - 2.2
Commercial Auto 32.6 37.9
Other 1.4 10.6
Total $166.7 $186.7

Information with respect to our liability for unpaid claims and the subsequent development of those claims is
presented in Table 12.

TABLE 12    Net increase in prior years’ incurred claims by line of business and accident year

Year Ended December 31, 2010 (in millions of dollars)

Accident Year
Non-Standard

Auto
Property &
Liability

Commercial
Auto Other Total

2005 & prior $ 0.5 $ - $ (0.1) $ - $ 0.4
2006 0.1 - 0.3 - 0.4
2007 4.6 - 1.3 (0.3) 5.6
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2008 5.9 - 0.9 - 6.8
2009 4.1 - (2.9) - 1.2
Total $ 15.2 $ - $ (0.5) $ (0.3) $ 14.4
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Year Ended December 31,  2009 (in millions of dollars)

Accident Year
Non-Standard

Auto
Property &

Liability
Commercial

Auto Other   Total
2004 & prior $ 1.5 $ - $ (0.3) $ - $ 1.2
2005 0.5 (0.3) (0.3) - (0.1)
2006 0.3 0.5 (0.8) - -
2007 (2.5) (0.6) (1.2) (0.1) (4.4)
2008 4.0 (0.5) 1.6 - 5.1
Total $ 3.8 $ (0.9) (1.0) $ (0.1) $ 1.8

Year Ended December 31, 2008 (in millions of dollars)

Accident Year
Non-Standard

Auto
Property &

Liability
Commercial

Auto Other   Total
2003 & prior $ - $ - $ (0.1) $ - $ (0.1)
2004 (0.4) - (0.5) - (0.9)
2005 (0.6) - (0.1) - (0.7)
2006 (1.7) (1.4) 0.7 - (2.4)
2007 (3.5) (0.2) 1.7 (1.4) (3.4)
Total $ (6.2) $ (1.6) 1.7 $ (1.4) $ (7.5)

The net movement in prior years’ incurred claims, net of reinsurance, for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009
and 2008 were an increase of $14.4 million, increase of $1.8 million and a decrease of $7.5 million, respectively.
Table 12 identifies the relative contribution of the increases / (decreases) in incurred claims attributable to the
respective products and incurred loss years.

In 2010, the majority of the unfavourable development occurred on the non-standard automobile line of business and
relates to business written at UCC and Mendota. At UCC, a detailed review of claim payment and reserving practices
performed during 2009 led to significant changes in both practices, as well as increasing ultimate loss estimates and
accelerating claim payments. At Mendota, unfavourable development was primarily the result of a single
extra-contractual liability claim.

The unfavourable development on the non-standard automobile line of business at UCC and Mendota was partially
offset by favourable development at Amigo.

Non-Standard Automobile
At December 31, 2010 and 2009 the gross provisions for unpaid claims for our non-standard automobile business
were $140.1 million and $136.0 million, respectively. The increase is due to unfavourable reserve development
described above partially offset by the reduction in the volume of non-standard premium written and an acceleration
of claim payments.

Property and Liability
At December 31, 2010 and 2009 the gross provisions for unpaid claims for U.S. property and liability business
were nil and $2.2 million, respectively. With the exception of the mandatory Florida flood program at Amigo which is
100% reinsured to a third party, substantially all property and liability programs have been placed into run-off.
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Commercial Auto
At December 31, 2010 and 2009 the provisions for unpaid claims for Commercial Auto business were $33.1 million
and $37.9 million, respectively. The primary reason for the decrease in unpaid claims was due to a reduction in
written business for UCC.

 REINSURANCE

We purchase reinsurance from third parties in order to reduce our liability on individual risks and our exposure to
catastrophic events. Reinsurance is insurance purchased by one insurance company from another for part of the risk
originally underwritten by the purchasing (ceding) insurance company. The practice of ceding insurance to reinsurers
allows an insurance company to reduce its exposure to loss by size, geographic area, type of risk or on a particular
policy. An effect of ceding insurance is to permit an insurance company to write additional insurance for risks in
greater number or in larger amounts than it would otherwise insure independently, having regard to its statutory
capital, risk tolerance and other factors.
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We generally purchase reinsurance to limit our net exposure to a maximum amount on any one loss of $0.5 million
with respect to commercial automobile liability claims. For most of the personal non-standard automobile business
that we write in the United States, the liability is limited to the minimum statutory liability limits, which are typically
not greater than $50,000 per occurrence, depending on the state. We purchase reinsurance to protect against awards in
excess of our policy limits above a retention of $2.0 million.  In addition, we purchase catastrophe reinsurance that
provides $5 million coverage in excess of a $1 million retention for Amigo’s book of business.

Reinsurance ceded does not relieve us of our ultimate liability to our insureds in the event that any reinsurer is unable
to meet its obligations under its reinsurance contracts. We therefore enter into reinsurance contracts with only those
reinsurers who we believe have sufficient financial resources to provide the requested coverage. Reinsurance treaties
are generally subject to cancellation by our reinsurers or us on the anniversary date and are subject to renegotiation
annually. We regularly evaluate the financial condition of our reinsurers and monitor the concentrations of credit risk
to minimize our exposure to significant losses as a result of the insolvency of a reinsurer. We believe that the amounts
we have recorded as reinsurance recoverables are appropriately established. Estimating amounts of reinsurance
recoverables, however, is subject to various uncertainties and the amounts ultimately recoverable may vary from
amounts currently recorded. As of December 31, 2010, we had $7.7 million recoverable from third party reinsurers
and other insurers. At December 31, 2010, approximately 100.0% of the amounts recoverable from third party
reinsurers were due from reinsurers that were rated “A-” or higher. 

Estimating amounts of reinsurance recoverables is also impacted by the uncertainties involved in the establishment of
provisions for unpaid claims. As our underlying reserves continue to develop, the amounts ultimately recoverable may
vary from amounts currently recorded. Our reinsurance recoverables are generally unsecured. We regularly evaluate
our reinsurers, and the respective amounts recoverable, and an allowance for uncollectible reinsurance is provided for,
if needed. Table 13 below summarizes the composition of the amounts due from reinsurers at December 31, 2010, by
the rating as assigned by A.M. Best to the applicable reinsurers.

TABLE 13     Composition of amounts due from reinsurers by rating
As at December 31 2010

A.M. Best
A++ 13.7%
A+                                                                                                                                                                      -%
A 86.6%
A-                                                                                                                    (0.3)%
B + +  a n d
below

-%

C++ -%
Not rated -%
Total 100.0%

RESULTS OF CONTINUING OPERATIONS

For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009

Gross Premiums Written
During the year ended December 31, 2010, gross premiums written were $214.0 million compared to $261.9 million
for the year ended December 31, 2009, representing an 18% decrease.

The decrease in gross premiums written is due to significant reductions in premium volumes in the non-standard and
commercial automobile lines of business. The reduction in non-standard automobile premium is due to the various
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steps taken to discontinue unprofitable programs and the discontinuation of the managing general agent distribution
channel, primarily at UCC. Also contributing to the reduction in non-standard automobile premium volumes is the
continuing poor economic conditions in much of the U.S. The non-standard automobile insurance market tends to
contract during periods of high unemployment as is currently being experienced in the U.S.

The reduction in commercial automobile premium represents the Company’s move away from higher limit commercial
business.

Net Premiums Written
Net premiums written decreased 25% to $203.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2010 compared with $273.1
million for the year ended December 31, 2009. This decrease is attributed to the same factors as described in the ‘Gross
Premiums Written’ section above.

Net Premiums Earned
Net premiums earned decreased 25% to $222.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2010, compared with $298.2
million for the year ended December 31, 2009. This decrease is attributed to the same factors as described in the ‘Gross
Premiums Written’ section above. The extent of the decrease is mitigated by the larger volume of business written in
2009 which is partially earned in 2010.
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Investment Income
Investment income, excluding net realized gains, increased to $16.4 million in 2010, compared to $0.1 million in
2009.  The increase in investment income in 2010 compared to 2009 is due to $2.2 million of foreign exchange gain as
compared to $12.9 million of foreign exchange loss in 2009 and to lower yields and a reduction in the duration and
risk profile of the portfolio. Also contributing to the reduction in investment income is the reduction in the size of the
portfolio as a result of the reduced volumes of business in the Company’s continuing operations, the acceleration of
claim payments and debt and equity buybacks and other corporate initiatives.

Net Realized Gains
The Company incurred net realized gains in 2010 of $9.2 million compared to $11.0 million in 2009. The net gain in
2010 is due to is primarily due to gains realized from the liquidation of fixed income securities in the Company’s
insurance subsidiaries in the third and fourth quarters. There were no impairments recorded during 2010 for other than
temporarily impaired securities.  The net gain in 2009 is due to gains realized from the liquidation of fixed income
securities in the Company’s captive reinsurance company in Barbados to facilitate the related party reinsurance
commutation transactions, partially offset by realized losses on the disposal of the Company’s common equity
portfolio and impairments for other than temporarily impaired securities.

Claims Incurred
The loss ratio for 2010 was 96.5% compared to 79.4% for 2009 due to increasing ultimate loss estimates for current
and prior accident years. The results for 2010 reflect an increase in the provision for unpaid claims occurring prior to
December 31, 2009. This increase amounted to approximately $14.4 million which increased the ratio by 6.5
percentage points for 2010. The results in 2009 reflect an increase in the provision for unpaid claims occurring prior to
December 31, 2008 of $1.8 million which increased the ratio by 0.6 percentage points. Consolidated case reserves for
individual claims increased 9% to $118.6 million as at December 31, 2010 compared to $108.4 million at December
31, 2009, and IBNR decreased 28% to $56.1 million at December 31, 2010 compared to $78.3 million at December
31, 2009.

Underwriting Expenses
The expense ratio was 52.2% in 2010 and 49.5% in 2009. The higher ratio in 2010 is due to net premium earned
decreasing at a greater rate than expense reductions. Expenses included increased legal and other professional fees.

Gain on Buy-Back of Debt
During 2010, KAI and Kingsway 2007 General Partnership purchased and cancelled $143.3 million par value of its
senior unsecured debentures for $124.1 million recording a gain of $19.2 million.  During 2009, KAI and Kingsway
2007 General Partnership purchased and cancelled $21.6 million par value of its senior unsecured debentures for
$12.3 million recording a gain of $9.5 million.

Gain on Consolidation of Debt
During 2010, the Company recorded a gain of $17.8 million related to the KLROC Units held by KFS Capital, as a
result of the consolidation of the KLROC Trust.  See Note 19(c) of the consolidated financial statements for further
details of the KLROC Trust consolidation.

Combined Ratio
The combined ratio was 148.7% in 2010 compared with 128.9% in 2009, which produced an underwriting loss of
$108.4 million in 2010 compared with a loss of $86.1 million in 2009. The underwriting loss is attributable to the
factors described in the ‘Claims Incurred’ and ‘Underwriting Expenses’ sections above.

Interest Expense
Interest expense for 2010 was $14.8 million, compared to $23.9 million in 2009, representing a 38% decrease. The
decrease is primarily due to the significant repurchase of debt during 2010. See Gain on Buy-Back of Debt above.
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Net Income and Earnings Per Share
In 2010 we incurred a loss from continuing operations of $61.1 million compared to a loss from continuing operations
of $69.6 million in 2009. The loss in 2010 is largely due to underwriting losses and adverse development. These
factors have been partially offset by net realized gains on investments and the buyback of the Company’s debt which
resulted in a gain and lowered interest expense. The company also recorded a gain on the consolidation of debt.

In 2010, we incurred a net loss of $38.2 million compared to net loss of $290.3 million reported for 2009. The diluted
loss per share was $0.73 for 2010 compared to a diluted loss per share of $5.38 for 2009.

Book Value Per Share
Book value per share decreased by 44.5% to $1.82 at December 31, 2010 from $3.28 at December 31, 2009. The
decline in book value is due to the factors impacting net income as described above.
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For the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008

Gross Premiums Written
During the year ended December 31, 2009, gross premiums written were $261.9 million compared to $345.7 million
in 2008 representing a 24% decrease. The decrease in premiums is primarily due to significant reduction in premium
volumes in the non-standard and commercial automobile line of business. The reductions are due to the various steps
taken to discontinue unprofitable programs.

Net Premiums Written
Net premiums written decreased 18% to $273.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2009, compared with $332.6
million for the year ended December 31, 2008. This decrease is attributed to the same factors as described in the ‘Gross
Premiums Written’ section above.

Net Premiums Earned
Net premiums earned decreased 12% to $298.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2009, compared with $340.0
million for 2008. This decrease is attributed to the same factors as described in the ‘Gross Premiums Written’ section
above. The extent of the increase is greater than the increase in the written premium due to the larger volume of
business written in 2008 which was partially earned in 2009.

Investment Income
Investment income, excluding net realized gains, decreased by 100% to $0.1 million in 2009, compared to $31.5
million in 2008.  The decrease in investment income in 2009 compared to 2008 is primarily due to lower yields and a
reduction in the duration and risk profile of the portfolio. Also contributing to the reduction in interest income is the
reduction in the size of the portfolio as a result of the reduced volumes of business in the Company’s continuing
operations, the acceleration of claim payments and debt and equity buybacks and other corporate initiatives. The
investment income in 2009 also includes foreign exchange loss of $12.9 million. 

Net Realized Gains (Losses)
The Company incurred net realized gains in 2009 of $11.0 million compared to net realized losses of $7.2 million in
2008. The net realized losses in 2008 include the write-down of all of the unrealized losses on the common share
equity portfolio as a result of the Company’s intent to divest this portfolio in early 2009.

Claims Incurred
The loss ratio for 2009 was 79.4% compared to 66.0% for 2008. The primary reason for the increase was deteriorating
results at the operating companies. A portion of the loss ratio increase was also due to the prior period development,
which went from favourable development during 2008 to a small amount of unfavourable development during 2009.

Underwriting Expenses
The expense ratio was 49.5% in 2009 and 39.0% in 2008. The increase is due to net premium earned decreasing at a
greater rate than expense reductions. Expenses included increased legal and other professional fees.

Gain on Buy-Back of Debt
During 2009, KAI and Kingsway 2007 General Partnership purchased and cancelled $21.6 million par value of its
senior unsecured debentures for $12.3 million recording a gain of $9.5 million.  During 2008, KAI repurchased $17.6
million par value of its senior unsecured debentures and recorded a gain of $0.7 million.

Combined Ratio
The combined ratio was 128.9% in 2009 compared with 105.0% in 2008, which produced an underwriting loss of
$86.1 million and $16.9 million in 2009 and 2008, respectively.
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Interest Expense
Interest expense for 2009 was $23.9 million, compared to $35.0 million in 2008 representing a 32% decrease. The
decrease is due to the repayment of bank debt during 2008 and senior debt repurchases in 2009.

Net Income and Earnings Per Share
In 2009 we incurred a loss from continuing operations of $69.7 million compared to a loss from continuing operations
of $98.9 million in 2008. The loss in 2008 is largely due to underwriting losses, net realized losses on the securities
portfolio, impairment of goodwill relating to the U.S. operations and a future tax valuation allowance.

In 2009, we incurred a net loss of $290.3 million compared to net loss of $405.9 million reported for 2008. The
diluted loss per share was $5.38 for 2009 compared to diluted loss per share of $7.35 for 2008.

Book Value Per Share
Book value per share decreased by 60% to $3.28 at December 31, 2009 from $8.24 at December 31, 2008. The
decline in book value is due to the factors impacting the net income as described above.

Kingsway Financial Services Inc. 2010 Annual Report

106

Edgar Filing: KINGSWAY FINANCIAL SERVICES INC - Form 40-F

189



FINANCIAL CONDITION

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The purpose of liquidity management is to ensure that there is sufficient cash to meet all financial commitments and
obligations as they fall due. The liquidity requirements of the Company’s business have been met primarily by funds
generated from operations, from the disposal of discontinued operations, asset maturities and income and other returns
received on securities. Cash provided from these sources is used primarily for claims and claim adjustment expense
payments and operating expenses. The timing and amount of catastrophe claims are inherently unpredictable and may
create increased liquidity requirements. During 2010 the Company also used significant cash for debt buyback.

As a holding company, Kingsway derives cash from its subsidiaries generally in the form of dividends and
management fees to meet its obligations, which primarily consist of dividend and interest payments. The Company’s
insurance subsidiaries fund their obligations primarily through the premium and investment income and maturities in
the securities portfolio. The operating insurance subsidiaries require regulatory approval for the return of capital and,
in certain circumstances, prior to the payment of dividends. In the event that dividends and management fees available
to the holding company are inadequate to service its obligations, the Company would need to raise capital, sell assets
or restructure its debt obligations.

The Company’s dividend was suspended in the second quarter of 2009.

As outlined in the Corporate Overview section of this Management Discussion and Analysis, throughout 2010 the
Company has continued to experience losses. The reduction in shareholders’ equity as a result of these ongoing losses
greatly reduced the Company’s capital flexibility by triggering negative covenants in its trust indentures and limiting
the dividend capacity of the operating subsidiaries. A description of the negative covenants is disclosed below. For
further details on the capital adequacy of the operating subsidiaries, see the ‘Capital Requirements’ narrative in this
‘Financial Conditions’ section of Management’s Discussion and Analysis.

Certain debentures issued by the Company contain negative covenants in their trust indentures, placing limitations and
restrictions over certain actions without the prior written consent of the indenture trustees. Included in the negative
covenants is the limitation on the incurrence of additional debt in the event that the total debt to total capital ratio or
the senior debt to total capital ratio exceed 50% and 35%, respectively. The total debt is calculated on a pro-forma
basis taking into account the issuance of additional debt. The debentures also include covenants limiting the issuance
and sale of voting stock of restricted subsidiaries, the payment of dividends or any other payment in respect of capital
stock of the Company, or the retirement of debt subordinate to the debentures covered by the trust indentures if, after
giving effect to such payments as described in the trust indentures, the total debt to total capital ratio exceeds 50%. In
this calculation, total debt and senior debt are determined on a current basis and total capital is determined based on
the most recent publicly filed financial statements.

Based upon the December 31, 2010 financial statements, the Company’s total debt to capital and senior debt to capital
ratios were 60.2% and 23.2% respectively. As a result, the limitations and restrictions described above are applicable
as of the date the Company publicly filed its December 31, 2010 financial statements.

Early in 2010 the Company announced that it had entered into a definitive agreement for the sale of Jevco. On March
29, 2010 the sale of Jevco was completed. Although Jevco is a restricted subsidiary, prohibiting the sale of its voting
stock under the terms of the restrictive covenants described above, a portion of the proceeds from this transaction was
used to repay outstanding indebtedness sufficient to lower the ratios applicable to the restrictive covenants to a level
where the restrictions did not apply following the application of the proceeds in this manner. This transaction
improved the Company’s capital flexibility and reduced the debt service costs going forward.
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Of the C$264.2 million proceeds from the sale of Jevco (of which, C$27.5 million was placed in escrow) $69.1
million was used to repurchase a total par value of $84.8 million of senior unsecured indebtedness. The Company
continues to explore opportunities to buy back debt in the market in order to reduce the debt to capital ratios below the
level at which these operating restrictions apply, while ensuring that the debt covenants are fully complied with.  The
Company’s public debt is material and a breach in covenants could lead to the liquidation of the Company if principal
and interest payments are called before maturity.

Debt and Equity Buyback Initiative

In May 2009 the Board of Directors delegated to the Capital Committee of the Board of Directors the authority to
repurchase debt of the Company.

On June 26, 2009, KFS Capital, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, commenced a take-over bid
(the “KLROC Offer”) to acquire up to 1,000,000 preferred, retractable, redeemable, cumulative units of Kingsway
Linked Return of Capital Trust (“KLROC”) at a price per unit of C$12.00 in cash. The KLROC Offer expired on
Tuesday, August 4, 2009 and 694,015 units were tendered. This tender was paid for using available cash. The
Company acquired ownership of 121,000 units of the KLROC outside of the tender offer at an average price of
C$10.45 per unit through a series of purchases on the Toronto Stock Exchange. On June 9, 2010 KFS Capital
commenced the take-over bid (“the Offer”) to acquire up to 750,000 KLROC units at a price per unit of C$17.50 in
cash. On July 9, 2010, KFS Capital increased the size and price of its previously announced Offer to 1,500,000 units
at a price per unit of C$20.00 in cash.  The Offer expired on Friday, July 23, 2010 and 1,525,150 units were tendered,
of which 1,500,000 were purchased on a pro-rata basis. The tender was paid for using available cash. As a result of
these acquisitions, the Company beneficially owns and controls 2,333,715 units, representing 74.8% of the issued and
outstanding units. The Company has determined that the consolidated financial statements of the KLROC Trust,
which financial statements include the accounts of other entities, should be consolidated with the financial statements
of the Company beginning July 23, 2010 in accordance with Canadian GAAP (refer to note 19 (c) for additional
details). As a result of consolidating the KLROC Trust, the Company recorded a gain of $17.8 million related to the
KLROC Units held by KFS Capital. The gain arose from the difference between the carrying value of the debt held by
KLROC Trust and the fair value of the KLROC Units held by KFS Capital.
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Kingsway 2007 General Partnership, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Kingsway announced on July 14
2009,  the commencement of a modified “Dutch Auction” tender offer (the “2012 Offer”) for a portion of its outstanding
Unsecured 6% Debentures due July 11, 2012 (the “2012 Debentures”). The 2012 Offer provided for a cash purchase of
2012 Debentures at a price per C$1,000 principal amount of debentures of not less than C$540 and not greater than
C$620, for a maximum aggregate purchase price to the offeror not to exceed C$31 million (excluding accrued and
unpaid interest). The 2012 Offer expired Friday, August 14, 2009 with valid tenders (that were not withdrawn) of
C$9,174,000 in aggregate principal amount of Debentures. Kingsway 2007 General Partnership accepted for purchase
all such tendered Debentures at the highest price specified of C$620 per C$1,000 principal amount. This tender was
paid for using available cash.

In November 2009, the Company repaid in full a $6.9 million mortgage on a property.

On March 29, 2010 , as part of the closing of the Jevco sale transaction the Company repurchased $36.9 million
(C$37.5 million) of par value of the 2012 Debentures realizing a gain of $5.9 million and $47.9 million of par value of
the 7.5% senior notes due 2014 “2014 Debentures” realizing a gain of $9.2 million. In addition to debt buybacks on
Jevco sale transaction the Company during 2010 also repurchased an aggregate principle amount of $32.9 million
(C$33.9 million) of 2012 Debentures and an aggregate principle of $25.6 million of 2014 for a total purchase price of
approximately $31.1 million (C$32.0 million) and $23.4 million, respectively. The repurchases resulted in a gain of
$1.8 million on the unsecured 6% debentures due 2012 and $2.1 million on the 7.5% senior notes due 2014.

Kingsway announced on July 29, 2009 an amendment to its normal course issuer bid for common shares had been
approved by the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”). The normal course issuer bid was originally announced by
Kingsway on November 28, 2008. Purchases under the normal course issuer bid from December 2, 2008 to December
1, 2009 were limited to 2,753,426 common shares (or approximately 5% of the aggregate number of common shares
outstanding on November 15, 2008). Purchases under the normal course issuer bid, as amended, were limited to
5,386,545 common shares, or 10% of the public float on November 28, 2008. The normal course issuer bid, as
amended, terminated on December 1, 2009. Under this normal course issuer bid, 3,472,700 shares were repurchased at
an average price of C$3.77.

As at December 31, 2010, the Company had 52,095,828 common shares outstanding compared with 51,595,828
common shares outstanding at December 31, 2009.

INDEBTEDNESS

Canadian Senior Debenture Offering
On July 10, 2007, a general partnership of the Company, Kingsway 2007 General Partnership issued C$100 million
Senior Unsecured Debentures at 6% due on July 11, 2012. These debentures bear interest at a fixed rate of 6% per
annum payable semi-annually from the date of issuance until July 11, 2012. Interest payments are to be made on
January 10 and July 10 in each year, commencing January 10, 2008 with an effective interest rate of 6.3%. The net
proceeds to the Company amounted to C$99,188,000. Kingsway 2007 General Partnership may redeem the
debentures in whole at any time and in part from time to time, at the issuer’s option. The debentures are
unconditionally guaranteed by Kingsway Financial Services Inc. and KAI, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Kingsway
Financial Services Inc.

As discussed above, these debentures contain negative covenants placing limitations and restrictions over certain
actions without the prior written consent of the trustee. These restrictions are applicable based on the December 31,
2010 financial statements.

During 2009 and 2010, the Company repurchased $14.6 million (C$16.1 million) and $69.8 million (C$71.4 million)
of par value, respectively, of this offering and realized a gain of $6.0 million in 2009 and $7.8 million in 2010. As at
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December 31, 2010 C$12.5 million of par value of this issue remains outstanding, as compared to C$83.9 million par
value outstanding at December 31, 2009.

U.S. Senior Note Offering
On January 29, 2004, a subsidiary of the Company, KAI, completed the sale of $100 million 7.50% senior notes due
2014. The notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by the Company. The notes are redeemable at KAI’s option
on or after February 1, 2009. In March 2004 an additional $25 million of these senior notes were issued. Interest
payments are to be made on February 1 and August 1 in each year with an effective interest rate of 8.3%. 

As discussed above, these debentures contain negative covenants placing limitations and restrictions over certain
actions without the prior written consent of the trustee. These restrictions are applicable based on the December 31,
2010 financial statements.

During 2009 and 2010 the Company repurchased $7.0 million and $73.5 million of par value, respectively, of this
offering. The Company realized a gain on the repurchases of $3.5 million in 2009 and $11.4 million in 2010. As at
December 31, 2010 $27.0 million of par value of this issue remains outstanding, as compared to $100.5 million par
value outstanding at December 31, 2009.
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Subordinated Debt
Between December 4, 2002 and December 16, 2003, six subsidiary trusts of the Company issued $90.5 million of 30
year capital securities to third parties in separate private transactions. In each instance, a corresponding floating rate
junior subordinated deferrable interest debenture was then issued by KAI. to the trust in exchange for the proceeds
from the private sale. The floating rate debentures bear interest at the rate of the London interbank offered interest rate
for three month U.S. dollar deposits, plus spreads ranging from 3.85% to 4.20%, but until dates ranging from
December 4, 2007 to January 8, 2009, the interest rates will not exceed 12.45% to 12.75%. The Company has the right
to call each of these securities at par anytime after five years from their issuance until their maturity. The net proceeds
to the Company were $70,877,000 after deducting expenses of $4,625,000. Interest paid during the year was
$4,126,000 for 2010, 5,047,000 for 2009, and $7,126,000 for 2008. Subsequent to year end, the Company has given
notice to its Trust Preferred trustees of its intention to exercise its voluntary right to defer interest payments for up to
20 quarters.

LROC Preferred Units
On July 14, 2005 Kingsway Linked Return of Capital Trust (“KLROC Trust”) completed its public offering of C$78
million of 5.00% Kingsway Linked Return of Capital Preferred Units (“Units”) due June 30, 2015 of which the
Company was a promoter. In order to achieve its investment objectives, KLROC used the net proceed of
C$74,141,236 of its initial public offering to subscribe for and purchase all of the limited partnership units of KL
Limited Partnership (“KL LP”). In turn, KL LP used these proceeds for the payment of its payment of its purchase
obligations under Forward Purchase Agreement which KL LP entered into with the Bank of Nova Scotia (“the
Counterparty”). Such proceeds were invested by the Counterparty in KN Trust. The KN Trust lent funds to Kingsway
ROC GP (“ROC GP”) and combined with its partnership capital of C$8,250,000, ROC GP subscribed for common
shares in Kingsway ROC LLC (“ROC LLC”) totaling C$82,087,781. With these proceeds, ROC LLC purchased a
promissory note from KAI, with the principle amount of US $66,222,012 bearing interest at 7.37% per annum and due
June 30, 2015.

Beginning in 2009, KFS Capital, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, began purchasing KLROC
units. On June 26, 2009, KFS Capital, commenced a take-over bid (the “KLROC Offer”) to acquire up to 1,000,000
preferred, retractable, redeemable, cumulative units of Kingsway Linked Return of Capital Trust (“KLROC”) at a price
per unit of C$12.00 in cash. The KLROC Offer expired on Tuesday, August 4, 2009 and 694,015 units were tendered.
This tender was paid for using available cash. The Company also acquired ownership of 139,700 units of the KLROC
outside of the tender offer through a series of purchases on the Toronto Stock Exchange. On June 9, 2010 KFS Capital
commenced the take-over bid (“the Offer”) to acquire up to 750,000 KLROC units at a price per unit of C$17.50 in
cash. On July 9, 2010, KFS Capital increased the size and price of its previously announced Offer to 1,500,000 units
at a price per unit of C$20.00 in cash.  The Offer expired on Friday, July 23, 2010 and 1,525,150 units were tendered,
of which 1,500,000 were purchased on a pro-rata basis. The tender was paid for using available cash. As a result of
these acquisitions, the Company beneficially owns and controls 2,333,715 units, representing 74.8% of the issued and
outstanding units. The Company has determined that the consolidated financial statements of the KLROC Trust,
which financial statements include the accounts of other aforementioned entities, should be consolidated with the
financial statements of the Company beginning July 23, 2010 in accordance with Canadian GAAP. As a result of
consolidating the KLROC Trust, the Company recorded a gain of $17.8 million during 2010 related to the KLROC
Units held by KFS Capital. The gain arose as a result of the effective settlement of the debt within the consolidated
group and is equal to the difference between the carrying value of the debt held by KLROC Trust and the fair value of
the KLROC Units held by KFS Capital.

Loans Payable
As at December 31, 2009, KAI had a promissory note payable balance of approximately $66.2 million with ROC
LLC.  The note was issued on July 15, 2005 and bears interest at 7.37% annually.  The note principal is payable on
June 30, 2015.  As further described above, as at December 31, 2010, the financial statements of ROC LLC are
consolidated with the financial statements of the Company, and therefore, the note payable balance is no longer
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considered to be an obligation of the consolidated entity.

Financing Facility
In March 2009, the Company obtained a $20 million financing facility from American Physicians Assurance
Corporation (“AP Assurance”) to allow for specific capital initiatives. Two of the members of the Company’s Board of
Directors also sat on the board of AP Assurance in 2009 making it a related party. The facility was at fair market
terms and conditions. This facility was undrawn, expired and has been terminated. In the fourth quarter of 2009 , a
new facility was obtained from the same related party. This new facility is at fair market terms and conditions. No
funds were ever drawn on this facility and it was mutually cancelled on February 25, 2010.

Contractual Obligations
Our provision for unpaid claims does not have contractual maturity dates. We have included an estimate of when we
expect our unpaid claims to be paid, based on historical payment patterns, in Table 14. The exact timing of the
payment of claims cannot be predicted with certainty. We maintain a securities portfolio with varying maturities and a
substantial amount in short-term securities to provide adequate cash flows for the payment of claims. The unpaid
claims in Table 14 have not been reduced by amounts recoverable from reinsurers.

As of December 31, 2010, we had approximately $140.8 million of total indebtedness. This compares with $330.4
million as at December 31, 2009 and $338.8 million as at December 31, 2008. Payments under the Company’s debt
obligations are funded through dividends from its U.S. subsidiaries and capital infusions by Kingsway.
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TABLE 14    Contractual Obligations - Payments Due by Period
 (in thousands of dollars)

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Thereafter Total
S e n i o r  u n s e c u r e d
debentures - 12,091 - 25,378 - - 37,469
Subordinated indebtedness - - - - - 87,450 87,450
Loan payable - - - 15,884 - 15,884
Total indebtedness - 12,091 - 25,378 15,884 87,450 140,803
Unpaid claims 109,816 33,208 15,966 7,632 3,435 4,651 174,708
Total $ 109,816 $45,299 $15,966 $33,010 $19,319 $92,101 $315,511

The payment profile of the Company’s indebtedness in the table above is based upon the contractual maturity dates.
Kingsway has repurchased substantial amount of its outstanding debt during 2009 and 2010, the detail of which are
stated in the Debt and Equity Buyback initiative section above. The Company may seek to repurchase additional
indebtedness in the future, depending upon market conditions and capital requirements within the group.

CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS

TABLE 15    Capital requirements
As at December 31

2010 2009

MCT (%)
Excess over
Minimum1 MCT (%)

Excess over
Minimum1

Kingsway Reinsurance (Bermuda) Ltd. 1.6 1.0
Total Canadian Operations $ 1.6 $ 1.0

RBC (%) RBC (%)
Universal Casualty Company 160 - 201 0.1
Kingsway Amigo Insurance Company 626 14.1 566 20.3
Mendota Insurance Company 238 4.3 381 7.5
Mendakota Insurance Company 10,509 9.1 38,172 9.2
Kingsway  Re insu rance  Corpora t ion
(Barbados) - 11.3 - -
Total U.S. Operations $ 38.8 $ 37.1
Total Consolidated $ 40.4 $ 38.1
1 Excess over regulatory minimum expressed in millions of dollars.

U.S. Operations
In the United States, a risk based capital (“RBC”) formula is used by the National Association of Insurance
Commissioners (“NAIC”) to identify property and casualty insurance companies that may not be adequately capitalized.
The NAIC requires that capital and surplus not fall below 200% of the authorized control level. As at December 31,
2010, all U.S. subsidiaries are above the required RBC levels, with the exception of UCC. The RBC ratios, excluding
UCC, based on the subsidiary unaudited statutory financial statements range between 238% and 10,509%, and have
estimated aggregate capital of approximately $38.8 million in excess of the 200% level.

As at December 31 2010, UCC’s RBC was 160% which is at the company action level.  UCC has commenced
preparation of a comprehensive plan which it intends to file with the Illinois Department of Insurance in April 2011.
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The comprehensive plan intends to outline UCC’s future plans, including the current and projected RBC level, and is
subject to approval by the Illinois Department of Insurance. Achievement of the comprehensive plan depends on
future events and circumstances, the outcome of which cannot be assured. Nevertheless, the Company expects that
UCC will take all necessary steps to comply with the provisions of the plan.

In May 2009, the Company placed all of Lincoln General into voluntary run-off. After that date Lincoln General
continued to experience losses from unfavourable reserve development. The result of Lincoln General’s operational
losses greatly reduced the Company’s capital flexibility and created the potential of the Company breaching the
covenants in its trust indentures. These ongoing losses also contributed to the financial strength rating downgrades of
all operating companies.

On October 19, 2009, with the objective of protecting the interests of the Company’s stakeholders, KAI, an indirect
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, disposed of its entire interest in its wholly owned subsidiary, Walshire.
Walshire was the sole shareholder of Lincoln General. All of the stock of Walshire was donated to charities, and with
this disposition Lincoln General ceased being a member of the Kingsway group of companies. The method of disposal
of Walshire is lawful and valid but is not a standard method of disposing of an insurance company. The choice of this
nonstandard method of disposition has led to litigation, as discussed below; has caused some regulatory scrutiny; and
has the potential to adversely affect the reputation of the Company.
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The Pennsylvania Insurance Department (“DOI”) has challenged the disposition of Walshire and Lincoln General. On
November 20, 2009, DOI filed a complaint in the Commonwealth Court of Pennsylvania (“Commonwealth Court”)
against the Company, KAI and Walshire, seeking a declaration that the disposition was unlawful and not valid. The
Company disagrees with the DOI’s position and maintains that the donations of Walshire shares to the charities were
lawful and valid. The Company therefore demurred to each of the claims in the DOI’s complaint, thereby putting the
legal sufficiency of the DOI’s claims at issue. The demurrers were argued to a panel of the Commonwealth Court on
February 9, 2010.

On April 1, 2010, the Commonwealth Court sustained the demurrers, rejecting the arguments made by DOI, and
dismissing all of the DOI’s claims against the Company. On April 30, 2010, the DOI appealed the April 1, 2010
decision to the Pennsylvania Supreme Court. The Company is opposing this appeal, which is scheduled for oral
argument on April 12, 2011.

On November 19, 2009, the day before the DOI’s complaint, the Company and KAI filed a complaint in the
Commonwealth Court against the DOI seeking a declaration that the statute upon which the DOI principally relies did
not apply to the donations. In response to the Company’s complaint, the DOI filed an Answer and New Matter (in
essence, a Counterclaim), making the same arguments the DOI made in its November 20, 2009 complaint. Because
the two lawsuits raise the same issues, further proceedings in the Company’s and KAI’s lawsuit have been postponed,
pending the Pennsylvania Supreme Court’s decision in the DOI’s lawsuit.

If the ultimate decision of the courts is unfavorable for the Company, the control of Lincoln General may revert back
to the Company, which would result in Lincoln General’s financial results being included in the Company’s
consolidated financial statements. Thus, if the Pennsylvania Supreme Court deems the transaction to be invalid, it
could ultimately lead to the Company being in breach of its public debt covenants should Lincoln General go into
liquidation while still part of the Company. The Company’s public debt is material, and a breach in covenants could
lead to the debt being called and paid before maturity.

The Company’s commitment to the DOI to provide a $10.0 million cash payment to Lincoln General was met in 2009.
The Company also has continuing obligations on reinsurance agreements with Lincoln General which are at market
terms and conditions. These ongoing obligations are not significant and do not provide the Company with any control
or significant influence over the operating activities or financial results of Lincoln General.

On June 29, 2009, Kingsway and Lincoln General entered into a consulting agreement with an external run-off
manager to provide certain consulting services relating to Lincoln General, including advice and assistance in the
development of a Run-off Plan. In addition to base compensation of $1.3 million annually, the agreement provided for
a minimum of $2.5 million to be paid to the run-off manager at the termination of the contract (provided the contract
is not terminated for cause), which, at the latest would have been March 1, 2014. As a result of the October 19, 2009
disposition of Walshire and Lincoln General, the Company accrued $2.5 million for the minimum and an additional
$3.4 million relating to the annual service contract for a total compensation of $5.9 million as at December 31, 2009.

As at December 31, 2010, the Company has settled all outstanding obligations with the run-off manager.

As part of the ongoing transformation program, during the second quarter the Company began terminating all related
party reinsurance treaties. As at September 30, 2009, all treaties between Kingsway Reinsurance Corporation and the
U.S. operating companies were commuted. The treaties between the Canadian operating companies and Kingsway
Reinsurance (Bermuda) Limited were commuted effective October 1, 2009. These initiatives have resulted in
increased capital in our operating companies and it has released excess capital from the captive reinsurers to be used
for corporate purposes.
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Following the commutation of all intercompany reinsurance treaties between Kingsway Reinsurance Corporation and
the Company’s U.S. operating subsidiaries, a significant portion of the remaining capital at Kingsway Reinsurance
Corporation was repatriated. A portion of this capital was re-deployed directly into the U.S. operating subsidiaries and
a portion was held at the parent company for corporate purposes.

Our reinsurance subsidiaries, which are domiciled in Barbados and Bermuda, are required by the regulators in the
jurisdictions in which they operate to maintain minimum capital levels.  As at December 31, 2010, the capital
maintained by Kingsway Reinsurance Corporation was approximately $11.3 million in excess of the regulatory capital
requirements in Barbados.  As at December 31, 2010, the capital maintained by Kingsway Reinsurance (Bermuda)
Limited was approximately $1.6 million in excess of the regulatory capital requirements in Bermuda.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET FINANCING
The Company entered into an off-balance sheet transaction through the Kingsway Linked Return of Capital Trust
transaction that was completed on July 14, 2005 and which is more fully described in Notes 18 (c) and 19 (c) of the
audited consolidated financial statements.  The net proceeds from this offering were invested into a Kingsway
controlled entity which, prior to July 23, 2010, was not consolidated based on accounting standards.   The net effect of
this transaction was to show additional debt on the Company’s financial statements and an offsetting equity investment
of C$8.3 million into the non-consolidated affiliated entity.  As at December 31, 2010, the Company does not engage
in any off-balance sheet financing arrangements.
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RATINGS
On June 5, 2009, the Company withdrew all ratings provided by Standard and Poor’s and DBRS as a part of its
ongoing cost cutting strategy.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In the ordinary course of business, we are, from time to time, susceptible to various claims and legal proceedings,
including class actions. We are also susceptible to claims and legal proceedings alleging bad faith or extra contractual
damages. While it is not possible to estimate the final outcome of these various proceedings at this time, we do not
believe the outcome of such proceedings will have a material impact on our financial condition or results of
operations.

In addition to the potential exposures outlined above, the Company is engaged in the following legal disputes:

•The Pennsylvania Insurance Department (“DOI”) has challenged the disposition of Walshire and Lincoln General. On
November 20, 2009, DOI filed a complaint in the Commonwealth Court of Pennsylvania (“Commonwealth Court”)
against the Company, KAI and Walshire, seeking a declaration that the disposition was unlawful and not valid. The
Company disagrees with the DOI’s position and maintains that the donations of Walshire shares to the charities were
lawful and valid. The Company therefore demurred to each of the claims in the DOI’s complaint, thereby putting the
legal sufficiency of the DOI’s claims at issue. The demurrers were argued to a panel of the Commonwealth Court on
February 9, 2010.

On April 1, 2010, the Commonwealth Court sustained the demurrers, rejecting the arguments made by DOI, and
dismissing all of the DOI’s claims against the Company. On April 30, 2010, the DOI appealed the April 1, 2010
decision to Pennsylvania Supreme Court. The Company is opposing this appeal, which is scheduled for oral argument
on April 12, 2011

On November 19, 2009 the day before the day the DOI’s complaint, the Company and KAI filed a complaint in the
Commonwealth Court against the DOI seeking a declaration that the statue upon which DOI principally release did
not apply to the donations. In response to the Company’s complaint, the DOI filed an Answer and New Matter (in
essence, a Counterclaim), making the same arguments the DOI made in its November 20, 2009 complaint. Because
the two lawsuits raise the same issues, further proceedings in the Company’s and KAI’s lawsuit have been postponed,
pending the Pennsylvania Supreme Court’s decision in the DOI’s lawsuit.

If the ultimate decision of the courts is unfavorable for the Company, the control of Lincoln General may revert back
to the Company, which would result in Lincoln General’s financial results being included in the Company’s
consolidated financial statements. Thus, if the Pennsylvania Supreme Court deems the transaction to be invalid, it
could ultimately lead to the Company being in breach of its public debt covenants should Lincoln General go into
liquidation while still part of the Company. The Company’s public debt is material, and a breach in covenants could
lead to the debt being called and paid before maturity.

• The Company is the defendant in two separate breach of contract suits filed by two former employees.

EMPLOYEES

 At December 31, 2010, we employed approximately 800 personnel supporting our continuing operations. None of our
employees are represented by a labour union. We believe that we have good relations with our employees and we have
never experienced a work stoppage.
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QUARTERLY RESULTS

Kingsway’s quarterly earnings, revenue and expenses are modestly affected by seasonal factors. In 2009 and 2010 the
most significant factors contributing to the trend of quarterly earnings were the increases in estimates for unpaid
claims from prior accident years, the realized net gains from the securities portfolio and currency fluctuations.

Kingsway Financial Services Inc. 2010 Annual Report

112

Edgar Filing: KINGSWAY FINANCIAL SERVICES INC - Form 40-F

201



TABLE 16    Quarterly Results
(In millions of dollars, except earnings per share amounts)

2010 2009
Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1

Gross premiums
written $ 45.4 $ 52.7  $ 50.4    $ 65.6 $ 53.8 $ 58.4  $ 63.1    $ 86.6
N e t  p r e m i u m s
earned 50.4 53.0 57.2 61.9 51.8 71.7 77.2 97.5
Net income (loss) (46.3) 2.5 (18.5) 24.1 (75.5) (118.1) (38.4) (58.3)
Earnings per
share - net
income
Basic $ (0.89) $ 0.05  $ (0.36) $ 0.46 $ (1.46) $ (2.19)  $ (0.70) $ (1.06)
Diluted $ (0.89) $ 0.05  $ (0.36) $ 0.46 $ (1.46) $ (2.19)  $ (0.70) $ (1.06)

TABLE 17    Fourth Quarter Results
(In millions of dollars, except earnings per share amounts)

For the three months ended December 31: 2010 2009 Change
Gross premium written $ 45.4 $ 53.8 (15.6%)
Net premiums earned 50.4 51.8 (2.7%)
Underwriting  (loss) (46.9) (53.9) 13.0%
Investment income (loss) 1.4 (14.6) n/m
Net realized gains (loss) 2.7 - -
Loss from continuing operations (45.1) (70.9) 36.4%
Net loss (46.3) (75.5) 38.7%
Diluted loss per share-continuing operations (0.87) (1.37) 36.5%
Diluted loss per share- net loss (0.89) (1.46) 39.0%
Loss ratio 139.5% 87.9% 51.6%
Expense ratio 53.5% 116.2% (62.7%)
Combined ratio 193.0% 204.1% (11.1%)
n/m- not meaningful

Fourth Quarter Results
Gross premiums written in the fourth quarter of 2010 decreased by 15.6% to $45.4 million compared to $53.8 million
reported in the fourth quarter of 2009. The decrease is due to the various steps taken to discontinue unprofitable
programs and the discontinuation of the managing general agent distribution channel for non-standard automobile
insurance and the move away from higher limit commercial business.

Also contributing to the reduction in non-standard automobile premium volumes is the continuing poor economic
conditions in much of the U.S. The non-standard automobile insurance market tends to contract during periods of high
unemployment.

Net premiums earned were $50.4 million in the fourth quarter of 2010, a decrease of 2.7% compared to $51.8 million
for the fourth quarter of 2009. This decrease is attributed to the same factors as those for gross premiums written as
described above.
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The combined ratio was 193.0% in 2010 compared with 204.1% in 2009, which produced an underwriting loss of
$46.9 million compared with a loss of $53.9 million in 2009. The underwriting loss in 2010 is primarily a result of the
increase in the loss ratio to 139.5% from 87.9% due to unfavourable development on the non-standard automobile line
of business which relates primarily to business written at UCC and continuing elevated loss ratios at Amigo. Also
contributing to the decrease in the underwriting loss is a decrease in the expense ratio to 53.5% from 116.2%,
primarily due to costs associated with the transformation program and increased legal and other professional fees in
2009.

Investment income increased to a gain of $1.4 million in the fourth quarter of 2010 compared to loss of $14.6 million
for the fourth quarter of 2009, primarily due to foreign exchange loss recorded as part of miscellaneous investment.

In the fourth quarter of 2010, the Company net realized gains of $2.7 million, as compared to nil in the fourth quarter
of 2009. The realized gain in the fourth quarter of 2010 pertains to disposal of securities in the Company’s fixed
income portfolio.

In the fourth quarter of 2010, we incurred a loss from continuing operations of $45.1 million compared to a loss from
continuing operations of $70.9 million in 2009. The loss in the fourth quarter of 2010 is largely due to underwriting
losses. The loss in the fourth quarter of 2009 is largely due to underwriting losses, a significant decline in investment
income due to foreign exchange losses and lower yields on a smaller portfolio.
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In the fourth quarter of 2010, we incurred a net loss of $46.3 million compared to net loss of $75.5 million reported
for the fourth quarter of 2009. The diluted loss per share was $0.89 in 2010 compared to diluted loss per share of
$1.46 for 2009.

CONTROLS AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES

DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that all relevant information is
gathered and reported to senior management, including the President and CEO (“CEO”) and the  CFO, on a timely basis
so that appropriate decisions can be made regarding public disclosure.

An evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures
was conducted as of December 31, 2010 by and under the supervision of the Company’s management, including the
CEO and CFO. Based on this evaluation, the CEO and CFO have concluded that such disclosure controls and
procedures, as defined in National Instrument 52-109, Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim
Filings, and in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“the Exchange Act”) were effective as of
such date to ensure that information relating to the Company required to be disclosed in reports that are filed or
submitted under Canadian securities legislation and the Exchange Act are recorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specified by those laws.

INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
The Company’s CEO and CFO have assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting as at December 31, 2010
based on the criteria set forth in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission.  Based on that assessment, the CEO and CFO have concluded that as at
December 31, 2010, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective.

There have been no changes in Kingsway’s internal control over financial reporting during the period beginning
October 1, 2010, and ending December 31, 2010, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially
affect its internal control over financial reporting.

All control systems contain inherent limitations, no matter how well designed. As a result, the Company’s management
acknowledges that its internal controls over financial reporting will not prevent or detect all misstatements due to error
or fraud. In addition, management’s evaluation of controls can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that all
control issues that may result in material misstatements, if any, have been detected.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
Our significant accounting policies are described in Note 2 to the audited consolidated financial statements. The
preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP in Canada requires management to make certain
estimates and assumptions, some of which may relate to matters that are uncertain. As more information becomes
known, these estimates and assumptions could change and thus have a material impact on the Company’s financial
condition and results of operations in the future. The most significant estimates and assumptions used in preparing our
financial statements are described below.

Provision for unpaid claims
A significant degree of judgement is required to determine amounts recorded in the financial statements for the
provision for unpaid claims. The process for establishing the provision for unpaid claims reflects the uncertainties and
significant judgemental factors inherent in predicting future results of both known and unknown claims. As such, the
process is inherently complex and imprecise and estimates are constantly refined. The process of establishing the
provision for unpaid claims relies on the judgement and opinions of a large number of individuals, including the
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opinions of the Company’s actuaries. Further information regarding estimates used in determining our provision for
unpaid claims is discussed in the Provision for Unpaid Claims section of Management’s Discussion and Analysis and
in Notes 2(i) and 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

Factors affecting the provision for unpaid claims include the continually evolving and changing regulatory and legal
environments, actuarial studies, professional experience and the expertise of our claims personnel and independent
adjustors retained to handle individual claims. A change in claims handling procedures and changes in individuals
involved in the reserving process can also affect the provision for unpaid claims. The quality of the data used for
projection purposes, existing claims management practices, including claims handling and settlement practices, the
effect of inflationary trends on future claims settlement costs, court decisions, economic conditions and public
attitudes, all affect the provision for unpaid claims.

Because the establishment of reserves is an inherently uncertain process involving estimates, current provisions may
not be sufficient. Adjustments to reserves, both positive and negative, are reflected in the statement of income of the
period in which such estimates are updated. The Company’s actuaries develop a variability of the reserve estimates,
more commonly known as a range of reasonable reserve estimates, and a recommended actuarial central estimate of
reserves. The actuarial central estimate is intended to represent actuaries’ best estimate and will not necessarily be at
the mid-point of the high and low estimates of the range. As at December 31, 2010 the actuarial central estimate of the
actuaries was $178.9 million, compared to, the Company’s provision for unpaid claims of $174.7. The Company’s
actuaries range of reasonable reserves as at December 31, 2010 is between $163.0 million and $194.8 million.
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Impairment of securities
The establishment of an other-than-temporary impairment on an investment security requires a number of judgements
and estimates. We perform a quarterly analysis of the securities holdings to determine if declines in market value are
other than temporary. The analysis includes some or all of the following procedures, as applicable:

•identifying all security holdings in an unrealized loss position that have existed for at least six months or other
circumstances exist where management believes those circumstances may impact the recoverability of the security;
•obtaining a valuation analysis from third party investment managers regarding the intrinsic value of these holdings
based on their knowledge and experience together with market-based valuation techniques;
• reviewing the trading range of certain securities over the preceding calendar period;
•assessing if declines in market value are other than temporary for debt security holdings based on the investment
grade credit rating from third party security rating agencies;
•assessing if declines in market value are other than temporary for any debt security holding with a non-investment
grade credit rating based on the continuity of its debt service record;
• determining the necessary provision for declines in market value that are considered other than temporary based

on the analyses performed; and
•assessing the company’s ability and intent to hold these securities at least until the investment impairment is recovered.

The risks and uncertainties inherent in the assessment methodology used to determine declines in market value that
are other than temporary include, but may not be limited to, the following:

• the opinion of professional investment managers could be incorrect;
• the past trading patterns of individual securities may not reflect future valuation trends;
•the credit ratings assigned by independent credit rating agencies may be incorrect due to unforeseen or unknown facts
related to a company’s financial situation; and
•the debt service pattern of non-investment grade securities may not reflect future debt service capabilities and may not
reflect a company’s unknown underlying financial problems.

The Company recognized charges of nil, $0.7 million and $8.7 million for securities value impairment that was
considered other than temporary for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

Goodwill and intangible assets
Goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite life are assessed for impairment at least annually by applying a fair
value based test. In determining fair value, valuation models such as price-to-earnings ratios and other multiples are
used. Management must make estimates and assumptions in determining the fair value of a business segment that may
affect any resulting impairment write-down. This includes assumptions regarding fluctuations in future earnings from
the reporting units. Management then compares the fair value of a reporting unit to the carrying amount. If the
carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds the fair value of that reporting unit, a second step of impairment is
performed to compare the implied fair value of the reporting unit with the carrying amount. In connection with the
annual impairment assessment performed in the fourth quarter of 2010, all reporting units were tested and it was
concluded that no impairment had occurred. As at December 31, 2010, the carried value of intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives and goodwill was $39.2 million and $3.3 million, respectively.

Additional information regarding our goodwill and intangible assets accounting policy is included in Note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Income taxes
The provision for income taxes is calculated based on the expected tax treatment of transactions recorded in our
consolidated financial statements. In determining our provision for income taxes, we interpret tax legislation in a
variety of jurisdictions and make assumptions about the expected timing of the reversal of future tax assets and
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liabilities and the valuation of future income tax assets related to tax loss carry forwards.

A valuation allowance is established when it is more likely than not that all or a portion of the future income tax asset
balance will not be realized. The ultimate realization of the future income tax asset balance is dependent upon the
generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences are deductible. In making
this determination, management considers all available positive and negative evidence affecting specific future
income tax asset balances, including the Company’s past and anticipated future performance, the reversal of future
income tax liabilities, and the availability of tax planning strategies.

Objective positive evidence is necessary to support a conclusion that a valuation allowance is not needed for all or a
portion of a company’s future income tax asset balances when significant negative evidence exists. Cumulative losses
are the most compelling form of negative evidence considered by management in this determination. In 2010, the
Company maintains a valuation allowance of $251.4 million, $248.3 million of which related to its U.S. future income
taxes, resulting from continued losses of U.S. operations. Uncertainty over the Company’s ability to utilize these losses
over the short term has led the Company to record an additional allowance.
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More information regarding our income tax provision is included in Note 2(l) and Note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Future changes in accounting policy

International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”)
The Canadian Accounting Standards Board requires all publically accountable companies to present their financial
statements in accordance with IFRS as the replacement for Canadian generally accepted accounting principles
(“Canadian GAAP”) for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011. Accordingly, the Company will present its
quarterly consolidated financial statements commencing with the quarter ending March 31, 2011 and its annual
consolidated financial statements for the year ending December 31, 2011 in accordance with IFRS, including
comparative prior period results and balances restated to comply with IFRS. An opening IFRS consolidated balance
sheet as of January 1, 2010, the transition date, will also be presented together with a reconciliation to the December
31, 2009 consolidated balance sheet presented in accordance with Canadian GAAP. As permitted by the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) the Company will not provide a reconciliation of its IFRS reported
results to U.S. generally accepted accounting principles in its annual consolidated financial statements filed with the
SEC.

The IFRS consist of the International Financial Reporting Standards and International Accounting Standards (“IAS”)
issued or adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) together with interpretations issued or
adopted by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”). IFRS is based on a conceptual
framework similar to that of Canadian GAAP, but there are significant differences in recognition, measurement, and
disclosure which have been identified and have been addressed in the course of implementing IFRS.

In preparation for adoption of IFRS during the Initial Assessment Phase beginning in November 2008 a formal IFRS
Project Charter (“Project Charter”) and a four phase IFRS Project Plan (“Project Plan”) were developed, outlining the key
elements and timing of the plan. The Charter and Plan were approved by the IFRS Project Steering Committee and
Audit Committee.

The Project Charter focused on the purpose and objectives of the project, expectations and deliverables to key
stakeholders, project scope and approach, milestone plan with completion criteria, date and deliverables, significant
project risks and mitigation actions, roles and responsibilities of the IFRS Project Steering and Implementation
Committees, project management, issue resolution, and communication plan.

The project plan and all activities required to adopt were substantially completed in March 2011.

The following describes the impact of adopting IFRS on the Company’s financial position, accounting processes,
information systems and internal controls:

IFRS 1 - First-Time Adoption of IFRS
IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards provides guidance on adoption of IFRS
from previously followed generally accepted accounting principles and generally requires that all IFRS in effect at the
end of the first IFRS annual reporting period be applied retrospectively. However, IFRS 1 does require certain
mandatory exceptions and permits certain optional exemptions to full retrospective application of standards in effect
on the initial reporting date.  In addition this standard requires that its provisions be applied to the first annual IFRS
financial statements as well as each interim financial report that is presented in accordance with IAS 34 Interim
Financial Reporting.

Mandatory Exceptions
The following mandatory exception will be applied prospectively at January 1, 2011, the transition date.
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Estimates
Hindsight has not been used to revise estimates made under Canadian GAAP and accordingly estimates previously
made are consistent with their application under IFRS. The other mandatory exceptions are not applicable to the
Company.

Optional Exemptions
The following optional exemptions, whose impact is expected to be significant to the Company’s financial position,
have been applied prospectively:

a) IFRS 3 Business combinations

The Company has elected to apply IFRS 3 prospectively to business combinations from the transition date of January
1, 2010.  The classification and measurement of past business combinations will be based on acquisition date values
and the goodwill carrying amount will be based on Canadian GAAP, subject to additional considerations under IFRS
1, Appendix B.

b) Cumulative translation differences

IAS 21, The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates, requires an entity to determine the translation differences
in accordance with IFRS from the date on which a subsidiary was formed or acquired. IFRS 1 allows cumulative
translation differences for all foreign operations to be deemed zero at the date of transition to IFRS, with future gains
or losses on subsequent disposal of any foreign operations to exclude translation differences arising from periods prior
to the date of transition to IFRS. Kingsway has elected to deem all cumulative translation differences to zero on the
transition date to IFRS. Cumulative translation balance of $14.8 million will be deemed zero at December 31, 2009,
and the transition date will be the reference point for future foreign entity disposals.
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c) Designation of previously recognized financial instruments

The Company has elected to designate its interest-bearing debt as at fair value.  Interest-bearing consists:

• Senior unsecured debentures:
• 7.5% senior notes due 2014

• 6% senior unsecured due July 11, 2012
• LROC preferred units
• Subordinated indebtedness

The senior unsecured debentures and the subordinated indebtedness are measured at amortized cost using the effective
interest rate method under Canadian GAAP.  The LROC preferred units are measured at their redemption value under
Canadian GAAP. The fair value election will reduce an accounting mismatch in the Company’s statement of financial
position because (a) the Company’s investment portfolio, largely consisting of interest-bearing bonds, which shares
interest rate risk with the Company’s interest bearing debt obligations, is classified as available for sale and measured
at fair value and (b) because interest-bearing debt is managed and evaluated on the basis of its fair value. As a result, a
previously unrecognized gain of $50.1 million will be recognized in retained earnings (deficit) on the transition date.

d) Other Exemptions

The Company has also elected to apply the following IFRS 1 exemptions prospectively on transition date. There is no
significant impact to the financial statements on adoption of these IFRS 1 elections.

• Insurance Contracts: The transitional provisions of IFRS 4, Insurance contracts as discussed below.
•Share-Based Payment Transactions: IFRS 2, Share Based Payments requirements for equity settled share based
payments.
•Leases: Allows a first time adopter to determine whether an arrangement existing at the date of transition to IFRSs
contains a lease on the basis of facts and circumstances existing at that date. No new arrangements contain a lease and
there is no impact.
•Investments in Subsidiaries, Jointly Controlled Entities and Associates: Investment in subsidiaries will be based on
Canadian GAAP carrying values as the deemed cost under IFRS in the separate financial statements issued on or after
transition date.

Accounting Impact Analysis
During Phase 2, Detailed Assessment, of the Project, an Accounting Impact Matrix was prepared, analyzing the
differences in IFRS and Canadian GAAP accounting practices and the expected impact on the Company upon
adoption. The analysis resulted in identifying IFRS standards expected to have a significant impact on the Company.
IFRS Position Papers were then prepared to assess the financial, process, internal control; information systems and
people impact of each IFRS standard applicable to the Company.

The following describes the impact on the Company’s accounting and reporting policies on adoption of IFRS:

a) IAS 27 - Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

In July, 2005 Kingsway Linked Return of Capital Trust (“KLROC Trust”), KL LP ,Kingsway Note Trust (“KN Trust”),
ROC GP and ROC LLC were formed in order to provide investors with exposure to a note payable by KAI and to
provide KAI with financing. The Company was a promoter of these entities. KLROC Trust issued 3,120,000 preferred
units at Canadian $25 per unit in an initial public offering. The net proceeds after issuance costs were used to purchase
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the note payable by KAI. Prior to June 30, 2010, these entities were considered variable interest entities (“VIE”) under
Canadian GAAP but the Company was not considered to be the primary beneficiary. The financial statements of these
entities were not consolidated and the Company accounted for its investments in them using the equity method. In
July 2010, the Company purchased additional KLROC units and now beneficially owns and controls 74.8% of the
issued and outstanding KLROC units.  The Company has determined that the consolidated financial statements of the
KLROC Trust, which financial statements include the accounts of the other aforementioned entities, should be
consolidated with the financial statements of the Company beginning July 23, 2010 in accordance with Canadian
GAAP.

IAS 27 and SIC 12 do not have a concept of VIE and require that a parent consolidate its investments in subsidiaries
using the control model where the parent obtains the benefits from the subsidiaries activities. The Company has
determined that, under IFRS, these entities were formed under trust agreements that strictly control their activities and
the Company obtains the benefits of their activities. Accordingly under IFRS, the Company will consolidate the
financial statements of KLROC Trust which includes the accounts of the other aforementioned entities, beginning
January 1, 2010, the IFRS transition date.

b) Insurance contracts

IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts allows insurers adopting IFRS to continue with their existing accounting policies. IFRS
also permits entities to continue to apply their existing policies for measuring insurance liabilities, subject to a liability
adequacy test. Based on the qualitative and quantitative assessment, there is no significant impact of adoption of IFRS
4.
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IFRS 4 introduces new disclosures, which will be included in the Company’s financial statements on adoption of IFRS.
These include disclosures of insurance risk sensitivity, surrounding the nature and extent of risks arising from its
insurance contracts, and showing the impact on profit or loss and equity if changes in the relevant risk variables that
were reasonably possible at the end of the reporting period had occurred, and the methods and assumptions used in
preparing the sensitivity analysis.  New disclosures also include concentration of insurance risk, detailing
management’s basis of determining insurance risk concentration and a description of the shared characteristics
identifying each concentration. In determining insurance risk sensitivity and concentration, the Company will
implement additional monitoring controls over the use of estimates and end user computing processes. IFRS 4 also
disallows off setting of insurance liabilities against related insurance assets as well as income and expenses which are
offset from reinsurance amounts.

c) Impairment of Assets

IAS 36 requires the recoverable amount of an asset to be measured whenever there is an indication that the asset may
be impaired. In addition the standard also requires that intangible assets with indefinite lives and goodwill be tested
for impairment on the transition date and annually thereafter, by comparing the carrying value with the recoverable
amount irrespective of whether there is an indication of impairment. Under Canadian GAAP, an evaluation is
performed whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The
Company will therefore perform a full impairment test by determining the recoverable value of an asset based on the
higher of fair value less costs to sell or value in use. The value in use of an asset is based on discounted cash flows
under IFRS.

At December 31, 2010, Kingsway had intangible assets and goodwill with carrying values of $40.7 million and $3.3
million, respectively. The Company has performed impairment test for intangible assets and goodwill as of the
transition date based on IAS 36 requirements.  These assets were not impaired.

Based on the expected process changes above on adoption of IAS 36, the system will be modified to track the history
of impairment losses arising on an individual asset basis, if any, and the impairment model will also be updated to
apply discounted cash flows to determine the value in use of an asset under IFRS. Controls will be put in place for the
appropriate selection of the discount rate and over tracking of impairments by asset in the event that an impairment
charge is reversed.

d) Share-Based Payment Transactions

IFRS 2 Share Based Payments requires that forfeitures of equity settled share based payments which have been
granted, are estimated at date of grant and re-estimated each period based on actual experience to determine the
compensation expense over the vesting period. The Company will change its method which is currently based on
actual forfeitures at period end over the vesting period. The estimated periodic compensation expense may differ from
the current accounting policy.

On adoption of IFRS, each of the Company’s subsidiaries, whose employees participate in the Kingsway Financial
Stock Option Incentive Plan in which the parent company grants rights to its shares, to employees of its subsidiaries,
will each recognize the corresponding compensation benefit for its employees, and a corresponding increase in equity
as a contribution from the parent Company in accordance with IFRIC 11 Group and Treasury shares transactions.
There will be no impact on the consolidated financial statements. Change management controls will be required over
the accounting for the stock options at subsidiary level.

Impact on processes, information systems and controls
While new processes, internal controls and modifications to the existing information systems have been identified and
plans are also underway to implement the changes arising from the new accounting policies selected under IFRS, the
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Company has determined that the other changes to its current accounting, information systems or its processes as a
result of the conversion to IFRS will not be significant, except as described above.

The Company identified the processes and information systems changes which will be required as a result of adoption
of IFRS. Proposed internal controls have been designed as part of the Position Papers analysis, to mitigate the risks
arising from the process and information systems changes and to also ensure the internal control over financial
reporting is robust. The process and internal controls changes resulting from adoption of IFRS have been identified in
the respective Position Papers and will be formally documented and updated as the project progresses. Internal
controls which have been designed to address the changes in processes as a result of adoption of IFRS are expected to
be implemented and evaluated during Phase 4 Implementation Phase, of the project.

Regular Steering Committee meetings attended by various members of management are held to communicate, review
the project progress and deliverables. The Audit Committee continues to provide oversight to the IFRS project, and
reviews the project status periodically.  To date, the group’s IFRS 1 elections and IFRS accounting policy choices have
been approved by both the Steering and Audit Committees.

Financial reporting expertise
Education and training sessions on the adoption of IFRS have been completed, which focused amongst other matters,
on the Company’s IFRS policy choices, and the changes to the existing procedures and controls as a result of adopting
IFRS. An additional IFRS Resource was also contracted to provide additional support to the in-house management
team. Current resources are deemed appropriate for the Company to meet its financial reporting requirements under
IFRS.
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Future Modifications to IFRS
In July 2010, the IASB issued an Exposure Draft, Insurance Contracts, an Amendment to IFRS 4. The Exposure Draft
proposes significant changes in the accounting for insurance contracts. The Company is studying the impact of these
changes on its operations, financial position and results of operations, if issued as set forth in the Exposure Draft.

The IASB is in process of modifying current standards and is expected to issue new standards in the coming months.
The Company will continue to review proposed and issued standards and interpretations. The impact of these yet to be
issued changes on the Company’s business activities cannot be quantified at this date.

Reconciliation of Statement of Financial Position as at January 1, 2010 from Canadian GAAP to IFRS
The following sets forth the preliminary estimated reconciliation of the Company’s Statement of Financial Position
from Canadian GAAP to IFRS as of January 1, 2010, the transition date to IFRS.

January 1, 2010   Effect of transition to IFRS
GAAP

Note (a)
Note (b) to

(c) IFRS
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 49,577 6,836 - $ 56,413
Securities 280,686 (6,117) - 274,569
Accrued investment income 2,348 - - 2,348
Financed premiums 15,237 - - 15,237
Accounts receivable and other assets 67,692 (71) - 67,621
Due from reinsurers and other insurers (164) - - (164)
Deferred policy acquisition costs 19,550 - - 19,550
Income taxes recoverable 15,622 255 - 15,877
Future income taxes 8,879 - - 8,879
Property, building and equipment 25,925 - - 25,925
Goodwill and intangible assets 37,543 - - 37,543
Assets held for sale 1,434,460 - - 1,434,460

$ 1,957,355 903 - $1,958,258
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Liabilities:
Loans payable $ 66,222 (66,222) -
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 57,395 (131) 57,264
Unearned premiums 85,635 - 85,635
Unpaid claims 186,685 - 186,685
Senior unsecured debentures 176,764 - b (73,252) 103,512
LROC preferred units - 22,388 - 22,388
Subordinated indebtedness 87,415 - b (46,935) 40,480
Liabilities held for sale 1,127,900 - 1,127,900

$ 1,788,016 (43,965) (120,187) $1,623,864
Shareholders’ equity:
Share capital 295,291 - - 295,291
Contributed surplus 20,549 - 20,549
Retained earnings (deficit) (193,572) 44,345 b & c 135,050 (14,177)
Accumulated other comprehensive income 47,071 523 c (14,863) 32,731

169,339 44,868 120,187 334,394
Contingent liabilities
Subsequent  events

$ 1,957,355 903 - $1,958,258
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Notes to Statement of Financial Position Reconciliation:

(a)           Consolidation of KLROC Trust:

In May 2005 Kingsway Linked Return of Capital Trust (“KLROC Trust”), an investment company, was established
under the laws of the Province of Ontario. The KLROC Trust is governed by a Declaration of Trust dated May 12,
2005, amended July 14, 2005. In addition, KL Limited Partnership (“KL LP”), Kingsway Note Trust (“KN Trust”), Return
of Capital GP (“ROC GP”) and its wholly owned subsidiary, Return of Capital LLC (“ROC LLC”) were also formed at
that date.  The Company was a promoter of these entities. These entities were formed in order to provide investors
with exposure to a note payable by KAI, a subsidiary of the Company and to provide KAI with financing.

On July 14, 2005 KLROC Trust commenced operations and completed a public offering of 3,120,000 of the 5%
Kingsway Linked Return of Capital Preferred Units (“LROC Units”) due June 15, 2015 at C$25 per unit raising gross
proceeds of C$78 million . The net proceeds of C$74.1 million after issuance costs were used to subscribe to and
purchase all of the issued and outstanding limited partnership units of KL LP.  KL LP used these proceeds for the
payment of its obligations under a Forward Purchase Agreement (“FPA”) with the Bank of Nova Scotia (the
“Counterparty”).  Under the terms of the FPA, the Counterparty will deliver on the maturity date of the LROC units a
basket of Canadian public company securities having a value related to the maturity value of the LROC Units.  KL LP
will use the proceeds from the sale of these securities to redeem the LROC units on the maturity date.

The Counterparty used the proceeds to subscribe to all of the issued and outstanding units of the KN Trust, which used
the proceeds to purchase a C$74,141,226, 7.12% note payable issued by ROC GP, a subsidiary of the Company. ROC
GP, together with partnership capital of C$8,250,000, subscribed to all of the class A and class B common shares of
ROC LLC totaling $ 66,222,012.

ROC LLC used its capital to purchase a 7.37% note payable in the amount of $66,222,012 issued by KAI.  The note
matures on July 14, 2015. Prior to July 23, 2010 these entities were considered variable interest entities (“VIE”) under
Canadian GAAP as the Company was not considered to be the primary beneficiary. The financial statements of these
entities were not consolidated and the Company accounted for its investment in ROC GP using the equity method. In
2009 through June 2010, KFS Capital LLC (“KFS”), a subsidiary of the Company purchased 833,715 or 26.7% of the
KLROC units.  In July 2010 KFS purchased an additional 1,500,000 LROC units and beneficially owns and controls
2,333,715 units or 74.8% of the issued and outstanding LROC units as of July 23, 2010.  As a result of these
purchases the Company has the controlling interest in the KLROC Trust and has determined that the consolidated
financial statements of the KLROC Trust, which financial statements include the accounts of the other aforementioned
entities, should be consolidated with the financial statements of the Company beginning July 23, 2010 in accordance
with Canadian GAAP.

IFRS does not recognize the VIE concept. Under IFRS theses entities are considered to be special purpose entities
(“SPE”). SPE’s are created to accomplish narrow and well-defined objectives, may take a variety of legal forms and
arrangements that impose strict limits of their operations.  They often operate on auto-pilot and are required to be
consolidated where Company, directly or indirectly, has the power to govern the financial and operating policies so as
to obtain the benefits from their activities. The Company has determined that the KLROC and KN Trusts are
auto-pilot SPE’s established for the benefit of the Company and therefore the financial statements are being
consolidated beginning with the Company’s opening IFRS balance sheet as of January 1, 2010.

(b)           Designation of previously recognized financial instruments:

The Company has elected, under IFRS 1-First-Time Adoption of IFRS to designate its interest bearing debt as
financial instruments at fair through income (“FVTI”). Interest bearing debt consists of:
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•Senior unsecured debentures (7.5% senior notes due 2014 and 6% senior unsecured debentures due July 11, 2012)
• LROC preferred units
• Subordinated indebtedness

The FVTI election will reduce an accounting mismatch since the majority of the fixed income securities portfolio,
which share interest rate risk with interest rate debt liabilities, is classified as available for sale (“AFS”) and measured at
FVTI.  In addition the Company manages its debt on the basis of fair value.  Accordingly, a previously unrecognized
gain of $50.1 million has been recognized in retained earnings (deficit) in the opening IFRS balance sheet.

(c)           Cumulative translation differences:

IAS 21, The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates, requires an entity to determine the translation differences
in accordance with IFRS from the date on which a subsidiary was formed or acquired. IFRS 1 allows cumulative
translation differences for all foreign operations to be deemed zero at the date of transition to IFRS, with future gains
or losses on subsequent disposal of any foreign operations to exclude translation differences arising from periods prior
to the date of transition to IFRS. The Company has elected to deem all cumulative translation differences to zero on
the transition date. Accordingly, the cumulative translation balance of $14.9 million has been reclassified from other
comprehensive income to retained earnings (deficit) in the opening IFRS balance sheet. The transition date will be the
reference point for future foreign entity disposals.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related party transactions, including services provided to or received by the Company’s subsidiaries, are carried out in
the normal course of operations and are measured at the amount of consideration paid or received as established and
agreed by the parties.  Management believes that consideration paid for such services approximate fair value.

On January 4, 2010, the Company and its subsidiary, KAI, acquired certain assets of Itasca Financial, LLC, a property
and casualty insurance industry advisory firm, owned and controlled by Mr. Larry Swets, a former director and the
current Chief Executive Officer and President of the Company.  As at the date of the transaction, Mr. Swets was not a
director and did not hold any position within the Company. The consideration for the assets purchased is equal to $1.5
million cash and one million restricted common shares of the Company as described in the Note 23 to the financial
statements.

In 2009, the Company engaged the services of Itasca Financial, LLC and paid $1.0 million during 2009.

In March 2009, the Company obtained a $20 million financing facility from American Physicians Assurance
Corporation (“AP Assurance”) to allow for specific capital initiatives. Two of the members of the Company’s Board of
Directors sat on the board of AP Assurance in 2009 making it a related party. See Note 18 (e) of the financial
statements for further details on this financing facility.

In March 2010, the Company signed an agreement with AP Assurance to provide investment management and
investment accounting services to the Company, commencing April 1, 2010.  The agreement is at fair market terms
and conditions.

Approximately 45% of the KLROC Units acquired through the 2009 KLROC Offer were from a related party.  See
Note 8 of the consolidated financial statements for details on the KLROC Offering. The Company paid $3.5 million
for these tendered KLROC units.  The 2009 KLROC Offer was a public offering. The terms and conditions for the
transaction were identical for all unitholders.

In 2009, in addition to a previously agreed retainer of C$0.1 million, the Board of Directors has decided to pay an
additional $0.4 million and C$0.1 million to the Chairman of the Board. Of these amounts, in 2009, the Company has
paid $0.2 million and C$0.1 million during the year.  In 2010, the Company paid the remaining $0.2 million owed.

In 2009 and 2010, in addition to a previously agreed annual retainer of $0.2 million, the Board of Directors decided to
pay an additional retainer of $0.2 million to the Chairman of the Board.  The additional payments to the Chairman of
the Board in 2010 were due to his increased workload with respect to various matters confronting the Company.

RISK FACTORS

Kingsway’s Enterprise Risk Management (“ERM”) framework includes a formal enterprise level Risk Map and Risk
Assessment Methodology. In order to link the Risk Factors section of this Management’s Discussion and Analysis with
the ERM framework, we have followed the principal risk headings within the Kingsway Risk Map. Accordingly, the
identified risks are grouped under the following headings:
• Financial Risk
• Compliance Risk
• Strategic Risk
• Operational Risk
• Human Resources Risk
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Investors should carefully consider the risks described below and all other information contained in this Management’s
Discussion and Analysis, including the financial statements and accompanying notes. The risks and uncertainties
described below are those we currently believe to be material, but they may not be the only ones we face. If any of the
following risks, or any other risks and uncertainties that we have not yet identified or that we currently consider not to
be material, actually occur or become material risks, our business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows could be materially and adversely affected.

FINANCIAL RISK
Encompasses both the management and reporting of all financial functions of the Company.

Kingsway is a holding company and its operating insurance subsidiaries are subject to dividend restrictions and are
required to maintain certain capital adequacy levels.
Kingsway is an insurance holding company with assets consisting primarily of the capital stock of its subsidiaries. Our
operations are and will continue to be limited by the earnings of our subsidiaries and the distribution or other payment
of such earnings to us in the form of dividends, loans, advances or the reimbursement of expenses. The payment of
dividends, the making of loans and advances or the reimbursement of expenses to us by our subsidiaries is contingent
upon the earnings of those subsidiaries and is subject to various business considerations. In addition, payments of
dividends to us by our insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries are subject to various statutory and regulatory
restrictions imposed by the insurance laws of the domiciliary jurisdiction of such subsidiaries, including Barbados and
Bermuda. In light of the Company’s current financial situation resulting from losses recorded in recent years, all of the
Company’s regulated U.S. insurance subsidiaries are currently restricted from making dividend payments to Kingsway
without regulatory approval, and the Company expects these restrictions to continue. In the case of other subsidiaries
not currently subject to these restrictions, these subsidiaries may be limited in their ability to make dividend payments
or advance funds to Kingsway in the future because of the need to support their own capital levels. The inability of
our subsidiaries to pay dividends to us could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial condition.
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See the Financial Conditions section of this Management’s Discussion and Analysis and Note 7 to the annual financial
statements for a detailed description of the regulatory capital requirements of the operating insurance subsidiaries and
for a description of the capital management framework. No assurances can be given that the operating insurance
subsidiaries will be able to maintain compliance with these regulatory capital requirements.

Difficult conditions in the economy generally may materially adversely affect our business, results of operations and
statement of financial position and these conditions may not improve in the near future.
An adverse change in market conditions leading instability in the global credit markets presents additional risks and
uncertainties for our business. In particular, deterioration in the public debt markets could lead to  investment losses
and an erosion of capital as a result of a reduction in the fair value of investment securities.

Depending on market conditions going forward, we could incur substantial realized and additional unrealized losses in
future periods, which could have an adverse impact on our results of operations and financial condition. We could also
experience a reduction in capital in our insurance subsidiaries below levels required by the regulators in the
jurisdictions in which they operate. Certain trust accounts and letters of credit for the benefit of related companies and
third parties have been established with collateral on deposit under the terms and conditions of the relevant trust and
letter of credit agreements. The value of collateral could fall below the levels required under these agreements putting
the subsidiary or subsidiaries in breach of the agreement.

Market volatility may also make it more difficult to value certain of our securities if trading becomes less frequent.
Disruptions, uncertainty and volatility in the global credit markets may also impact our ability to obtain financing for
future acquisitions. If financing is available, it may only be available at an unattractive cost of capital, which would
decrease our profitability. There can be no assurance that market conditions will not deteriorate in the near future.

The Company’s primary objective in respect of the securities portfolio is the preservation of capital. Through the
Investment and Capital Committee of the Board of Directors, the Company seeks to establish an appropriate level of
risk by monitoring regularly the credit risk and volatility of the securities portfolio, taking into account the overall risk
tolerance of the Company.

Financial disruption or a prolonged economic downturn may materially and adversely affect our business.
Worldwide financial markets have experienced extraordinary disruption and volatility during the last few years,
resulting in heightened credit risk, reduced valuation of investments and decreased economic activity. Moreover,
many companies are experiencing reduced liquidity and uncertainty as to their ability to raise capital. In the event that
these conditions persist or result in a prolonged economic downturn, our results of operations, financial position
and/or liquidity could be materially and adversely affected. These market conditions may affect the Company’s ability
to access debt and equity capital markets. In addition, as a result of recent financial events, we may face increased
regulation. Many of the other risk factors discussed in the Risk Factors section identify risks that result from, or are
exacerbated by, financial economic downturn. These include risks related to our securities portfolio, the competitive
environment, adequacy of unpaid claims, regulatory developments and the impact of rating agency actions.

Our operations are restricted by the terms of our debt indentures, which could limit our ability to plan for or to react to
market conditions or meet our capital needs.
Our debt indentures contain numerous covenants that limit our ability, among other things, to borrow money, make
particular types of investments or other restricted payments, sell assets, merge or consolidate, pay dividends or redeem
capital stock, and incur liens to secure indebtedness. The covenants under our debt agreements could limit our ability
to plan for or react to market conditions or to meet our capital needs. Our ability to comply with the covenants in these
agreements may be affected by events beyond our control and we may have to curtail some of our operations,
restructuring and growth plans to maintain compliance. No assurances can be given that we will be able to maintain
compliance with these covenants.
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If we are not able to comply with the covenants and other requirements contained in the debt indentures, an event of
default under the relevant debt instrument could occur. If an event of default does occur, it could trigger a default
under our other debt instruments, we could be prohibited from accessing additional borrowings, and the holders of the
defaulted debt instrument could declare amounts outstanding with respect to such debt to become immediately due
and payable. Upon such an event, our assets and cash flow may not be sufficient to fully repay borrowings under our
outstanding debt instruments. In addition, such a repayment under an event of default could adversely affect our
liquidity and force us to sell assets to repay borrowings.

The Investment and Capital Committee of the Board of Directors closely monitors the debt and capital position and,
from time to time, recommends capital initiatives based upon the circumstances of the Company. For capital
initiatives undertaken in 2010, see the “Financial Condition” section of this Management’s Discussion and Analysis.
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We may not be able to realize our investment objectives, which could significantly reduce our net income.
We depend on income from our securities portfolio for a substantial portion of our earnings. In 2008, 2009 and 2010
investment income and net realized gains represented approximately 10.3%, 3.6% and 7.1% respectively of our
consolidated revenue. A significant decline in investment yields in our securities portfolio or an impairment of
securities that we own could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial
condition. We currently maintain and intend to continue to maintain a securities portfolio comprising primarily fixed
income securities. As of December 31, 2010, the fair value of our securities portfolio included $127.9 million of fixed
income securities. Due to fluctuations in the yields on fixed income securities, we face reinvestment risk as these
securities mature because the funds may be reinvested at rates lower than those of the maturing securities.

Our ability to achieve our investment objectives is affected by general economic conditions that are beyond our
control. General economic conditions can adversely affect the markets for interest rate sensitive securities, including
the extent and timing of investor participation in such markets, the level and volatility of interest rates and,
consequently, the value of fixed income securities.

In addition, changing economic conditions can result in increased defaults by the issuers of securities that we own.
Interest rates are highly sensitive to many factors, including monetary policies, domestic and international economic
and political conditions and other factors beyond our control. General economic conditions, stock market conditions
and many other factors can also adversely affect the securities markets and, consequently, the value of the securities
we own. We may not be able to realize our investment objectives, which could reduce our net income significantly.

The Company’s primary objective in respect of the securities portfolio is the preservation of capital. Through the
Investment and Capital Committee of the Board of Directors, the Company seeks to establish an appropriate level of
risk by monitoring regularly the credit risk and volatility of the securities portfolio, taking into account the overall risk
tolerance of the Company.

Fluctuations in currency exchange rates could negatively affect our results. Effective December 31, 2005 we prepared
our consolidated financial statements in U.S. dollars. Fluctuations in the U.S. to Canadian dollar exchange rate will
impact our results of operations and financial condition from period to period. The reporting volatility has been
reduced, however, due to the larger portion of our operations conducting its business in our reporting currency, U.S.
dollars.

Our U.S. operations generally write policies denominated in U.S. dollars and invest in U.S. dollars. Although
investing in local currencies limits the effect of currency exchange rate fluctuations on local operating results,
fluctuations in such rates could affect our operations or results, and do affect the translation of these results into U.S.
dollars in our consolidated financial statements. During 2010, our shareholders’ equity increased by $6.3 million as a
result of the currency translation adjustment of our Canadian dollar denominated assets into U.S. dollars.

The Investment and Capital Committee of the Board of Directors regularly monitors and seeks to minimize the group’s
total exposure to currency risk.

Kingsway has generated net operating loss carryovers for United States income tax purposes, but its ability to preserve
and use these net operating losses may be limited or impaired by future ownership changes or the Company’s inability
to generate future taxable income.
The Company’s United States businesses have generated substantial operating losses during the last several years.  The
Company has also generated losses related to many of its recent United States divestitures.  These losses can be
available to reduce income taxes that might otherwise be incurred on future United States taxable income.  The
utilization of these losses would have a positive effect on the Company’s cash flow.  The Company’s operations,
however, remain challenged, and there can be no assurance that the Company will generate the taxable income in the
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future necessary to utilize these losses and realize the positive cash flow benefit.  Furthermore, the availability of these
losses to be utilized in the future can become limited if certain ownership changes occur as defined within Section 382
of the United States Internal Revenue Code.  In such a circumstance, the Company may be unable to utilize the losses
and generate the cash flow benefit even if it generates future taxable income.  There can be no assurance that such
ownership changes will not occur in the future.

COMPLIANCE RISK
The risk arising from violations of, or non-conformance with, laws, regulations or prescribed practices. Compliance
Risk also arises in situations where the laws or rules governing certain products or activities may be ambiguous or
untested. Compliance Risk exposes the organization to negative publicity, a potential drop in stock price, fines,
criminal and civil monetary penalties, payment of damages and the voiding of contracts. Compliance risks are also
sometimes referred to as Legal/Regulatory, Tax or Documentation Risks.

If we fail to comply with applicable insurance and securities laws or regulatory requirements, our business, results of
operations and financial condition could be adversely affected.
As a publicly traded holding company listed on the Toronto and New York stock exchanges with insurance
subsidiaries, we are subject to numerous laws and regulations. These laws and regulations delegate regulatory,
supervisory and administrative powers to federal, provincial or state regulators.
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Insurance regulations are generally designed to protect policyholders rather than shareholders, and are related to
matters including:
rate setting;

• risk-based capital and solvency standards;
• restrictions on the amount, type, nature, quality and quantity of securities;
• the maintenance of adequate reserves for unearned premiums and unpaid claims;
• restrictions on the types of terms that can be included in insurance policies;
• standards for accounting;
• marketing practices;
• claims settlement practices;
•the examination of insurance companies by regulatory authorities, including periodic financial and market conduct
examinations;
• the licensing of insurers and their agents;
• limitations on dividends and transactions with affiliates;
• approval of certain reinsurance transactions; and
• insolvency proceedings.

In light of losses incurred in recent years, Kingsway and its regulated subsidiaries have been subject to intense review
and supervision by insurance regulators. Regulators have taken significant steps to protect the businesses of the
entities they regulate. These steps have included:

• restricting or prohibiting the payment of dividends to Kingsway and its subsidiaries;
• restricting or prohibiting other payments to Kingsway and its subsidiaries;
• requesting additional capital contributions from Kingsway and its subsidiaries; and
• requiring more frequent reporting, including with respect to capital and liquidity positions.

These and other actions have made it challenging for the Company to continue to maintain focus on its businesses and
engage in business in the ordinary course. The Company does not expect these conditions to change in the foreseeable
future.

In light of financial performance and a number of material transactions executed during the year, the Company has
been asked to respond to questions from and provide information to regulatory bodies overseeing insurance and
securities laws in Canada and the U.S. The Company has co-operated in all respects with these reviews and has
responded to information requests on a timely basis.

Any failure to comply with applicable laws or regulations could result in the imposition of fines or significant
restrictions on our ability to do business, which could adversely affect our results of operations or financial condition.
In addition, any changes in laws or regulations, including the adoption of consumer initiatives regarding rates charged
for automobile or other insurance coverage or claims handling procedures, could materially adversely affect our
business, results of operations and financial condition.

We believe that the Company and its insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries are in compliance with applicable
regulatory requirements in all material respects. It is not possible to predict the future impact of changing federal, state
and provincial regulation on our operations, and there can be no assurance that laws and regulations enacted in the
future will not be more restrictive than existing laws and regulations.

Our business is subject to risks related to litigation and regulatory actions.
In addition to the occasional employment-related litigation, we are a defendant in a number of claims relating to our
insurance and other related business operations. We may from time to time be subject to a variety of legal and
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regulatory actions relating to our current and past business operations, including, but not limited to:

• disputes over coverage or claims adjudication;
•disputes regarding sales practices, disclosure, premium refunds, licensing, regulatory compliance and compensation
arrangements;
•disputes with our agents, producers or network providers over compensation and termination of contracts and related
claims;
• disputes relating to customers regarding the ratio of premiums to benefits in our various business lines;
• disputes with taxing authorities regarding our tax liabilities; and
• disputes relating to certain businesses acquired or disposed of by us.

In particular, we refer to the ongoing dispute with the DOI related to the Walshire disposition that is discussed under
the heading ‘Legal Proceedings’ in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis’.

In addition, plaintiffs continue to bring new types of legal claims against insurance and related companies. Current
and future court decisions and legislative activity may increase our exposure to these types of claims. Multiparty or
class action claims may present additional exposure to substantial economic, non-economic or punitive damage
awards. The loss of even one of these claims, if it resulted in a significant damage award or a judicial ruling that was
otherwise detrimental, could create a precedent in our industry that could have a material adverse effect on our results
of operations and financial condition. This risk of potential liability may make reasonable settlements of claims more
difficult to obtain. We cannot determine with any certainty what new theories of recovery may evolve or what their
impact may be on our business.
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We may be subject to governmental or administrative investigations and proceedings in the context of our highly
regulated sectors of activity. We cannot predict the outcome of these investigations, proceedings and reviews, and
cannot assure you that such investigations, proceedings or reviews or related litigation or changes in operating policies
and practices would not materially adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition. In addition, if we
were to experience difficulties with our relationship with a regulatory body in a given jurisdiction, it could have a
material adverse effect on our ability to do business in that jurisdiction.

STRATEGIC RISK
Strategic Risk arises from adverse effects of high-level business decisions or the improper implementation of those
decisions. Strategic Risk also incorporates how management analyzes external factors that impact the strategic
direction of the business. Strategic Risk further encompasses reputation risk which is the impact to earnings, capital or
the ability to do business arising from negative public opinion from whatever cause.

The Company's achievement of its strategic objectives is highly dependent on effective change management.
The Company has continued to divest subsidiaries, exit states and lines of business and terminate managing general
agent relationships with the objective of focusing on core lines of business, creating a more effective and efficient
operating structure and returning the Company to profitability. These actions result in changes to the Company’s
structure and business processes. While these changes are expected to bring benefits to the Company in the form of a
more agile and focused business, success is dependent on management effectively realizing the intended benefits.
Ineffective change management may result in disruptions to the operations of the business or may cause employees to
act in a manner which is inconsistent with Company objectives. Any of these events could negatively impact the
Company’s performance. The Company may not always achieve the expected cost savings and other benefits of its
initiatives.

The Company may experience difficulty continuing to reduce its holding company expenses while at the same time
retaining staff given the significant reduction in size and scale of its businesses.
The Company has divested a number of subsidiaries during the last few years and significantly reduced its written
premium in the subsidiaries it continues to own.  At the same time, the Company has been downsizing its holding
company expense base in an attempt to compensate for the reduction in scale.  There can be no assurance that the
Company’s remaining businesses will produce enough cashflow to adequately compensate and retain the staff
necessary to continue the restructuring and to service the Company’s other holding company obligations, particularly
the interest expense burden of its remaining legacy debt.

If we are unable to maintain our current claims-paying ratings, our ability to write insurance and to compete with
other insurance companies may be adversely impacted.
Third party rating agencies assess and rate the claims-paying ability of insurers and reinsurers based upon criteria that
they have established. Periodically these rating agencies evaluate us to confirm that we continue to meet the criteria of
the ratings previously assigned to us. Financial strength ratings are an important factor in establishing the competitive
position of insurance companies and may be expected to have an effect on an insurance company’s premiums.

All of our operating insurance subsidiaries are rated by A.M. Best, which issues independent opinions of an insurer’s
financial strength and its ability to meet policyholder obligations.  All of our U.S. subsidiaries possess a B- (Fair)
rating. According to A.M. Best, entities with a B- rating are deemed “vulnerable” and have a fair ability to meet their
ongoing obligations. Financial strength is vulnerable to adverse changes in underwriting and economic conditions.
A.M. Best continues to hold its rating of Mendota under review with negative implications and has a negative outlook
on the remaining ratings. The ‘under review’ status indicates the rating may change in the near term, typically within 6
months. A negative outlook indicates a possible rating downgrade due to unfavourable financial/ market trends
relative to its current rating level.
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We cannot provide assurance that A.M. Best will not further downgrade our ratings in the future. If we are unable to
maintain our current ratings, our ability to write insurance business and compete with other insurance companies may
be adversely affected. Rating agencies evaluate insurance companies based on financial strength and the ability to pay
claims, factors that are more relevant to policyholders than to investors. Financial strength ratings by rating agencies
are not ratings of securities or recommendations to buy, hold or sell any security and should not be relied upon as
such.

We may experience difficulty in managing historic and future growth, which could adversely affect our results of
operations and financial condition.
Growth may place a strain on our management systems and operational and financial resources. The successful
integration and management of program business, acquired businesses and other business involve numerous risks that
could adversely affect our profitability, and are contingent on many factors, including:

• expanding our financial, operational and management information systems;
•managing our relationships with independent agents, program managers and brokers, including maintaining adequate
controls;
• expanding our executive management and the infrastructure required to effectively control our growth;
• maintaining ratings for certain of our insurance subsidiaries;
• increasing the statutory capital of our insurance subsidiaries to support growth in written premiums;
•accurately setting claims provisions for new business where historical underwriting experience may not be available;
• obtaining regulatory approval for appropriate premium rates; and
•obtaining the required regulatory approvals to offer additional insurance products or to expand into additional states or
provinces.
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During the year, the Company undertook a detailed review of all lines of business and took steps to eliminate through
divestitures and through product and program terminations those lines which were unprofitable. The Company is now
focused on its core lines of business.

The insurance and related businesses in which we operate may be subject to periodic negative publicity which may
negatively impact our financial results.
Our products and services are ultimately distributed to individual consumers. From time to time, consumer advocacy
groups or the media may focus attention on insurance products and services, thereby subjecting our industry to
periodic negative publicity. We also may be negatively impacted if participants in one or more of our markets engage
in practices resulting in increased public attention to our businesses. Negative publicity may also result in increased
regulation and legislative scrutiny of practices in the property and casualty (“P&C”) insurance industry as well as
increased litigation. These factors may further increase our costs of doing business and adversely affect our
profitability by impeding our ability to market our products and services, requiring us to change our products or
services or by increasing the regulatory burdens under which we operate.

The highly competitive environment in which we operate could have an adverse effect on our business, results of
operations and financial condition.
The P&C markets in which we operate are highly competitive. We compete with major North American and other
insurers, many of which have more financial, marketing and management resources than we do. There may also be
other companies of which we are not aware that may be planning to enter the insurance industry. Insurers in our
markets generally compete on the basis of price, consumer recognition, coverages offered, claims handling, financial
stability, customer service and geographic coverage. Although our pricing is influenced to some degree by that of our
competitors, we generally believe that it is not in our best interest to compete solely on price, and may from time to
time experience a loss of market share during periods of intense price competition. Our business could be adversely
impacted by the loss of business to competitors offering competitive insurance products at lower prices. This
competition could affect our ability to attract and retain profitable business.

In our non-standard automobile business, we compete with both large national underwriters and smaller regional
companies. Our competitors include other companies that, like us, serve the independent agency market, as well as
companies that sell insurance directly to customers. Direct underwriters may have certain competitive advantages over
agency underwriters, including increased name recognition, loyalty of the customer base to the insurer rather than to
an independent agency and reduced costs to acquire policies. Any new, proposed or potential legislative or industry
developments could further increase competition in our markets. New competition from these developments could
cause the demand for our products to decrease, which would adversely affect our profitability.

Additionally, in certain states, government operated risk plans may provide non-standard automobile insurance
products at lower prices than those we provide.

From time to time, our markets may also attract competition from new entrants. In some cases, such entrants may,
because of inexperience, the desire for new business or for other reasons, price their insurance below the rates that we
believe offer acceptable premiums for the related risk. Further, a number of our competitors, including new entrants to
our markets, are developing e-business capabilities which may impact the level of business transacted through our
more traditional distribution channels or that may affect pricing in the market as a whole.

Our business could be adversely affected as a result of changing political, regulatory, economic or other influences.
The insurance industry is subject to changing political, economic and regulatory influences. These factors affect the
practices and operation of insurance and reinsurance organizations. Legislatures in Canada, the United States,
Barbados, Bermuda and local jurisdictions in which we operate have periodically considered programs to reform or
amend their respective insurance and reinsurance systems. Recently, the insurance and reinsurance regulatory
framework has been subject to increased scrutiny in many jurisdictions.
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Changes in current insurance regulation may include increased governmental involvement in the insurance industry
and initiatives aimed at premium controls, or may otherwise change the business and economic environment in which
insurance industry participants operate. Historically, the automobile insurance industry has been under pressure from
time to time from regulators, legislators or special interest groups to reduce, freeze or set rates at levels that are not
necessarily related to underlying costs or risks, including initiatives to roll back automobile and other personal line
rates. These changes may limit our ability to price automobile insurance adequately and could require us to
discontinue unprofitable product lines, make unplanned modifications of our products and services, or result in delays
or cancellations of sales of our products and services.

Engaging in acquisitions involves risks and, if we are unable to effectively manage these risks, our business may be
materially harmed.
From time to time we engage in discussions concerning acquisition opportunities and, as a result of such discussions,
may enter into acquisition transactions.
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Acquisitions entail numerous risks, including the following:
• difficulties in the integration of the acquired business;
• assumption of unknown material liabilities, including deficient provisions for unpaid claims;
• diversion of management’s attention from other business concerns;
• failure to achieve financial or operating objectives; and
• potential loss of policyholders or key employees of acquired companies.

We may not be able to integrate or operate successfully any business, operations, personnel, services or products that
we may acquire in the future.

Various factors may inhibit potential acquisition bids that could be beneficial to our shareholders.
In evaluating its existing assets, including the future tax savings that may be realized through the application of its
existing tax losses, it was revealed that there is in excess of $150 million of net operating losses ("NOLs") potentially
available to offset the future income of certain of the United States operations of the Company and its subsidiaries. It
was also revealed that this significant asset of the Company may be at risk of impairment or possible elimination as
the threshold for change of ownership under U.S. federal income tax rules may be close to being triggered. The loss of
the NOLs could have a material impact on shareholder value. Accordingly, on September 28, 2010, the Board, upon
the advice of its advisors, unanimously approved the tax benefit preservation plan agreement (the "Plan Agreement"),
dated as of September 28, 2010, between the Company and Computershare Investor Services Inc., as rights agent, for
the sole purpose of protecting this asset. On October 28, 2010, shareholders of the Company ratified and approved the
adoption of this tax benefit preservation plan (the “Plan”).

Purpose of the Plan
The purpose of the Plan is solely to protect the Company's tax assets arising out its NOLs by attempting to deter
acquisitions of common shares that may result in an "ownership change" as determined in accordance with Section
382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 of the United States, as amended (the "Code"). Under Section 382 of the
Code, an "ownership change" may occur when the percentage of stock beneficially owned by one or more of a
corporation's large shareholders (defined for the purposes of Section 382 as shareholders who own 5% or more of the
corporation's shares) increases by more than 50 percentage points at any point over a three year rolling testing
period.  If the Company experiences an ownership change, the Company's ability to utilize its NOLs will be subject to
substantial limitation, resulting in significant impairment of the value of the Company's tax assets.

The Plan is designed to reduce the likelihood that the Company will experience an ownership change by (i)
discouraging any person or group from acquiring 5% or more of the outstanding common shares without approval of
the Board, and (ii) discouraging existing holders of 5% or more of the outstanding common shares from acquiring
more than a specified number of additional common shares.  Although the purpose of the Plan is not to deter the
acquisition of "control" of the Company, the Plan may have such an effect. Additionally, there is no guarantee that the
Plan will prevent the Company from experiencing an ownership change under Section 382 of the Code and related
regulations.

The Company's ability to utilize its United States tax assets depends on its ability to generate taxable income in the
United States in the future.  There can be no assurance that it will be able to do so.  In addition, the amount of NOLs
available to the Company to offset any future taxable income has not been audited or otherwise validated by the
United States Internal Revenue Service (the "IRS").  As a result, the IRS could challenge the amount of the
NOLs.  The determination of whether an ownership change has occurred is itself subject to uncertainty, both because
of the complexity and ambiguity of the regulations under Section 382 of the Code and because of inherent limitations
on the Company's knowledge of the ownership of, and transactions in, its common shares.  Accordingly, the IRS may
claim that the Company has experienced an ownership change and attempt to limit the Company's use of its NOLs,
even with the Plan in place and if it has its intended effect on future transactions.
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Description of the Plan
From and after the record date for the distribution of rights under the Plan, each common share carries with it one
purchase right (a "Right"), until the earlier of the Distribution Date (as defined in the Plan) or the expiration of the
Rights. In general, the Rights will work to impose a significant penalty upon any Person (as defined in the Plan) or
group which acquires 5% or more of the outstanding common shares, without the approval of the Board.

The Plan has an ownership triggering threshold of 4.99% which is significantly lower than the triggering threshold of
20% generally used in traditional Canadian shareholder rights plans. The reduced threshold discourages additional
shareholders from becoming 5% shareholders and thereby being counted for purposes of the ownership change
calculation under Section 382 of the Code. The Plan also severely limits the number of additional common shares that
can be acquired by existing 5% shareholders without triggering the Plan. Accordingly, the Plan may prevent the
Company from undergoing an ownership change for purposes of Section 382 of the Code.
A general summary of the mechanics of the Plan and a summary of the Plan are set out in the management
information circular of KFSI dated September 28, 2010 and is available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.

Regulatory provisions may delay, defer or prevent a takeover attempt that shareholders may consider in their best
interest. For example, under the terms of applicable U.S. state statutes, any person or entity desiring to purchase more
than a specified percentage (commonly 10% but can be as low as 5%) of our outstanding voting securities is required
to obtain regulatory approval prior to the purchase of our shares. These requirements would require a potential bidder
to obtain the prior approval by the insurance departments of the states in which our U.S. subsidiaries are domiciled
and may require pre-acquisition notification in states that have adopted pre-acquisition notification provisions.
Obtaining these approvals could result in material delays or deter any such transaction.
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Regulatory requirements could make a potential acquisition of our Company more difficult and may prevent
shareholders from receiving the benefit from any premium over the market price of our common shares offered by a
bidder in a takeover context. Even in the absence of a takeover attempt, the existence of these provisions may
adversely affect the prevailing market price of our common shares if they are viewed as discouraging takeover
attempts in the future.

OPERATIONAL RISK
The risk that the Company is unable to deliver its products or services to customers or perform vital functions required
to conduct its business in an efficient and cost effective manner. This risk includes the potential for loss from such
events as the breakdown or ineffectiveness of processes, human errors, technology and infrastructure failures, etc.

Our insurance subsidiaries’ provisions for unpaid claims may be inadequate, which would result in a reduction in our
net income and might adversely affect our financial condition.
Our insurance subsidiaries’ provisions for unpaid claims do not represent an exact calculation of our actual liability,
but are estimates involving actuarial and statistical projections at a given point in time of what we expect to be the cost
of the ultimate settlement and administration of known and unknown claims. The process for establishing the
provision for unpaid claims reflects the uncertainties and significant judgemental factors inherent in estimating future
results of both known and unknown claims and as such, the process is inherently complex and imprecise. These
estimates are based upon various factors, including:

•actuarial projections of the cost of settlement and administration of claims reflecting facts and circumstances then
known;
• estimates of future trends in claims severity and frequency;
• judicial theories of liability;
• variability in claims handling procedures;
• economic factors such as inflation;
•judicial and legislative trends, and actions such as class action lawsuits and judicial interpretation of coverages or
policy exclusions; and
• the level of insurance fraud.

Most or all of these factors are not directly quantifiable, particularly on a prospective basis, and the effects of these
and unforeseen factors could negatively impact our ability to accurately assess the risks of the policies that we write.
In addition, there may be significant reporting lags between the occurrence of the insured event and the time it is
actually reported to the insurer and additional lags between the time of reporting and final settlement of claims.

We continually refine our estimates in an ongoing process as claims are reported and settled. The following factors
may have a substantial impact on our future claims incurred:
• the amounts of claims payments;
• the expenses that we incur in resolving claims;
• legislative and judicial developments; and
• changes in economic conditions, including inflation.

As time passes and more information about the claims becomes known, the estimates are appropriately adjusted
upward or downward to reflect this additional information. Because of the elements of uncertainty encompassed in
this estimation process, and the extended time it can take to settle many of the more substantial claims, several years
of experience may be required before a meaningful comparison can be made between actual losses and the original
provision for unpaid claims.

The development of the provision for unpaid claims is shown by the difference between estimates of claims as of the
initial year end and the re-estimated liability at each subsequent year end. Favourable development (reserve
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redundancy) means that the original claims estimates were higher than subsequently determined or re-estimated.
Unfavourable development (reserve deficiency) means that the original claims estimates were lower than
subsequently determined or re-estimated. We cannot assure you that we will not have additional unfavourable reserve
development in the future. In addition, we have in the past, and may in the future, acquire other insurance companies.
We cannot assure you that the provisions for unpaid claims of the companies that we acquire are or will be adequate.

Actual claims and claim adjustment expenses we incur under insurance policies that we write may deviate, perhaps
substantially, from the amounts of provisions reflected in our financial statements. To the extent that actual claims
incurred exceed our expectations and the provision for unpaid claims reflected on our financial statements, we will be
required to reflect those changes by increasing our provision for unpaid claims. In addition, government regulators
could require that we increase our provisions if they determine that our provisions for unpaid claims are understated.
When we increase the provision for unpaid claims, our pre-tax increases to the provision for unpaid claims causes a
reduction in our insurance subsidiaries’ surpluses which could cause a downgrading of the ratings of our insurance
subsidiaries. Any such downgrade could, in turn, adversely affect our ability to sell insurance policies. See the “Risk
Factors” section on claims-paying ratings for a more detailed discussion of the impact of a ratings downgrade.
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We rely on independent agents and are exposed to risks.
We market and distribute our automobile insurance products through a network of independent agents in the United
States. As a result, we rely heavily on these agents to attract new business. They typically represent more than one
insurance company, which may expose us to competition within the agencies and, therefore, we cannot rely on their
commitment to our insurance products. In some markets, we operate pursuant to “open market” arrangements in which
we have no formal relationships with the brokers who place our risk in these markets. Loss of all or a substantial
portion of the business provided by these intermediaries could have a material adverse effect on our business, results
of operations and financial condition.

Our independent agents generally have the ability to bind insurance policies on our behalf, actions over which we
have a limited ability to exercise preventative control. In the event that an independent agent exceeds its authority by
binding us on a risk that does not comply with our underwriting guidelines, we may be at risk for that policy until we
effect a cancellation. Although to date we have not experienced a material loss from improper use of binding authority
by our agents, any improper use of such authority may result in losses that could have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations and financial condition.

In accordance with industry practice, our customers often pay the premiums for their policies to agents for payment to
us. These premiums are considered paid when received by the agent and thereafter the customer is no longer liable to
us for those amounts, whether or not we have actually received the premiums from the agent. Consequently, we
assume a degree of risk associated with our reliance on independent agents and program managers in connection with
the settlement of insurance balances.

The majority of our gross premiums written are derived from the non-standard automobile markets. If the demand for
insurance in this market declines, our results of operations could decline significantly.
For the year ended December 31, 2010, approximately 91.6% of our gross premiums written were attributable to
non-standard auto insurance. The size of the non-standard automobile insurance market can be affected significantly
by many factors outside of our control, such as the underwriting capacity and underwriting criteria of standard
automobile insurance carriers, and we may be specifically affected by these factors. Additionally, an economic
downturn in one or more of our principal markets could result in fewer automobile sales, resulting in less demand for
these insurance products. To the extent that these insurance markets are affected adversely for any reason, our gross
premiums written will be disproportionately affected due to our substantial reliance on these insurance markets.

We derive the majority of premiums from a few geographic areas, which may cause our business to be affected by
catastrophic losses or business conditions in these areas.
Some jurisdictions including Florida, Illinois and California generate a significant percentage of total premiums.

Our results of operations may, therefore, be adversely affected by any catastrophic losses in these areas. Catastrophic
losses can be caused by a wide variety of events, including earthquakes, hurricanes, tropical storms, tornadoes, wind,
ice storms, hail, fires, terrorism, riots and explosions, and their incidence and severity are inherently unpredictable.
Catastrophic losses are characterized by low frequency but high severity due to aggregation of losses, and could result
in adverse effects on our results of operations or financial condition. Our results of operations may also be adversely
affected by general economic conditions, competition, regulatory actions or other business conditions that affect
losses or business conditions in the specific areas in which we do most of our business.

If reinsurance rates rise significantly or reinsurance becomes unavailable or reinsurers are unable to pay our claims,
we may be adversely affected.
We purchase reinsurance from third parties in order to reduce our liability on individual risks. Reinsurance does not
relieve us of our primary liability to our insureds. A third party reinsurer’s insolvency or inability or unwillingness to
make payments under the terms of a reinsurance treaty could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition
or results of operations. As of December 31, 2010, we had $7.7 million recoverable from third party reinsurers and
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other insurers. The majority of these recoverables are unsecured.

The amount and cost of reinsurance available to our insurance companies are subject, in large part, to prevailing
market conditions beyond our control. Our ability to provide insurance at competitive premium rates and coverage
limits on a continuing basis depends in part upon the extent to which we can obtain adequate reinsurance in amounts
and at rates that will not adversely affect our competitive position. We cannot assure you that we will be able to
maintain our current reinsurance facilities, which generally are subject to annual renewal. If we are unable to renew
any of these facilities upon their expiration or to obtain other reinsurance facilities in adequate amounts and at
favourable rates, we may need to modify our underwriting practices or reduce our underwriting commitments.

HUMAN RESOURCES RISK
Maximization of available human resources in the achievement of business objectives. This includes people, their
experience, knowledge, skills and work environment.

Our business depends upon key employees, and if we are unable to retain the services of these key employees or to
attract and retain additional qualified personnel, our business may suffer.
Our success has been, and will continue to be, dependent on our ability to retain the services of our existing key
employees and to attract and retain additional qualified personnel in the future. The loss of the services of any of our
key employees, or the inability to identify, hire and retain other highly qualified personnel in the future, could
adversely affect the quality and profitability of our business operations.
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OUTLOOK

Over the past two years, Kingsway has divested a number of subsidiaries; exited several territories and lines of
business; and terminated virtually all program manager and managing general agency relationships.  As a result,
Kingsway’s focus in 2011 is almost exclusively on the underwriting of non-standard automobile insurance, produced
through independent agents, and the servicing of assigned risk pools.  All of the Company’s business is produced in
certain states in the United States of America. The Company no longer operates in Canada.  Kingsway feels confident
its business units are now focused solely on profitability; however, the Company remains challenged by operational
profitability, corporate overhead expense and interest expense.  Kingsway intends to continue to address these
challenges with further strategic actions.
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DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

A.           Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

 Management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as of the end of the period covered
by this annual report have conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) pursuant to Rule 13a-15 promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934.  Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that the
disclosure controls and procedures were effective and designed to ensure that all material information required to be
filed in this annual report has been made known to them in a timely fashion.

B.           Changes in Internal Controls
There have been no significant changes in internal controls, or in factors that could significantly affect internal
controls, that occurred during the period covered by the annual report that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE FINANCIAL EXPERT

The Registrant’s Audit Committee is composed of the following directors:  Mr. Greg Hannon (Chair), Mr. Joseph
Stilwell and Mr. Spencer Schneider. The Registrant’s board of directors has determined that Mr. Hannon is an audit
committee financial expert and independent, as that term is defined by the New York Stock Exchange’s listing
standards applicable to the Registrant.  The Commission has indicated that the designation of Mr. Hannon as the audit
committee financial expert does not deem him an “expert” for any purpose, impose any duties, obligations or liability on
Mr. Hannon that are greater than those imposed on members of the audit committee and board of directors who do not
carry this designation or identification, or affect the duties, obligations or liability of any other member of the audit
committee or board of directors.
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CODE OF ETHICS

The Registrant has adopted a code of ethics and business conduct for all employees and officers.  The Registrant has
also adopted a code of ethics that applies to Kingsway’s principal executive officer, principal financial officer,
principal accounting officer and other senior financial personnel.  These codes of ethics are available at the Registrant’s
website, www.kingsway-financial.com/governance.
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INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM FEES AND SERVICES

BDO USA, LLP and KPMG LLP has served as the Registrant’s independent registered public accounting firms.  In
2010 and 2009, fees for audit, audit-related, tax and other services provided to the Registrant by BDO USA, LLP and
KPMG LLP were as follows:

Years Ended December
31,

in Canadian dollars 2010 2009
Audit fees $1,622,459 $3,791,931
Audit-related fees $135,161 $175,000
Tax fees 486,706 704,807
Other fees $nil $2,000
Total $2,244,326 $4,673,738

Pursuant to the terms of its charter, the Audit Committee establishes the independent registered public accounting
firm’s fees.  Such fees are based upon the complexity of the matters in question and the time incurred by the
independent registered public accounting firm.  The Audit Committee reviews and considers whether the provision of
services other than audit services is compatible with maintaining the independent registered public accounting firm’s
independence.  In 2003, the Audit Committee considered and pre-approved expenditure limits for the Registrant’s
independent registered public accounting firm and established a system to review and pre-approve the provision of
non-audit services by the Registrant’s independent registered public accounting firm to ensure they are consistent with
maintaining the independent registered public accounting firm’s independence.  The audit committee pre-approved
100% of the services performed by the Registrant’s independent registered public accounting firm for audit-related and
non-audited related services for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009.

A discussion of the nature of the services provided under each category is provided below.

Audit Fees

The aggregate fees billed by BDO USA, LLP and KPMG LLP  for professional services rendered for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the corporation and its subsidiaries and for the reviews of the Corporation's
quarterly financial statements were $1,622,459 in fiscal year 2010. The aggregate fees billed by KPMG LLP  for
professional services rendered for the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the corporation and its
subsidiaries and for the reviews of the Corporation's quarterly financial statements were $3,791,931 in fiscal year
2009.

Audit-Related Fees

The aggregate fees, including expenses reimbursed, billed by KPMG, LLP for services related to the audit or review
of the Corporation's financial statements were 135,161 l in fiscal year 2010 and $175,000 in fiscal year 2009.  This
work primarily included advisory services on the Company’s conversion to IFRS project, internal controls and French
translation services in both 2010 and 2009.

Tax Fees

The aggregate fees, including expenses reimbursed, billed by KPMG LLP for tax compliance, tax advice and tax
planning services were $486,706 in fiscal year 2010 and $704,807 in fiscal year 2009.  These services included
analyses of various tax matters affecting the Corporation and its subsidiaries.
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All Other Fees

The aggregate fees, including expenses reimbursed, billed by KPMG LLP for services rendered to the Corporation
and its subsidiaries, other than the services described above, were nil in of fiscal year 2010 and $2,000 in  2009. These
services were related to a subscription for online accounting research.
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OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

See page 111 of this form.  
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CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

See page 72 and 109 of this form.
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UNDERTAKING AND CONSENT TO SERVICE OF PROCESS

A.           Undertaking

Registrant undertakes to make available, in person or by telephone, representatives to respond to inquiries made by the
Commission staff, and to furnish promptly, when requested to do so by the Commission staff, information relating
to:  the securities registered pursuant to Form 40-F; the securities in relation to which the obligation to file an annual
report on Form 40-F; or transactions in said securities.

B.           Consent to Service of Process

Registrant has previously filed with the Commission a Form F-X in connection with the registration of Common
Shares.
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EXHIBITS

The following exhibits are filed as part of this report:

Exhibit Number                                  Document Title

1. Consent of BDO USA LLP
2. Consent of KPMG LLP
99.1 Certification of Larry G. Swets Jr, Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or

15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act
99.2 Certification of Dan Brazier, Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) of

the Securities Exchange Act
99.3 Certification of Larry G. Swets Jr, Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) or

15d-14(b) and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code (18 U.S.C.
1350)

99.4 Certification of Dan Brazier, Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) or 15d-14(b)
and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code (18 U.S.C. 1350)

99.5                       Page 89 of the 2010 Annual Report of Kingsway Financial Services Inc. 
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Exchange Act, the Registrant certifies that it meets all of the requirements for
filing on Form 40-F and has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereto duly authorized.

KINGSWAY FINANCIAL SERVICES INC.

March 31, 2011                                                                             By: /s/ Dan Brazier____________
Dan Brazier
Chief Financial Officer
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit Number Document Title

1. Consent of BDO USA LLP
2. Consent of KPMG LLP
99.1 Certification of Larry G. Swets Jr, Chief Executive Officer,

pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act

99.2 Certification of Dan Brazier, Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to
Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act

99.3 Certification of Larry G. Swets Jr, Chief Executive Officer,
pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) or 15d-14(b) and Section 1350 of
Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code (18 U.S.C.
1350)

99.4 Certification of Dan Brazier, Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to
Rule 13a-14(b) or 15d-14(b) and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of
Title 18 of the United States Code (18 U.S.C. 1350)
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